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Exhibit 10.1 
  

CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED 
  

Redacted Copy 
  

AMENDMENT TO FUNDING AGREEMENT 
  

This Amendment is entered on this April 21, 2013 (the “Amendment”) to the Funding Agreement dated December 29, 2010, (the “2010 Agreement”),  that  was entered into between BAIZE 
INVESTMENTS (ISRAEL) LTD., a private company organized under the laws of Israel No. 51-430159-1, c/o – The Goldman Group, 55 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 240, Toronto, Ontario, Canada 
M4V2Y  (“Investor”), and COMPUGEN, Ltd., an Israeli corporation, having a place of business at 72 Pinchas Rosen Tel Aviv, Israel (“Compugen”). 
  

WHEREAS, following a total investment of $5 million by the Investor pursuant to the 2010 Agreement, and $8,000,000 pursuant to the Funding Agreement, dated December 20, 2011 (the “2011 
Agreement”) entered into between the Investor and  Compugen, both Parties are interested in amending certain provisions of the 2010 Agreement, and terminating the 2011 Agreement all as set forth 
herein. 
  

NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the foregoing premises and the mutual covenants set forth below, the parties hereby agree as follows: 
  

  

  

  
“WHEREAS, included in the Compugen discovered molecules selected for inclusion in the Pipeline Program are the molecules set forth in Exhibit A1 hereof  (the “Designated Product Candidates”)” 

  

  

  

  

  
Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

1. The Parties hereby agree to terminate in its entirety the 2011 Agreement. 

2. All defined terms used herein but not defined herein, shall have the respective meanings as set forth in the 2010 Agreement. 

3. The second WHEREAS clause in the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

4. Section 1.1 of the 2010 Agreement, will be replaced by the following: 

  “1.1.  “Affiliate” shall mean any company or other legal entity which, directly or indirectly, controls, or is controlled by, or is under common control with, Compugen; control means the ability to 
direct the operations of any company or other legal entity, including, without limitation, the holding of fifty (50%) or more of (i) the capital and/or (ii) the voting rights or general partnership 
interest and/or (iii) the right to elect or appoint directors, and/or (iv) the right to receive profits.” 

5. Section 1.1A will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

  “1.1A  “Annual Report” shall mean an annual report containing a summary report for each Designated Product Candidate and Target mAb (as such term is hereinafter defined), providing general 
information with respect to what research was conducted by Compugen since the prior Annual Report, and what is planned to be undertaken during the remainder of the current calendar 
year. The Annual Report shall also contain general information as to any commercialization efforts taken (and planned to be taken) and agreements reached (and planned to be reached) in 
respect of the Designated Product Candidates and Target mAbs during the period covered by such report. The Annual Report shall be duly signed by either the CEO, CFO or COO of 
Compugen and shall be subject to the confidentiality provisions hereof.” 
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Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

  

6. Section 1.3 of the 2010 Agreement, will be replaced by the following: 

   “1.3 “Cash Consideration” shall mean the amounts payable by Compugen to the Investor in respect of Gross Cash, which shall equal ten percent (10%) of Net Cash.” 

7. Section 1.4 of the 2010 Agreement,  will be replaced by the following: 

   “1.4 “Compugen Warrant” shall mean a warrant setting forth the right of the Investor to purchase Ordinary Shares for an exercise price of seven U.S. dollars and fifty cents ($7.50) per Ordinary 
Share, to be exercised no later than June 30, 2015, in the form attached hereto as Exhibit B.” 

8. Sections 1.5 and 1.6 will be deleted from the 2010 Agreement. 

9. Section 1.7A will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

  “1.7A.  “Gross Cash” shall mean all cash consideration received by Compugen or its Affiliates from third parties on the earlier of; 

   X. any day (i) on or prior to June 30, 2015 with  respect to any Designated Product Candidate and/or Target mAb;  and (ii) on or after July 1, 2015 with respect to the Selected Products; 
or 

   Y. if applicable, on or prior to the Exchange Notice Date (as such term is hereinafter defined).” 

10. Section 1.7B will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

  “1.7B. “Monoclonal Antibody” or “mAb” shall mean an antibody produced by a single clone of cells or cell line.” 

11. Section 1.7C will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

  “1.7C    “Net Cash” shall mean Gross Cash minus Pass-Through Amounts.” 

12. Section 1.13 will be replaced by the following: 

  “1.13 “Pass-Through Amounts” shall mean: (i) out-of-pocket cash payments by Compugen or its Affiliates to subcontractors directly related to a Designated Product Candidate, or Target 
mAb provided that such cash payments become payable by Compugen following the closing of the third party agreement giving rise to the Gross Cash received by Compugen on which 
the related Cash Consideration is based; (ii) Third Party Royalties paid in connection with the Gross Cash received by Compugen on which the related Cash Consideration is based; (iii) 
the amount of any taxes withheld at source for which Compugen cannot receive a tax credit under then prevailing laws; (iv) any payments made at fair market value for equity 
investments in Compugen as part of a transaction in connection with the Gross Cash received by Compugen on which the related Cash Consideration is based; (v) research funding paid 
to Compugen under a written agreement with a research project and a budget intended to further research and development with respect to such Designated Candidates and Target 
mAbs; and (vi) arm's length loans provided to Compugen under the third party agreement giving rise to the Gross Cash received by Compugen on which the related Cash Consideration 
is based. For the avoidance of doubt, (i) each such Pass-Through Amount shall be subject to only one recovery by Compugen and (ii) reimbursement of out-of-pocket cash payments by 
Compugen to subcontractors incurred by Compugen prior to the closing of the third party agreement giving rise to the Gross Cash on which the related Cash Consideration is based, 
shall not be considered as Pass-Through Amounts for the purposes of this Agreement. 
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Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 
requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

  

13. Section 1.15 will be deleted from the 2010 Agreement. 

14. Section 1.16 will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

  “1.16 “Selected Products” shall mean a total of five (5) Designated Product Candidates and Target mAbs as selected by Investor on or prior to the later of (i)  June 30, 2015, or (ii) thirty (30) 
days following receipt by Investor of the Annual Report for calendar year 2014,  pursuant to Section 3A hereunder.” 

15. Section 1.17 will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

   “1.17 “Target” shall mean each of the eight (8) drug targets identified by Compugen and listed in Appendix A2  to this Agreement.” 

16. Section 1.18 will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

   “1.18 “Target mAb” shall mean any mAb developed for the treatment of disease or other conditions in humans or animals by or on behalf of Compugen or any Affiliate of Compugen against a 
Target.” 

17. Section 1.19 will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

   “1.19 “Third Party Royalties” shall mean any royalties or percentage payments to be paid by Compugen or an Affiliate of Compugen to any third party in connection with, or in consideration 
for, a license granted by such third party to technology and/or intellectual property rights needed for the making, using, marketing or selling of a Designated Product Candidate and/or 
Target mAb. 

18. Section 3.1.2 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

  “3.1.2 An entitlement to receive the Cash Consideration.” 

19. Section 3.1.3 will be deleted from the 2010 Agreement. 

20. Section 3.1.4 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

  “3.1.4 An entitlement to receive the Annual Reports and the Cash Consideration Quarterly Reports mentioned in Section 3.3 below.” 

21.  Section 3.2 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

   “3.2 Compugen shall issue to Investor the Annual Reports not later than 60 days following Company’s filing of its Form 20-F Annual Report with the SEC for calendar years 2012, 2013 and 
2014.” 
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The “Exchange Shares” shall mean Ordinary Shares in an amount which is the quotient of (i) Thirteen Million U.S. Dollars ($13,000,000) less 50% of any Cash Consideration paid to 
Investor by Compugen up to the 21st trading day prior to the Actual Exchange Date divided by (ii) the average closing price of the Ordinary Shares during the twenty (20) trading days 
prior to the Actual Exchange Date (the “Exchange Price”); provided however that the Exchange Price shall not be lower than $3 per share, and shall not exceed $12 per share. 

  
In the event that the Investor exercises the Exchange Option and provides the Exchange Option Notice, the Company shall, within ten (10) Business Days following the Actual Exchange 
Date, issue to the Investor the Exchange Shares.  It is the intention of the parties hereto that the issuance to the Investor of the Exchange Option pursuant to the provisions hereof shall 
commence the Investor’s holding period with respect to the Exchange Shares issuable upon the exercise thereof under Rule 144 (“Rule 144”), paragraph (d)(3)(ii), under the U.S. Securities 
Act of 1933, as amended (the “Securities Act”), and that following any Actual Exchange Date occurring after the lapse of six months following the date on which the Exchange Option is 
issued, the Investor shall be permitted to publicly resell Exchange Shares in accordance with Rule 144 (assuming that the Investor is not then, nor in the 3 months preceding such time, an 
“affiliate” of the Company (as defined in Rule 144(a)(1)) and that the Company is then current in its reports under the U.S. Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (the “Exchange 
Act”)).  To the extent that the Investor is unable to rely upon Rule 144 for the public resale of such Exchange Shares, the Company shall exercise commercially reasonable efforts to 
promptly file a resale registration statement pursuant to the Securities Act within the following 90 day period to enable the public disposition by the Investor of such Exchange Shares. 

  
Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

  

22.  Section 3.3 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

   “3.3 Payments of Cash Consideration pursuant to 3.1.2 above shall be made quarterly within 120 days following the end of each calendar quarter, during which any Gross Cash was received. 
Such payments shall be in total only and shall be paid together with a validity report signed by the CFO of the Company (the “Cash Consideration Quarterly Report”). At Investor's 
request no later than two years following each such payment, Investor will have an audit right at Compugen’s premises, to be performed by a recognized accounting firm (chosen by 
Investor) during normal business hours and subject to the signature of a customary confidentiality undertaking. The cost of such auditing shall be borne by Investor, unless a deficiency 
of more than 2% is found, in which event Compugen shall bear all reasonable auditing costs. Within thirty (30) days of such auditing, the Party which either received an excessive amount, 
or paid an amount lower than required, according to the auditing, shall pay the appropriate amount, provided that if such payment is made by Compugen it shall be paid together with 
interest at an annual rate of five percent (5%) from the due date and until actual payment hereunder. 

23.  Section 3.8 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

   “3.8 Notwithstanding the above, Investor may, at any time on or prior to June 30, 2015  provide a written notice (the “Exchange Option Notice”) of its election to exchange, as of the Actual 
Exchange Date (as such term is hereinafter defined), all of its rights to receive the full Cash Consideration for the Exchange Shares (as such term is hereinafter defined) without any further 
consideration required to be paid by the Investor to Compugen in connection therewith (the right to provide the Exchange Option Notice and instead receive the Exchange Shares, the 
“Exchange Option”). The “Actual Exchange Date” shall be a date selected by the Investor and set forth in the Exchange Option Notice, provided that such date shall not be earlier than 61 
trading days  following the date of delivery of such Exchange Option Notice to Compugen (the “Exchange Notice Date”), nor later than the 62nd trading day following June 30, 2015. 
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“3A. SELECTION BY INVESTOR OF SELECTED PRODUCTS 

  

  

  

  
Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

  

24.  Section 3.10 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

   “3.10 For the avoidance of doubt, in the event  of the Investor providing Compugen with an Exchange Notice, the Investor shall not be entitled to receive any further Cash Consideration or 
Cash Consideration Reports with respect to Net Cash received by Compugen following the Exchange Notice Date, and 

   3.10.1 All Compugen Warrants issued to Investor shall remain outstanding in full with no change to their terms or conditions. 

   3.10.2 Other than with respect to (i) the issuance of the Exchange Shares,  (ii) the Compugen Warrants and (iii) any Compugen obligations related to the period on or prior to the 
Exchange Notice Date, Compugen shall have no further financial or other obligations of any kind to Investor. 

25.  Section 3.11 will be deleted 

26. Section 3A will be added to the 2010 Agreement as follows: 

   3A.1 At any time, or from time to time, but in any event prior to the later of (i)  June 30, 2015, or (ii) the date that is thirty (30) days following receipt by Investor of the Annual Report for calendar 
year 2014, (in either case, the “Final  Date”) Investor shall notify Company in writing of its selection of a total of not more than five (5) Designated Product Candidates and Target mAbs to 
be Selected Products under this Agreement. 

   3A.2 Once a Designated Product Candidate or Target mAb, is selected by the Investor, it shall remain a Selected Product for the entire term of the Agreement. 

   3A.3 If no Selected Product  has been selected by Investor 30 days prior to the Final Date, Compugen shall, within the following five business days, notify Investor in writing that this is the 
case.  If no Selected Product  has been selected by Investor 15 days prior to the Final Date, Compugen shall again, within the following five business days, notify Investor in writing that 
this is the case. 
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“7.1              Term and Termination. Unless earlier terminated by the Parties, or expiration in accordance with the terms hereof, the term of this Agreement will commence on the Effective Date and 
continue until the first to occur of: 

  

  

  
provided that any provision hereof that, according to the terms hereof, is to expire on an earlier date, shall expire on such earlier date and provided further that the terms of Company Warrants 
granted to Investor hereunder and any rights prevailing during the period until such termination shall not be affected by such termination.” 

  

  
“7.2.2                             Notwithstanding the above prohibition of assignment or transfer, (i) Compugen may assign any rights related to the Designated Product Candidates, Targets, and/or Target 
mAbs in connection with any participation, joint venture, partnership or any other cooperation with third parties in connection with the development, marketing, selling, commercialization or any other 
activity it deems necessary or advisable in connection with any of the Designated Product Candidates, Targets, and/or Target mAbs, it being clarified for avoidance of doubt that such assignment or 
transfer shall be subject and without impairment to the Investor's rights against Compugen hereunder, including without limitation, the right for Cash Consideration and (ii) Investor may freely transfer 
and assign any Company Warrants obtained by it pursuant to this Agreement, provided such transfer or assignment is in compliance with and consistent with applicable securities law. A Party shall 
promptly notify the other Party in writing of any assignment made hereunder.” 

  
Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

  

   3A.4 For the avoidance of doubt, if no Selected Product  has been selected by Investor prior to the Final Date, it shall be deemed that as of the Final Date, Investor has elected to exercise the 
Exchange Option pursuant to Section 3.8 above and therefore the Exchange Notice Date shall be the Final Date. 

27.  Section 6 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

1. “6. INVENTIONS 

   Investor agrees that all information, improvements, inventions, formulae, processes, techniques, know-how and data, and all related intellectual property, whether or not patentable or 
registerable under copyright or any similar laws, made or conceived or reduced to practice or learned in connection with any of the Designated Product Candidates, Targets and/or Target 
mAbs (all such information, improvements, inventions, formulae, processes, techniques, know-how, and data, and all related intellectual property, are hereinafter referred to as the 
“Invention(s)”) immediately upon discovery, receipt, creation or invention as applicable, shall be considered Inventions of the Company, shall be the sole property of the Company and its 
assignees, and the Company and its assignees shall be the sole owner of all patents, copyrights, trade secret and all other rights of any kind or nature, including moral rights, in connection 
with such Inventions.”  

28.  Section 7.1 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

   7.1.1 Receipt by Investor of the Exchange Shares pursuant to Section 3.8 above; or 

   7.1.2 December 31, 2030, 

29.  Section 7.2.2 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 
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“7.3              Confidentiality. 

  
Investor and any successor or assignee thereof, who received or receives from the Company or its agents, directly or indirectly, any information concerning the Company, including, 
without limitation, the Designated Product Candidates, Targets, and/or Target mAbs, which the Company has not made generally available to the public, acknowledges and agrees that 
such information is confidential, and further agrees that, for so long as such information is not public, it will neither use such information for any purpose other than in connection with the 
consummation of its rights pursuant to this Agreement and the transactions contemplated hereby, nor will it disseminate such information to any person other than the representatives and 
advisors of Investor who have a need to know such information for purposes of effecting the transaction contemplated by this Agreement, provided that such persons to whom Investor 
has given access to the Company's confidential information are bound by similar confidentiality obligations to those set forth herein.  If this Agreement is terminated by any of the Parties, 
for any reason whatsoever, (a) at the Company’s request, Investor shall immediately return to the Company any and all non-public information received from the Company or their 
respective advisors in connection with the transactions contemplated hereby (but shall be entitled to retain for archival purposes and protection of his interests one copy of any report 
received from Compugen hereunder) and shall so confirm to the Company by a written certificate executed by Investor; and (b) the Confidentiality provisions of this Section 7.3 shall 
remain in full force and effect and binding on Investor. 

  
Investor understands and acknowledges that it may receive material, non-public information concerning the Company under this Agreement and that applicable securities law and 
regulations contain prohibitions with respect to the use of such information and the disclosure of such information to others.” 

  

  
“7.4              Notices. 

  
All notices required to be given under this Agreement shall be in writing, by mail, courier or hand delivery to the addresses which may be designated by each Party from time to time in a 
writing complying with this Notice provision, and shall be deemed received on the date confirmed on: (1) the return receipt for certified mail sent return receipt requested; or (2) the receipt 
for notices sent by Airborne, Federal Express or other reliable overnight courier; or (3) two (2) Business Days following delivery by Facsimile (with receipt of proper transmission). 

  
Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

  

30.  Section 7.3 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

31.  Section 7.4 of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by the following: 

  
  



CONFIDENTIAL TREATMENT REQUESTED 
   

If to Compugen: 
  

Compugen Ltd. 
  

Pinchas Rosen Street #72 
  

Tel Aviv 69512, Israel 
  

Fax. 03-765-8555 
  

Attention: General Counsel 
  

If to Investor: 
  

Baize Investment (Israel) Ltd, c/o – The Goldman Group, 
  

55 St. Clair Avenue West, Suite 240, 
  

Toronto, Ontario, Canada M4V2Y7 
  

Attention: Mr. Murray Goldman 
  

With a Copy (which shall not constitute a notice) to: 
  

POB 5481 
  

Caesarea 30889, Israel 
  

Fax: 04-9400874 
  

  

  

  

  

  
Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

  

32.  Exhibit A of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by Exhibits A1 and A2 attached to this Amendment. 

33.  Exhibit B of the 2010 Agreement will be replaced by Exhibit B1 attached to this Amendment. 

34. In the event of any conflict between the provisions of the 2010 Agreement as amended by this Amendment, the provisions of this Amendment shall prevail. For avoidance of doubt a copy of the 2010 
Agreement as amended by this Amendment is attached. 

35. Except as amended herein, all other terms and conditions of the 2010 Agreement shall remain in full force and effect. 

36. This Amendment may be executed in counterparts, each of which shall be deemed an original and all of which together shall constitute one and the same instrument. Any signature page delivered by 
facsimile or electronic image transmission shall be binding to the same extent as an original signature page. 
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Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 
requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 

 

  

37. IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have executed this Amendment as of the date hereof. 

BAIZE INVESTMENTS (ISRAEL) LTD   COMPUGEN LTD. 
         
By: /s/ Murray Goldman                        By: /s/ Anat Cohen-Dayag                   
         
Name: Murray Goldman    Name: Anat Cohen-Dayag  
         
Title:   President                                                                    Title:   President & CEO          
         
Date: April 19, 2013     Date: April 21, 2013  
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Appendix A1: Designated Product Candidates 
 

 
Appendix A2: Targets 

 

  
Portions of the exhibit, indicated by the mark “[***],” were omitted and have been filed separately with the Securities and Exchange Commission pursuant to the Registrant’s application 

requesting confidential treatment pursuant to Rule 24b-2 of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended. 
  

 
  
 
  

  

Designated Product Candidates Status

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

Targets Status 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 

[***] [***] 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

U.S. dollars in thousands 
  

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
  

  

    June 30,     December 31,  
    2013     2012  
    Unaudited        

ASSETS            
             
CURRENT ASSETS:            

Cash and cash equivalents   $ 13,094    $ 16,374 
Restricted cash     99      96 
Short-term bank deposits     15,015      3,215 
Investment in Evogene     4,713      5,196 
Other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses     736      690 

               
Total current assets     33,657      25,571 
               
NON- CURRENT INVESTMENTS:              

Long-term lease deposits     22      59 
Severance pay fund     1,900      1,728 

               
 Total non- current investments     1,922      1,787 
               
LONG-TERM PREPAID EXPENSES     201      301 
               
PROPERTY AND EQUIPMENT, NET     1,226      1,250 
               
Total assets   $ 37,006    $ 28,909 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

   
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data) 
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
  

  

    June 30,     December 31,  
    2013     2012  
    Unaudited        

LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY            
             
CURRENT LIABILITIES:            

Trade payables   $ 857    $ 443 
Other accounts payable and accrued expenses     1,219      941 

               
Total current liabilities     2,076      1,384 
               
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES:              

Research and development funding arrangements and others     12,037      7,872 
Accrued severance pay     2,179      1,981 

               
Total non-current liabilities     14,216      9,853 
               
COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENT LIABILITIES              
               
SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY:              
Share capital:              

Ordinary shares of NIS 0.01 par value: 100,000,000 shares  
  authorized at June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012; 38,361,450  
  and 36,590,478 shares issued and outstanding at June 30, 2013 and  
  December 31, 2012, respectively     104      99 

Additional paid-in capital     216,304      206,325 
Accumulated other comprehensive income     4,838      5,367 
Accumulated deficit     (200,532)     (194,119)
               
Total shareholders' equity     20,714      17,672 
               
Total liabilities and shareholders' equity   $ 37,006    $ 28,909 

  
- 3 -



 
COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share and per share data) 

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
  

  

 

   
Six months ended 

June 30,  
    2013     2012  
    Unaudited  
             
Revenues   $ 184      - 
Cost of revenues     234      - 
               
Gross loss     (50)     - 
               
Operating expenses:              

Research and development expenses, net     6,176      4,047 
Marketing and business development expenses     352      351 
General and administrative expenses     2,105      1,679 

               
Total operating expenses     8,633      6,077 
               
Operating loss     (8,683)     (6,077)
               
Financial income, net     2,270      1,332 
               
Net loss   $ (6,413)   $ (4,745)

               
Unrealized gain arising during the period on Investment in Evogene   $ 924    $ 569 

               
Realized gain (loss) arising during the period on Investment in  Evogene   $ (1,453)   $ - 

               
Total comprehensive loss   $ (6,942)   $ (4,176)

               
Basic net loss per share   $ (0.17)   $ (0.13)

               
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares used in computing basic  
  net loss per share     37,746,520      35,628,390 

               
Diluted net loss per share   $ (0.18)   $ (0.13)

               
Weighted average number of Ordinary shares used in computing diluted  
  net loss per share     39,140,651      35,628,390 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
  

 
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
  

  

    Ordinary shares    
Additional paid-

in    

Accumulated 
other 

comprehensive     Accumulated    
Total 

shareholders'  
    Number     Amount     capital     income     deficit     equity  
                                     
Balance as of January 1, 2012     34,707,622    $ 94    $ 195,714    $ 4,264    $ (180,491)   $ 19,581 
                                           
Employee options exercised     696,988      2      1,878      -      -      1,880 
Issuance of shares     1,185,868      3      6,264      -      -      6,267 
Stock-based compensation relating to options and warrants issued to 

consultants , employees and directors     -      -      2,469      -      -      2,469 
Other comprehensive income     -      -      -      1,103      -      1,103 
Net loss     -      -      -      -      (13,628)     (13,628)
                                           
Balance as of December 31, 2012     36,590,478      99      206,325      5,367      (194,119)     17,672 
                                           
Employee options exercised     432,687      1      1,167      -      -      1,168 
Issuance of shares     1,338,285      4      7,264      -      -      7,268 
Stock-based compensation relating to options issued to consultants, employees 

and directors     -      -      1,388      -      -      1,388 
Classification of liability with respect to outstanding options to non-employee to 

equity     -      -      160      -      -      160 
Other comprehensive loss     -      -      -      (529)     -      (529)
Net loss     -      -      -      -      (6,413)     (6,413)
                                           
Balance as of June 30, 2013 (unaudited)     38,361,450    $ 104    $ 216,304    $ 4,838    $ (200,532)   $ 20,714 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

U.S. dollars in thousands 
  

  

  

   
Six months ended 

June 30,  
    2013     2012  
    Unaudited  

Cash flows from operating activities:            
             

Net loss   $ (6,413)   $ (4,745)
               

Adjustments required to reconcile net loss to net cash used in operating activities:              
Non-cash stock-based compensation     1,388      1,070 
Depreciation     237      116 
Severance pay, net     26      61 
Gain from the sale of Evogene shares     (1,453)     - 
Change in fair value of exchange option and embedded derivatives within research and development  funding arrangements     (467)     (1,313)
Amortization of the cash consideration of the second research and development funding arrangement     (104)     (44)
Change in the fair value of liability with respect to outstanding options to non-employee     (104)     - 
Increase in other accounts receivable and prepaid expenses     (105)     (123)
Decrease (increase) in long-term prepaid expenses     100      (400)
Increase (decrease) in trade payables and other accounts payable and accrued expenses     581      (165)

               
Net cash used in operating activities     (6,314)     (5,543)
               
Cash flows from investing activities:              
               

Proceeds from maturity of short-term bank deposits     3,215      16,525 
Investment in short-term bank deposits     (15,015)     (13,107)
Decrease (increase) in long-term lease deposits     37      (51)
Purchase of property and equipment     (102)     (315)
Proceeds from sale of investment in Evogene     1,407      - 

               
Net cash provided by (used in) investing activities     (10,458)     3,052 
               
Cash flows from financing activities:              
               

Proceeds from issuance of ordinary shares, net     7,324      3,663 
Proceeds from research and development funding arrangement     5,000      - 
Proceeds from exercise of options     1,168      1,769 

               
Net cash provided by financing activities     13,492      5,432 
               
Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents     (3,280)     2,941 
Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the period     16,374      5,846 
               
Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the period   $ 13,094    $ 8,787 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
CONDENSED CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS 

U.S. dollars in thousands 
  

  
The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements. 
  

  

   
Six months ended 

June 30,  
    2013     2012  
    Unaudited  
             
Supplemental disclosure of non-cash investing and financing activities:            
             
Purchase of property and equipment   $ 111    $ - 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
 
NOTE 1:-        GENERAL 
  

  

  

   a. Compugen Ltd. (the "Company") and its subsidiary is a leading therapeutic product discovery company focused on therapeutic proteins and monoclonal antibodies to address 
important unmet needs in the fields of immunology and oncology. Unlike traditional high throughput trial and error experimental-based drug candidate discovery, the Company's 
discovery efforts are based on systematic and continuously improving in silico (by computer) product candidate prediction and selection followed by experimental validation, with 
selected product candidates being advanced in our Pipeline Program to the pre-IND stage. The Company's in silico predictive models utilize a broad and continuously growing 
infrastructure of proprietary scientific understandings and predictive platforms, algorithms, machine learning systems and other computational biology capabilities. The Company's 
business model primarily involves collaborations covering the further development and commercialization of in house-discovered product candidates and various forms of research 
and discovery agreements, in both cases providing us with potential milestone payments and royalties on product sales or other forms of revenue sharing. 
  
The Company's headquarters are located in Israel, with research and development facilities in Israel and California through its wholly-owned U.S. subsidiary, Compugen USA, Inc. 
("Compugen Inc.") 

    
  b. Investment in Evogene: 

  
The Company accounts for its investment in Evogene Ltd.(“Evogene”) in accordance with ASC 320, "Investments - Debt and Equity Securities". 
  
Management determines the appropriate classification of its investments at the time of purchase and reevaluates such determinations at each balance sheet date. 
  
The Company classifies its investment in Evogene as available-for-sale securities. Available-for-sale securities are carried at fair value, with the unrealized gains and losses, net of 
tax, reported in "accumulated other comprehensive income (loss)" in shareholders' equity and statement of comprehensive income. Realized gains and losses are included in other 
income and are derived using the specific identification method for determining the cost of securities. As of June 30, 2013, the Company holds 787,585 of Evogene Ordinary shares 
representing 2.09% of Evogene outstanding Ordinary shares. 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
  
NOTE 1:-        GENERAL (Cont.) 
 

  

 

 

 

  

  

   c. On April 19, 2013, the Company received from the research and development funding arrangements investor the remaining funding amount of $5,000 under the second funding 
arrangement (the “mAb Funding Arangement”). For further information about the funding arrangements, refer to Note 8 to the Company’s consolidated financial statements 
contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2012. 
  
According to the funding arrangements prior the April 2013 the investor was entitled to receive a portion of future income received by the Company related to commercialization 
and post-marketing fees for certain designated product candidates ("Participation Rights"). In addition, the investor had the right, to waive its Participation Rights in exchange for 
the Company's Ordinary Shares (the "Exchange Option"). 
  
In connection with final $5,000 investment under the mAb Funding Arrangement, the Company entered into the Amendment to Funding Arrangements (the “2013 Amendment”), 
pursuant to which the following terms would apply to all investments under the funding arrangement and its amendments: 

   1. The mAb Funding Arrangement was terminated. 

   2. Until June 30, 2015, the investor has the right to receive 10% of the cash consideration received by the Company or its affiliates from third parties, less certain pass-
through amounts, with respect to certain designated product candidates (the “Amended Participation Rights”). 

   3. The Exchange Option term has been extended to June 30, 2015 and the exchange shares amount will be determined based on total aggregated funding amount of $ 13,000 
in connection to the research and development funding agreements, less 50% of any Amended Participation Rights paid to investor by Compugen, divided by the average 
closing price of the Company's Ordinary shares during twenty (20) trading days prior the actual exchange date provided however that the exchange price shall not be 
lower than $3.00 per share, and shall not exceed $12.00 per share. 

   4. The warrants granted to the investor under previous funding arrangements to purchase up to 500,000 of the Company’s ordinary shares under the first research and 
development funding arrangement has been replaced with a new warrant to purchase up to 500,000 of the Company’s ordinary shares, exercisable at $ 7.50 per share 
through June 30, 2015. 

   d. Following a shelf registration filed in January 2011, the Company signed in August 2011 an agreement with a broker, to issue and sell Ordinary shares under an At-the-Market 
offering ("ATM") program with gross proceeds of up to $ 40,000. During the six months period ended June 30, 2013 the Company had raised approximately $ 7,268, net of issuance 
expenses, under this program from the issuance of 1,338,285 of its Ordinary shares. 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
  
NOTE 2:-        SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES 
  

The significant accounting policies applied in the annual financial statements of the Company as of December 31, 2012 are applied consistently in these financial statements. For further 
information, refer to Note 2 of the Company’s consolidated financial statements contained in the Company’s Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2012. 

  
NOTE 3:-        UNAUDITED INTERIM CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 
 

 

  
NOTE 4:-        FAIR VALUE MEASURMENTS 
  

  

  

   a. The accompanying unaudited interim consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for 
interim financial information. Accordingly, they do not include all the information and footnotes required by accounting principles generally accepted in the United States for 
complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all adjustments (consisting of normal recurring accruals) considered necessary for a fair presentation have been 
included. Operating results for the six-month period ended June 30, 2013 are not necessarily indicative of the results that may be expected for the year ended December 31, 2013. 

   b. Under ASU 2013-02, "Reporting of Amounts Reclassified out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income", the Company is required to provide information about the amounts 
re-classified out of Accumulated Other Comprehensive Income ("AOCI") by component. In addition, the Company is required to present, either on the face of the financial 
statements or in the notes, significant amounts reclassified out of AOCI by the respective line items of net income, but only if the amount reclassified is required to be reclassified in 
its entirety in the same reporting period. For amounts that are not required to be reclassified in their entirety to net income, an entity is required to cross-reference to other 
disclosures that provide additional details about those amounts. 

   The Company adopted the provision of ASC 820, "Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures" ("ASC 820") on January 1, 2008. ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be 
received from selling an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market participants at the measurement date. When determining the fair value measurements for 
assets and liabilities required to be recorded at fair value, the Company considers the principal or most advantageous market in which it would transact and consider assumptions that 
market participants would use when pricing the asset or liability, such as inherent risk, transfer restrictions and risk of nonperformance. 
  
ASC 820 also establishes a fair value hierarchy that requires an entity to maximize the use of observable inputs and minimize the use of unobservable inputs when measuring fair value. A 
financial instrument's categorization within the fair value hierarchy is based on the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair value measurement. ASC 820 establishes three levels of 
inputs that may be used to measure fair value: 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
 
NOTE 4:-        FAIR VALUE MEASURMENTS (Cont.) 
  

 

 

  
The changes in Level 3 liabilities are measured at fair value on a recurring basis: 

  

  

 

  

  Level 1 -  quoted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities; 

   Level 2 - inputs other than Level 1 that are observable, either directly or indirectly, such as quoted prices in active markets for similar assets or liabilities, quoted prices for identical or 
similar assets or liabilities in markets that are not active, or other inputs that are observable or can be corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of 
the assets or liabilities; or 

   Level 3 - unobservable inputs that are supported by little or no market activity and that are significant to the fair value of the assets or liabilities. 

   

Fair value 
of embedded 
derivatives  

       
Balance at January 1, 2012   $ 5,707 
        
Fair value of Exchange Option within the 2012 proceeds under the  
  second research and development arrangement     569 
Change in fair value of Exchange Option and embedded  
   derivatives within research and development arrangements     588 
        
Balance at December 31, 2012 *)     6,864 
        
Fair value of Exchange Option within the 2013 proceeds under the  
  second research and development arrangement     4,756 
Change in fair value of Exchange Option and embedded  
  derivatives within research and development arrangements     (467)
        
Balance at June 30, 2013 (unaudited) *)   $ 11,153 

   *) The amount on the balance sheets of the research and development funding arrangements and others includes also a mAb Participation Interest in the amount of $ 884 and $ 744 as 
of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively, and fair value of liability with respect to outstanding options to a non-employee in the amount of $0 and $ 264 as of June 30, 
2013 and December 31, 2012, respectively. 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
  
NOTE 5:-        COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES 
 

  

  

 

 

 

 

  

  

   a. The Company provided bank guarantees in the amount of $ 99 and check deposit in the amount of $ 40 in favor of its offices' lessor in Israel and California, U.S, respectively. 

  b.  Commitments in favor of the Government of Israel and other grants: 

   1. As of June 30, 2013, the Company's aggregate contingent obligations for payments to the Office of the Chief Scientist, ("OCS"), based on OCS participation in certain 
potential future receipts or revenue accruals, net of interest, royalties paid or accrued, totaled approximately $ 8,762. 

   2. Under the OCS royalty-bearing programs, the Company is not obligated to repay any amounts received from the OCS if it does not generate any income from the results of 
the OCS funded research programs. If any such research programs are successful and income is generated, the Company is committed to pay royalties at a rate of 3% to 
5% of the Company's revenues arising from such research program, up to a maximum of 100% of the amount received for such program from the OCS, linked to the U.S. 
dollar (for grants received under programs approved subsequent to January 1, 1999, the maximum to be repaid is 100% plus interest at LIBOR). 

   For the six-months ended June 30, 2013, the Company has an aggregate of paid and accrued royalties to the OCS recorded in the consolidated statement of comprehensive 
loss in the amount of $ 6. 

   3. As of June 30, 2013 under the 2013 Amendment the investor is entitled to receive Amended Participation Rights. As of December 31, 2012 under the research and 
development funding arrangement and the mAb Funding Arrangement the investor was entitled to receive Participation Rights and mAb Participation Interest, 
respectively. As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 the Company did not incur any obligation under these arrangements. 

   4. On June 25, 2012 the Company and its U.S subsidiary added to its mAb enabling technology base by entering into an Antibodies Discovery Collaboration Agreement (the 
"Agreement") with a U.S. antibody technology company ("mAb Technology Company"), providing an established source for fully human mAbs. The Agreement includes 
time based research and commercial licenses to use specific mAb Technology Company proprietary collections of polynucleotides encoding antibodies, and their 
associated biological materials, together with the systems and/or licensed know how and/or to practice patent rights to identify, isolate, and modify discovery Fabs (the 
"Technology"), and to develop and exploit discovery products. According to the Agreement (i) the Company paid $ 600 in consideration for a three-year access right to 
the Technology, of which $ 400 was recorded as long-term prepaid expenses and will be charged to the statement of comprehensive loss over three years and (ii) $ 150 in 
consideration for the associated biological materials, which was recorded as other accounts receivables and prepaid expenses and will be charged to the statement of 
comprehensive loss in accordance with actual use of materials during each measured period and (iii) in the event any Compugen mAb programs utilize the Technology, the 
Company would pay additional fees upon the occurrence of certain development and commercialization milestone up to a maximum cumulative total of $ 3,250 for each 
antibody drug product that achieved all such milestone events. In addition, the mAb Technology Company will be entitled to certain royalties that could be eliminated, 
upon payment of certain one-time fees (all payments referred together as "Contingent Fees"). As of June 30, 2013 and December 31, 2012 the Company did not incur any 
obligation for such Contingent Fees. 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
  
NOTE 5:-        COMMITMENTS AND CONTINGENCIES (Cont.) 
  

 
NOTE 6:-        SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY 
  

 

 

  

  

     In December 2012, the Company replenished the associated biological materials to support the research and development activities performed under the Agreement in the 
amount of $ 100 which was recorded as other accounts receivables and prepaid expenses. 
  
During the period from June 25, 2012 to December 31, 2012 and the six-month period ended June 30, 2013, the Company charged expenses to the statement of 
comprehensive loss in the amount of $ 109 and $ 158, respectively, related to the Agreement. 

   During the six-month period ended June 30, 2013, the Company's Board of Directors granted options to purchase a total of 217,500 Ordinary shares of the Company. 102,500 and 115,000 
options were granted to employees and non-employees, respectively. The exercise prices for such options are from $ 4.92 to $ 5.50 per share, with vesting to occur in up to 4 years. 
  
The following table presents the weighted-average assumptions used to estimate the fair values of the options granted in the periods presented: 

   
Six months ended 

June 30,  
    2013     2012  
             
Volatility   58%-83%     73%-88%  
Risk-free interest rate   0.54%-1.59%     0.56%-2.00%  
Dividend yield   0%     0%  
Expected life (years) *)   4.0 – 6.0     3.8-4.7  

   *) Excluding options that were granted to a consultant in connection with the mAb Funding Arrangement. 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
  
NOTE 6:-        SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY (Cont.) 
 

 
NOTE 7:-        FINANCIAL INCOME (LOSS), NET 
 

 
NOTE 8:-        RELATED PARTY BALANCES AND TRANSACTIONS 
 

  
NOTE 9:-         SUBSEQUENT EVENTS 
 

  

  

   Weighted average fair value of options granted during the six-month periods ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 are $ 2.96 and $ 3.70, respectively. 
  
As of June 30, 2013, the total unrecognized estimated compensation cost related to non-vested stock options granted prior to that date was $ 4,309, which is expected to be recognized over 
a weighted average period of approximately 2.12 years. 

   
Six months ended 

June 30,  
    2013     2012  
             
Interest income   $ 82    $ 190 
Change in fair value of Exchange Option and embedded derivatives  
    and outstanding options to non-employee within research and  
    development  funding arrangements     571      1,313 
Financial income from selling of Evogene shares     1,453      - 
Exchange rate differences and others     164      (171)
               
Financial income, net   $ 2,270    $ 1,332 

   The Company provides research and development services to one of its affiliates Neviah Genomics in consideration for pre-scheduled determined fees. During the six-month periods ended 
June 30, 2013 and June 30, 2012, the Company recognized $ 184 and $ 0 in revenues, respectively, from such agreement. 

   On July 15, 2013, the Company's Board of directors approved a grant to employees and non-employees of options to purchase a total of 1,018,900 and 10,000 ordinary shares, respectively, at 
an exercise price of $ 5.445 per share. 
 
1,008,900 out of the total options to purchase ordinary shares granted to employees shall vest over a period of twelve months commencing January 1, 2016. 
 
10,000 out of the total options to purchase ordinary shares granted to employees shall vest over a period of four years commencing on the above date. 
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COMPUGEN LTD. AND ITS SUBSIDIARY 

  
NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS 

U.S. dollars in thousands (except share data) 
 
NOTE 9:-         SUBSEQUENT EVENTS (Cont.) 
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   10,000 options to purchase ordinary shares granted to non- employees shall vest over a period of twelve months commencing on the above date. 
 
180,000 options out of the total options to purchase ordinary shares granted to employees are pending shareholders’ approval. 



Exhibit 99.2 
  

OPERATING AND FINANCIAL REVIEW AND PROSPECTS 
 
RESULTS OF OPERATIONS 
 
Six months ended June 30, 2013 and 2012 
 
Revenues. Revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2013 were approximately $184,000 compared with no revenues for the six months ended June 30, 2012. The revenues for the first six months of 2013 
were primarily due to amounts received for certain activities in support of Neviah Genomics Ltd. (“Neviah”), our joint venture with Merck Serono. 
 
Cost of Revenues. Cost of revenues attributable to certain activities in support of Neviah were $234,000 for the first six months of 2013 compared with no cost of revenues for the first six months of 2012. 
The gross loss resulted from costs of services related to Neviah, for which corresponding revenue could not be recognized in the period. We expect to have positive gross margin in future periods. 
 
Research and Development Expenses, Net. Research and development expenses, net, increased by 55% to approximately $6.2 million for the first six months of 2013 from approximately $4.0 million for the 
first six months of 2012. The increase was primarily due to increasing levels of activity under our South San Francisco operation, which was established in April 2012 ("Compugen USA"), as well as, 
increasing levels of activity in our Pipeline Program. Research and development expenses, net, as a percentage of total operating expenses, increased to 72% for the first six months of 2013 from 67% for 
the first six months of 2012. 
 
Marketing and Business Development Expenses. Marketing and business development expenses were approximately $352,000 for the first six months of 2013 compared to approximately $351,000 for the 
first six months of 2012. Marketing and business development expenses, as a percentage of total operating expenses, decreased to 4% for the first six months of 2013 from 6% for the first six months of 
2012. 
 
General and Administrative Expenses. General and administrative expenses increased by 24% to approximately $2.1 million for the first six months of 2013 from approximately $1.7 million for the first six 
months of 2012. The increase was primarily due to an increase under professional services costs, and an increase under non-cash stock based compensation. General and administrative expenses, as a 
percentage of total operating expenses, decreased to 24% for the first six months of 2013 from 27% for the first six months of 2012. 
 
Financial Income, Net. Financial income, net, increased to approximately $2.3 million for the first six months of 2013 from approximately $1.3 million for the first six months of 2012. The increase was 
primarily due to gain related to sales of a portion of our investment in Evogene Ltd. (“Evogene”) during the first six months of 2013 and the non-cash effect of revaluation of foreign-currency net assets, 
which was offset by the decrease in non-cash income to $571,000 for the first six months of 2013 from $1.3 million for the first six months of 2012, both related to the re-measurement of fair value of the 
research and development funding arrangements signed in late 2010 and late 2011 in support of the Pipeline Program and certain research and development activities, which, for reporting purposes, are 
being accounted for as a liability. 
  
  

  



 
LIQUIDITY AND CAPITAL RESOURCES 
 
Net Cash Used in Operating Activities 
  
Net cash used in operating activities increased to approximately $6.3 million in the first six months of 2013 compared with approximately $5.5 million in the first six months of 2012. This increase is mainly 
attributed to the increasing levels of activity under Compugen USA, as well as increasing levels of research and development activity in our Pipeline Program. 
  
Net Cash Provided by (Used in) Investing Activities 
  
Net cash used in investing activities in the first six months of 2013 was approximately $10.5 million compared with net cash provided by investing activities of approximately $3.1 million in the first six 
months of 2012. The decrease in net investment activities is primarily related to lower proceeds from the maturity of short-term bank deposits in the first six months of 2013 compared to the same period in 
2012 and classification, for reporting purposes, of certain funds previously accounted as cash and cash equivalents to short-term bank deposits. 
 
Net Cash Provided by Financing Activities 
  
Net cash provided by financing activities was approximately $13.5 million in the first six months of 2013 compared with approximately $5.4 million in the first six months of 2012. The principal sources of 
cash provided by financing activities in the first six months of 2013 were: (i) $7.3 million_ in proceeds from the issuance of shares under our “at-the-market” offering program, during the period of January 
2013 to May 2013,(ii) $5.0 million_ in proceeds related to the research and development funding arrangement signed in December 2011, and (iii) $1.2 million_ in proceeds received from the issuance of 
ordinary shares as a result of the exercise of stock options.  The principal sources of cash provided by financing activities in the first six months of 2012 were: (i) $3.7 million_ in proceeds from the 
issuance of shares under our “at-the-market” offering program during the period of January 2012 to April 2012 and (ii) $1.7 million_ in proceeds received from the issuance of ordinary shares as a result of 
the exercise of stock options. 
 
Net Liquidity 
  
Liquidity refers to liquid financial assets available to fund our business operations and pay for near-term obligations. These liquid financial assets mostly consist of cash and cash equivalents, as well as, 
short-term bank deposits and marketable securities. As of June 30, 2013, we had total cash, cash equivalents and short-term bank deposits of approximately $28.1 million, not including the market value of 
the remaining Evogene ordinary shares owned by the Company. 
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COMPUGEN LTD. 
NOTICE OF SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

TO BE HELD ON SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 
  
Notice is hereby given that a Special General Meeting (the “Meeting”) of the shareholders of Compugen Ltd. (the “Company”), an Israeli company, will be held at the Company’s offices at 72 Pinchas 
Rosen Street, Tel Aviv, Israel, on September 10, 2013 at 10:00 AM (Israel time) for the following purposes: 
  

  

  

  

  

  
Shareholders of record at the close of trading on August 6, 2013, are entitled to vote at the Meeting. All shareholders are cordially invited to attend the Meeting in person. Two (2) or more 

shareholders, present in person, by proxy or by proxy card, and holding shares conferring in the aggregate thirty-three and a third percent (33.33%) or more of the voting power of the Company, shall 
constitute a quorum at the Meeting. Should no quorum be present within an hour from the time set for the Meeting, the Meeting shall be adjourned to September 17, 2013, at the same time and place. At 
such adjourned meeting, any two (2) shareholders present in person, by proxy or by proxy card, shall constitute a quorum. 

  
Shareholders who do not expect to attend the Meeting in person are requested to complete, date and sign the enclosed form of proxy card and return it as promptly as possible in the enclosed 

stamped envelope. No postage is required if mailed in the United States. Joint holders of shares should take note that, pursuant to Article 36(d) of the Company’s articles of association, the vote of the 
senior holder who tenders a vote, in person, by proxy or by proxy card, will be accepted to the exclusion of the vote(s) of the other joint holder(s), and for this purpose seniority will be determined by the 
order in which the names appear in the Company’s shareholder register. 

  

1.  To approve and adopt new Articles of Association of the Company; 

2.  To approve a compensation policy with respect to the terms of office and employment of the Company’s “office holders” (as such term is defined in the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999, as 
amended); 

3.  To ratify and approve: (1) the remuneration to be provided to the non-management directors  of the Company; and (2) director and officer liability insurance coverage, the exemption and 
indemnification of the directors and chief executive officer of the Company and the provision of letters of indemnification and exemption to them; 

4.  To approve the grant of options to purchase 60,000 ordinary shares NIS 0.01 nominal (par) value each, to the chairman of the board of directors of the Company and the grant of options to 
purchase 120,000 ordinary shares NIS 0.01 nominal (par) value each, to the chief executive officer of the Company; and 

5.  To transact such other business as may properly come before the Meeting or any adjournment thereof. 

  
  



  
The Company urges all of its shareholders to review its most recent Annual Report on Form 20-F and its periodic reports on Form 6-K, which have been filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission and are available on the Investors section of the Company’s website at www.cgen.com. However, if you wish to be mailed a copy of the Company’s most recent Annual Report on Form 20-F 
or any other of the Company’s public filings, please send the Company a request through the Company’s website or call Investor Relations at +972-3-765-8585. 

  
Thank you for your cooperation. 

  

  

  

 

By Order of the Board of Directors, 
  
/S/ Mr. Martin S. Gerstel 
  
Martin S. Gerstel, Chairman of the Board 
Tel Aviv, Israel 
August 2, 2013 
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PROXY STATEMENT 
  

COMPUGEN LTD. 
  

72 Pinchas Rosen Street 
Tel Aviv 69512, Israel 

  
SPECIAL GENERAL MEETING OF SHAREHOLDERS 

TO BE HELD ON SEPTEMBER 10, 2013 
  

The enclosed proxy is being solicited by the board of directors (the “Board”) of Compugen Ltd. (the “Company” or “Compugen”) for use at a Special General Meeting of Shareholders (the 
“Meeting”) to be held at the Company’s offices at 72 Pinchas Rosen Street, Tel Aviv, Israel, on September 10, 2013 at 10:00 AM (Israel time), or at any postponement or adjournment thereof. 

  
The record date for determining shareholders entitled to notice of, and to vote at, the Meeting has been established as of the close of trading on August 6, 2013. 
  
As of July 25, 2013 the Company had outstanding 38,365,450 ordinary shares, nominal (par) value of 0.01 New Israeli Shekels (“NIS”) each (the “Ordinary Shares”), each of which is entitled to one 

vote upon each of the matters to be presented at the Meeting. 
  
Two or more shareholders, present in person, by proxy or by proxy card and holding shares conferring in the aggregate thirty-three and a third percent (33.33%) or more of the voting power of the 

Company, shall constitute a quorum at the Meeting. Should no quorum be present within an hour from the time set for the Meeting, the Meeting shall be adjourned to September 17, 2013, at the same time 
and place. At such adjourned meeting, any two (2) shareholders present in person, by proxy or by proxy card, shall constitute a quorum. 

  
All proposals set forth in the accompanying Notice of Special General Meeting of Shareholders (the “Notice”) to be presented at the Meeting, require the affirmative vote of the holders of a 

majority of the Ordinary Shares represented at the Meeting in person, by proxy or by proxy card, and voting thereon, provided that with respect to Items 2, 3, and 4 (i) such majority includes a majority of 
the shareholders who are not controlling shareholders and who do not have a personal interest in the matter, present and voting (abstentions are disregarded), or (ii) the shareholders who are not 
controlling shareholders and who do not have a personal interest in the matter who were present and voted against the policy, hold two percent or less of the voting power of the company (the 
"Compensation Majority"). 
  
Please note: 
  
Pursuant to the Israel Companies Law, 5759-1999, as amended (the "Companies Law"), in order for your vote with respect to Items 2, 3, and 4 to be counted, you must indicate on your proxy or 
proxy card, or inform the Company at the Meeting and prior to voting thereon, (i) whether you are a controlling shareholder of the Company or (ii) if you or any of the following persons have a 
personal interest in the approval of the relevant Item: 
  

  

  

  

  

  

•  •  •  •   your spouse, siblings, parents, grandparents, descendants, spouse’s descendants, siblings or parents or the spouses of any of these people (a "Relative"); 

•  •  •  •   any entity in which you or a Relative of yours hold 5% or more of such entity's outstanding shares or voting rights; 

•  •  •  •   any entity in which you or a Relative of yours is a director or general manager, or in which you or a Relative of yours have the power to appoint one or more directors or the general 
manager; and 

•  •  •  •   a person voting under a proxy given by you. 
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In the attached proxy card you will be requested to indicate whether you are a "controlling shareholder" of the Company or whether you have, or any of the persons or entities described 

above has, a "personal interest", with respect to Items 2, 3 or 4. 
  
If you have not affirmatively indicated on the attached proxy card that you are a "controlling shareholder" of the Company or that you have, or that any of the persons or entities described 

above has, a "personal interest", your signature on the attached proxy card will certify that you are not a "controlling shareholder" of the Company and that none of the persons or entities 
described above, including you, has a "personal interest" in Items 2, 3 or 4. 

  
The Company is not currently aware of any controlling shareholders as such term is defined for purposes of the Companies Law. 
  
The Company expects to solicit proxies by mail and to mail this proxy statement and the accompanying proxy card to shareholders on or about August 6, 2013. The Company will bear the cost of 

solicitation of proxies, including preparation, assembly, printing and mailing, and will, upon request, reimburse banks, brokerage firms, other institutions, nominees, and fiduciaries for their reasonable 
expenses in forwarding solicitation materials to beneficial owners of Ordinary Shares. 
  

In order to be counted, a duly executed proxy or proxy card must be received by the Company prior to the Meeting. An instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing in a form approved by the 
Company's Board and shall be delivered to the Company at its registered offices at 72 Pinchas Rosen Street, Tel Aviv 69512, Israel, Attention: General Counsel, or at the offices of the Company’s transfer 
agent at 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn NY 11219, not less than two (2) hours before the time scheduled for the Meeting or adjourned meeting or presented to the Chairman of the Meeting at the Meeting. A 
proxy card shall be delivered to the Company at its registered offices at 72 Pinchas Rosen Street, Tel Aviv 69512, Israel, Attention: General Counsel, or at the offices of the Company’s transfer agent at 
6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219, by no later than 11:59 p.m., New York time, on the last business day immediately preceding the date of the Meeting or adjourned meeting or presented to the 
Chairman of the Meeting at the Meeting. Shares represented by proxies and proxy cards received after the times specified above will not be counted as present at the Meeting and thus will not be voted. 

  
Shareholders may revoke the authority granted by their execution of a proxy or a proxy card at any time before the effective exercise thereof by voting in person at the Meeting or by either written 

notice of such revocation or later-dated proxy or proxy card, in each case delivered to the Company at its registered offices at 72 Pinchas Rosen Street, Tel Aviv 69512, Israel, Attention: General Counsel, 
or at the offices of the Company’s transfer agent at 6201 15th Avenue, Brooklyn, NY 11219, with respect to a proxy - not less than two (2) hours before the time scheduled for the Meeting or adjourned 
meeting or presented to the Chairman of the Meeting at the Meeting; and with respect to a proxy card, by no later than 11:59 p.m., New York time, on the last business day immediately preceding the date 
of the Meeting or adjourned meeting, or presented to the Chairman of the Meeting at the Meeting. 

  
Ordinary Shares represented by executed and unrevoked proxies will be voted in the manner instructed by the executing shareholder, or if no specific instructions are given, will be voted FOR the 

proposals set forth in the Notice. The Company is not currently aware of any other matters to be presented at the Meeting. If other matters properly come before the Meeting, it is the intention of the 
persons designated as proxies to vote in accordance with their judgment on such matters. 
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BENEFICIAL OWNERSHIP OF SECURITIES BY PRINCIPAL 

  
SHAREHOLDERS AND MANAGEMENT 

  
The following table and notes thereto sets forth certain information, as of July 25, 2013 (except as noted below) regarding persons or entities known to the Company to beneficially own more than 

5% of the Company’s outstanding Ordinary Shares as well as the Company's directors and other "office holders" (as such term is defined in the Companies Law (the "Office Holders")(1) as a group. As of 
July 25, 2013, the Company had outstanding 38,365,450 Ordinary Shares. Beneficial ownership is determined in accordance with the rules of the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission (the “SEC”) and 
includes voting or investment power with respect to the securities. Ordinary Shares that may be acquired by an individual or group within 60 days of July 25, 2013, pursuant to the exercise of options or 
warrants, are deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the percentage ownership of such individual or group, but are not deemed to be outstanding for the purpose of computing the 
percentage ownership of any other person shown in the table. 
  

  
 (1)       the term "Office Holder" as defined in the Companies Law means a general manager, chief executive officer, executive vice president, vice president, any other person fulfilling or assuming any of 
the foregoing positions without regard to such person's title, as well as a member of the Board or a manager directly subordinate to the general manager or the chief executive officer.In addition to the six 
members of the Board, the Company defines an additional eight individuals as Office Holders, including the chief executive officer and the chief financial officer of the Company. 
  
(2)        Includes 500,000 shares held by Shomar Corporation, an affiliate of Mr. Martin S. Gerstel, 619,033 shares held by Merrill Lynch IRA for Martin Gerstel, of which Martin Gerstel is the beneficiary and 
734,735 shares held in a trust for which Martin Gerstel and his immediate family are the beneficiaries.  Also includes 583,332 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of, or that become exercisable 
within 60 days of, July 25, 2013. 
  
(3)        Consists of 686,103 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of, or that become exercisable within 60 days of, July 25, 2013. 
  
(4)        See also notes 2 and 3 above. Includes an additional 5,000 shares and 1,039,863 shares subject to options that are exercisable as of, or that become exercisable within 60 days of, July 25, 2013 held 
by directors and other Office Holders other than Mr. Gerstel and Dr. Anat Cohen-Dayag. 
  

  

Beneficial Owner  

Number of 
Ordinary Shares 

Beneficially Owned    
Percent of 
Ownership  

Martin Gerstel (2)     2,437,100      6.26%
Anat Cohen-Dayag  (3)     686,103       1.76 %
Directors and other Office Holders as a group (consisting of 14 persons) (4)     4,168,066       10.25 %
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ITEM NO. 1 

APPROVAL AND ADOPTION OF NEW ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 
  

In light of changes in the Companies Law and in other laws since the adoption of the current form of the Company's Articles of Association (the "Articles") in 2000, certain amendments are being 
proposed to the Articles. 
  

Following the recommendation and approval of the compensation committee of the Board (the "Compensation Committee") and the audit committee of the Board (the "Audit Committee") and of 
the Board, the shareholders are being asked to approve the proposed amendments to the Articles as reflected in the amended Articles attached to this Proxy Statement as Exhibit A and to replace the 
current Articles with the new amended and restated Articles. In Exhibit A, the proposed additions are underlined and the proposed deletions are indicated by a strikethrough. 
  

The proposed amended Articles incorporate non-substantive changes and clarifications to the current Articles as well as a number of substantive changes. These consist of the following: 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
It is proposed that the following resolution be adopted at the Meeting: 

  
“RESOLVED that the current Articles of Association of the Company be, and they hereby are, amended as set forth in Exhibit A to the Company’s Proxy Statement for its September 2013 Special 

General Meeting of Shareholders and that a consolidated form of the Articles of Association, incorporating all such amendments in an integrated form, be, and it hereby is, adopted and approved.” 
  
The affirmative vote of the holders of a simple majority of the voting power of the Company represented at the Meeting in person or by proxy and voting thereon is necessary for approval of the 

above resolution. 
  

The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote “FOR” the approval of the proposed resolution. 
  

  

  (a) updating the insurance, indemnification and exemption provisions to reflect recent changes in Israeli law by allowing the Company to insure and indemnify directors and other Office Holders 
for certain legal fees and expenses and certain payments incurred or imposed in administrative proceedings, as well as allowing insurance, indemnification and release of the Company’s 
directors and other Office Holders to the fullest extent permitted by law; 

  (b) allowing the Company to convene a general meeting of shareholders without sending notice to the shareholders but rather by publicizing the convening of general meetings in a manner 
reasonably determined by the Company; 

  (c) clarifying certain notice and publication procedures; 

  (d) clarifying that the Board has the authority (without the need to receive shareholder approval) to determine the remuneration of the Company’s independent auditors, as commonly practiced 
by companies in Israel and in the United States; 

   (e) clarifying that all resolutions of shareholders, except with respect to those matters which require a special majority under the Companies Law, but including with respect to those matters 
which require a special majority under the Companies Law due only to the Company's status as a company that was incorporated prior to the effective date of the Companies Law, require a 
simple majority of the voting power present and voting at any general meeting of shareholders, as the Company has conducted itself to date; 

  (f) providing that certain related party transactions may be approved by committees of the Board if so authorized by the Board; and 

  (g) implementing certain other non-substantive changes to the Articles, including correcting certain linguistic inconsistencies and ambiguities. 
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ITEM NO. 2 

APPROVAL OF COMPENSATION POLICY 
  

Pursuant to a recent amendment to the Companies Law, which became effective on December 12, 2012 ("Amendment 20"), public companies are required to adopt a compensation policy by 
September 2013, which sets forth company policy regarding the terms of office and employment of Office Holders, including exemption of the Office Holder from liability for breach of his or her duty of 
care to the company, an undertaking to indemnify the Office Holder, post factum indemnification or insurance, any grant, payment, remuneration, compensation, or other benefit provided in connection 
with termination of service, and any benefit, other payment or undertaking to provide any payment as aforesaid ("Terms of Office and Employment"). 

  
The compensation policy must be based on, and must include and reference certain matters and provisions set forth in the Companies Law, which include: (i) promoting the company’s goals, work 

plan and policy with a long-term view; (ii) creating appropriate incentives for the company’s Office Holders, considering, among other things, the company’s risk management policy; (iii) the company’s 
size and nature of its operations; and (iv) with respect to variable elements of compensation (such as annual cash bonuses), the Office Holder’s contribution to achieving the company's objectives and 
maximization of the company’s profits, with a long-term view and in accordance with his or her position. 

  
The compensation policy must be approved by the board of directors, after considering the recommendations of the compensation committee. The compensation policy also requires approval by 

the shareholders by the Compensation Majority. 
  
To the extent not approved by the shareholders, the compensation committee and the board of directors may override the resolution of the shareholders following a re-discussion of the matter and 

for specified reasons. 
  
The term of the Compensation Policy (as defined below) being brought for approval at the Meeting is not limited. However, pursuant to the Companies Law as currently in effect, a compensation 

policy that is for a period of more than three years, generally needs to be brought for approval in accordance with the above procedure every three years. 
  
Following the recommendation of the Compensation Committee, the Board approved, and recommends that shareholders approve, the proposed Compensation Policy for Directors and Officers, in 

the form attached to this proxy statement as Exhibit B (the "Compensation Policy"). 
  
When considering the proposed Compensation Policy, the Compensation Committee and the Board considered numerous factors, including the relevant matters and provisions set forth in the 

Companies Law, and reviewed various data and information they deemed relevant, with the advice and assistance of legal and compensation advisors. 
  

It is proposed that the following resolution be adopted at the Meeting: 
  

“RESOLVED, to approve the proposed Compensation Policy, in the form attached as Exhibit B to the Company's Proxy Statement for its September 2013 Special General Meeting of Shareholders.” 
  
The approval of the above resolution requires approval by the Compensation Majority. 

 
The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote "FOR" the proposed resolution. 
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ITEM NO. 3 

DIRECTORS' REMUNERATION; INSURANCE, EXEMPTION AND  
INDEMNIFICATION OF DIRECTORS AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

  
Directors’ Remuneration under the Companies Law 

  
Prior to Amendment 20, arrangements with respect to the Terms of Office and Employment of Office Holders required the approval of a public company's audit committee and board of directors and, 

with respect to the Terms of Office and Employment of directors, also the approval of the shareholders, generally by a simple majority. Following the adoption of Amendment 20, public companies are 
required to appoint a compensation committee that replaces the audit committee with respect to the approval of these matters. 

  
Pursuant to Amendment 20, any arrangement between a public company and an Office Holder of the company as to such Office Holder’s Terms of Office and Employment, now generally requires 

the approval of the company’s compensation committee and board of directors and, with respect to directors, also the company’s shareholders. 
  
In addition, pursuant to Amendment 20, the Terms of Office and Employment of an Office Holder must generally be consistent with the Compensation Policy. See Item 2 above. To the extent the 

Terms of Office and Employment of directors are consistent with the Compensation Policy, they require shareholder approval by a simple majority and, to the extent they are not consistent with the 
Compensation Policy, they would require shareholder approval by the Compensation Majority.  

  
External directors may receive compensation solely as provided for in the regulations promulgated pursuant to the Companies Law governing the terms of compensation payable to external 

directors (the “Compensation Regulations”). 
  
Ordinarily, the compensation of external directors may not be changed during their term of office as directors. However, if their compensation is determined relative to that of 'other directors', as 

such term is defined in the Compensation Regulations, as is the case with respect to the Company's external directors, then in the event of an increase in the compensation payable to such other directors, 
the compensation payable to the external directors will also automatically be increased so as to equal the average compensation payable to such other directors on an annual or per meeting basis. 
  

Non-Management Directors' Remuneration                     
  

The Company’s Audit Committee, Board and shareholders have previously approved the compensation for each of the Company’s non-management directors and the Company's Compensation 
Committee, Board and shareholders have previously approved the compensation of the Company's external directors as equivalent and relative to the compensation payable to the other non-management 
directors. 

  
In light of Amendment 20 and in the course of formulating the Compensation Policy, the Compensation Committee and the Board have reviewed the current compensation of the Company's non-

management directors and have ratified and approved and are recommending that the shareholders ratify and approve, certain changes thereto. These changes are consistent with the proposed 
Compensation Policy and provide that the annual fee and the per meeting fees will be denominated in New Israeli Shekel and linked to the Israeli Consumer Price Index as provided for in the Compensation 
Regulations, that the annual fee be not less than the Minimum Amount (as such term is defined in the Compensation Regulations) that must be paid to external directors of the Company in accordance 
with the Compensation Regulations and that the method of calculation of the per meeting fees and the mechanism for payment of the annual and per meeting fees will be in accordance with the 
Compensation Regulations. 
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Accordingly, the shareholders are being asked to ratify and approve the following compensation as of April 22, 2013, the date of the Company’s 2013 Annual General Meeting (the "2013 AGM"), 

the date on which the Company’s directors were lost appointed, for each of the Company’s current directors and for each additional or other director who may be appointed from time to time in the future 
and who is not, or who ceases to be, an employee of the Company and who does not, or ceases to, hold a management position with the Company or provide services to the Company in addition to his or 
her office as a director (each a "non-management director"): 

  
(i) an annual fee of NIS 36,452 (equal to $10,134 at the representative rate of exchange on July 15, 2013, the date the Board meeting approving these matters was held, of $1.00 = NIS 3.597), and an 

additional annual amount of NIS 17,985 (equal to $5,000 at the representative rate of exchange on July 15, 2013 of $1.00 = NIS 3.597) to be paid to non-management directors who serve on one or more 
committees of the Board (the “Annual Fees”). The above amount of NIS 36,452 was the annual Minimum Amount that must be paid, as of the date of the 2013 AGM and as of the date of this Proxy 
Statement, to external directors of the Company in accordance with the Compensation Regulations and, at the above exchange rate, reflects an annual increase of $134 over the amount previously 
approved by the shareholders; 
  

(ii) a per meeting fee of NIS 3,597 (equal to $1,000 at the representative rate of exchange on July 15, 2013 of $1.00 = NIS 3.597) for participation in any Board and/or committee meetings (the 
"Participation Compensation"), provided that (1) if such participation is by means of communication pursuant to Section 101 of the Companies Law, then such “per meeting” fee shall be 60% of the 
Participation Compensation; (2) in the event a resolution is adopted by the Board without a meeting pursuant to Section 103 of the Companies Law, then  such “per meeting” fee shall be 50% of the 
Participation Compensation; 

  
(iii) the Annual Fees and the Participation Compensation will be adjusted bi-annually to reflect changes in the Israeli Consumer Price Index in the manner provided in the Compensation Regulations; 
  
(iv) the Annual Fees shall be paid in four equal installments, and the Participation Compensation shall be remitted to such directors on a quarterly basis, in each case at the beginning of each 

calendar quarter with respect to the previous quarter, all as provided for in the Compensation Regulations; and 
  
(v) a grant of options to purchase 10,000 of the Company’s Ordinary Shares on July 31 of each calendar year (including on July 31, 2013) to each non-management director then serving on the 

Board, at an exercise price equal to the closing price on the date of such grant on the principal securities exchange on which the Company's shares are then traded and subject (other than as described 
herein) to the terms and conditions of the Company’s 2010 Share Incentive Plan (the “2010 Plan”) or any other equity-based incentive plan the Company may adopt in the future and pursuant to which 
these equity awards would be granted. 3,333 of such options will vest on each of the first two anniversary dates of such grant and 3,334 on the third anniversary date. Notwithstanding the terms of the 
relevant plan, all options granted, to non-management directors shall be fully vested immediately upon the completion of one or more of the following events, whether by way of a consolidation, merger or 
reorganization of the Company or otherwise: (a) a sale of all or substantially all of Company’s issued share capital or assets to any other company, entity, person or a group of persons, or (b) the 
acquisition of more than 50% of Company’s equity or voting power by any shareholder or group of shareholders. Notwithstanding the terms of the relevant plan, all options granted which shall be vested 
as of the date of final termination of office as a non-management director of the Company, may be exercised within one year following such termination of office. To the extent legally available and 
applicable, such equity-based awards will be granted to the non-management directors through a trustee under Section 102 of the Israel Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 5721-1961 (the "ITO"), under 
the capital gains route. 

  
VAT will be added to the above compensation in accordance with applicable law. 
  
External Directors' Remuneration 
  
As discussed above, the Company’s Compensation Committee, Board and shareholders, at the 2013 AGM, have previously approved, in accordance with the Companies Law and the 

Compensation Regulations, that each of the external directors shall be entitled to receive fees in connection with their service as external directors and their participation in Board meetings as well as 
meetings of committees of the Board equivalent to the compensation payable to other non-management directors, and shall also be eligible to receive options to purchase Ordinary Shares on an annual 
basis equal to the number of Ordinary Shares subject to the options being granted to each non-management director on terms substantially similar to those described above, provided however that the 
compensation paid to the Company's external directors shall be no less than the Minimum Amount (as such term is defined in the Compensation Regulations) that must be paid to external directors of the 
Company in accordance with the Compensation Regulations (as of the date of the 2013 AGM and as of the date of this Proxy Statement, the annual and per meeting Minimum Amount that must be paid to 
the Company's external directors is NIS 36,452 and NIS 1,828 respectively (approximately $10,134 and $508, respectively, according to the US Dollar-NIS representative exchange rate on July 15, 2013 of 
$1.00=NIS 3.597). According to the Compensation Regulations, the Minimum Amounts are adjusted twice annually based on the Israeli Consumer Price Index and are a function of the Company's 
shareholders' equity).  
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In addition, the Company's Compensation Committee, Board and shareholders, at the 2013 AGM, have previously resolved, in accordance with the Companies Law and the Compensation 

Regulations, that in the event that, during their term as external directors, the Company increases the remuneration payable, whether the annual payment or the participation compensation, to any ‘other 
directors’, as such term is defined in the Compensation Regulations, or grants additional options to purchase Ordinary Shares or other stock-based remuneration to ‘other directors’, each external director 
will be entitled, without further approval, to receive additional remuneration, if necessary, so that his or her annual compensation and/or compensation for participation in meetings, as the case may be, 
will be equivalent to the average compensation payable to such ‘other directors’ as annual payment or as participation compensation, respectively, or be granted additional options to purchase such 
number of additional Ordinary Shares as is equal to the average number of additional Ordinary Shares subject to the options being granted to such ‘other directors’ and on substantially similar terms, or 
receive such other stock-based remuneration required in order to align their compensation with the average compensation payable, including average stock-based remuneration awarded, to ‘other 
directors’, as applicable. 

  
Accordingly, upon approval of the above compensation for the Company's non-management directors, the compensation of the external directors of the Company will, to the extent such 

compensation exceeds the compensation previously approved for the external directors, automatically be changed in order to equal that of the other non-management directors as described above. 
  

Insurance , Exemption and Indemnification of Directors and the Chief Executive Officer  
  
Under the Companies Law, procurement of insurance coverage for an Office Holder of the company, the indemnification of an Office Holder and the exemption of an Office Holder from liability for 

breach of his or her duty of care to a company form part of the Terms of Office and Employment of an Office Holder and require the approval of the company's compensation committee and board of 
directors, and, if the Office Holder is a director or chief executive officer, the approval of the company's shareholders. See also the discussion above in this Item 3 under the heading 'Directors 
Remuneration under the Companies Law' with respect to compliance with the Compensation Policy. 

  
The shareholders have previously approved the procurement of certain insurance coverage with respect to the Company's Office Holders, including its directors (including external directors) and 

chief executive officer that would provide for up to $15 million in coverage. 
  
In light of Amendment 20, and in the course of formulating the Compensation Policy, the Compensation Committee and the Board have reviewed the directors' and officers' insurance coverage and 

have resolved to approve, and recommend to the shareholders to approve, the purchase and periodic renewal at the Company's expense, without the need for any further act or approval, of insurance 
coverage with respect to the liability of its current Office Holders, including its directors and chief executive officer and of any additional or other Office Holders, including any directors or any chief 
executive officer who may be appointed from time to time in the future, including external directors, to the maximum extent permitted by law, that will provide for up to $15 million in coverage and which will 
include coverage with respect to any public offering of shares or other securities of the Company. It is also proposed that each of the chairman of the Board and the chief executive officer of the Company, 
as shall be in office from time to time, and/or any person designated by him or her, shall have the authority to obtain, renew and keep in force such insurance. 
  

Additionally, in the course of formulating the Compensation Policy the Compensation Committee and the Board have determined, that in order to help ensure the Company's  continued ability to 
attract and retain highly qualified directors and highly qualified individuals to serve as chief executive officer, that it would be appropriate as is customary in the United State and in Israel, to exempt and 
release the current directors and chief executive officer of the Company and any additional or other directors or chief executive officer(s) who may be appointed from time to time in the future, without the 
need for any further act or approval, including external directors, from liability for breach of his or her duty of care to the Company and to undertake in advance to indemnify them for certain matters, costs 
and expenses, all as set forth in the form of Indemnification Undertaking and Exemption and Release attached hereto as Exhibit C (the "Letter of Indemnification and Exemption"). 

  
Under the proposed Letter of Indemnification and Exemption, the Company's undertaking to indemnify any director or chief executive officer for monetary liabilities or obligations imposed on him or 

her by a court judgment (including a settlement or an arbitrator's award approved by a court), shall (i) be limited to matters that are connected or otherwise related to those events or circumstances set 
forth in Schedule A thereto; and shall (ii) not exceed US$5 million in the aggregate for all Office Holders to whom the Company will have approved and granted in advance such indemnification 
undertaking. The Board has determined, in accordance with Israeli law, that such maximum amount is reasonable under the circumstances and that the events and circumstances specified in said Schedule 
A are foreseeable in light of the Company's activities as of the date of this Proxy Statement. 
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The proposed insurance coverage and the proposed Letter of Indemnification and Exemption are consistent with the proposed Compensation Policy. 
  
In order to provide for the indemnification for all matters set forth in the Letters of Indemnification in the form attached hereto as Exhibit C, the Articles of Association must be amended. Such 

amendment is proposed in Item 1 above. 
  

It is proposed that the following resolutions be adopted at the Meeting: 
  

“RESOLVED: 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  (a)  to ratify and approve the remuneration to be provided to the non-management directors  of the Company as described above; and 

  (b)  to ratify and approve the purchase and the periodic renewal, at the expense of the Company, without the need for further act or approval, of insurance coverage in respect of the liability of the 
Company's Office Holders (as such term is defined in the Israel Company Law, 5759-1999), including its directors and its chief executive officer currently in office, and any additional or other 
Office Holders, including directors or chief executive officer(s) as may be appointed from time to time in the future, including external directors, to the maximum extent permitted by law, that will 
provide for up to $15 million in coverage and will include coverage with respect to any public offering of shares or other securities of the Company and that each of the chairman of the 
Company's board of directors and the chief executive officer of the Company as shall be in office from time to time and/or any person designated by him or her, be, and each of them hereby is, 
authorized to obtain, renew and keep in force and effect such insurance; and 

  (c)  to exempt and release to the maximum extent permitted by law all directors of the Company and the chief executive officer of the Company currently in office, and any additional or other 
directors and chief executive officer(s) as may be appointed from time to time in the future, including external directors, without the need for further act or approval, from and against all liability 
for monetary or other damages due to, or arising or resulting from, a breach of their duty of care to the Company, including, with respect to directors, in their capacity as officers of the 
Company to the extent they also serve as officers of the Company, including with respect to any such breach in their capacity as Office Holders of the Company which occurred prior to the 
date hereof; and 

  (d)  that the Company undertake to indemnify all directors and the chief executive officer of the Company currently in office, and any additional or other directors and chief executive officer(s) as 
may be appointed from time to time in the future, including external directors, without the need for further act or approval, to the extent, for such matters, costs and expenses and as set forth in 
the form of Indemnification Undertaking and Exemption and Release attached as Exhibit C to the Company's Proxy Statement for its September 2013 Special General Meeting of Shareholders, 
including with respect to any acts or omissions made in their capacity as Office Holders prior to the date hereof, all subject to and as set forth in said Exhibit C; and 

  (e)  to issue letters of indemnification and exemption to all directors and the chief executive officer of the Company currently in office, and to any additional or other directors and chief executive 
officer(s) as may be appointed from time to time in the future, including external directors, without the need for further act or approval, in the form of Exhibit C to the Company's Proxy Statement 
for its September 2013 Special General Meeting of Shareholders, and that each of the chairman of the Company's board of directors and the chief executive officer of the Company  as shall be in 
office from time to time and/or any person designated by him or her, be, and each of them hereby is, authorized to execute and deliver any such letters of indemnification and exemption in the 
name of the Company and on its behalf." 
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The proposal to ratify and approve the remuneration for directors (proposal (a) above) will be voted on separately. 

  
The approval of the above resolutions requires approval by the Compensation Majority. However, if the Compensation Policy, as described in Item 2 above, is approved at the Meeting, the 

affirmative vote of a simple majority of the voting power of the Company represented at the Meeting in person or by proxy and voting thereon will be sufficient to approve the directors' remuneration and 
the insurance for directors and other Office Holders, other than the chief executive officer, and to approve the exemption and indemnification for directors as set forth above. 
 

The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote “FOR” the proposed resolutions. 
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ITEM NO. 4 

GRANT OF STOCK OPTIONS TO THE CHAIRMAN OF THE BOARD OF  
DIRECTORS AND TO OUR CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

  
As discussed above, pursuant to Amendment 20, any arrangement between a public company and a director of the company or the chief executive officer of the company, as to such director's or 

chief executive officer's Terms of Office and Employment, including any grant of stock options, requires the approval of the company’s compensation committee, board of directors and shareholders. See 
Items 2 and 3 above. 

  
Grant of Stock Options to the Chairman of the Board of Directors 
  
Mr. Martin Gerstel has an employment agreement with the Company dated March 1, 2010, pursuant to which he serves as Active Chairman of the Board (for more information please review the 

Company's recent Annual Report on Form 20-F for the year ended December 31, 2013, which was filed with the U.S. Securities and Exchange Commission on March 22, 2013 and is available on the 
Investors section of the Company's website at www.cgen.com). The terms of Mr. Martin Gerstel's employment and service were approved by the Audit Committee, Board and shareholders prior to the 
effective date of Amendment 20. Any change to such terms will be subject to the approval process and other conditions set forth in Amendment 20. 

  
Under  Mr. Gerstel's employment agreement, he is entitled to a gross monthly salary of NIS 42,000 (approximately $11,670) which will remain at NIS 42,000 regardless of exchange rate fluctuations 

and to certain other employment terms customary under Israeli law. Mr. Gerstel's employment agreement may be terminated by either party by providing 90 days prior written notice. 
  
Mr. Gerstel also currently holds options to purchase a total of 687,500 Ordinary Shares, of which (i) options to purchase 562,498 shares, with a weighted average exercise price of $1.00 per share, 

were exercisable on July 25, 2013; and (ii) options to purchase 125,002 shares, with a weighted average exercise price of $4.51 per share, had not vested as of July 25, 2013. Of the unvested options at July 
25, 2013, options to purchase 62,502  shares are expected to vest by December 31, 2013 and options to purchase the remaining 62,500 shares are expected to vest during 2014. 
  

The options to purchase the 62,500 shares that vest during 2014 were approved by our shareholders on July 3, 2012. 
  
Mr. Gerstel is not currently entitled to receive the fees and equity-based compensation payable to our non-management directors discussed in Item 3 above. However, in the event of termination of 

Mr. Gerstel's employment agreement, he will be entitled to receive the remuneration discussed in Item 3 above to the extent and for as long as he will serve as a non-management director of the Company. 
  
The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors, have approved and are recommending that the shareholders approve the grant to Mr. Gerstel, in his role as Active Chairman, options to 

purchase an additional 60,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company at an exercise price of $5.445 per share (which was the fair market value when approved by the Board on July 15, 2013). These options will 
be granted and otherwise be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to options granted under the Company's 2010 Share Incentive Plan (the "2010 Plan") except that the options shall vest on an 
equal monthly basis during 2016, in such manner that, 1/12 of the options shall vest on the last day of each month during 2016. These options will expire on September 10, 2023, unless they expire earlier in 
accordance with the terms of the 2010 Plan. 

  
These options will be granted through a trustee under Section 102 of the ITO and, in accordance with the Company's previous election in this regard, be subject to the capital gains route for tax 

purposes. 
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The Company views the date of approval of the grant by the Board as the date of grant for purposes of determining the value of an award for purposes of the proposed Compensation Policy 

notwithstanding that shareholder approval may be required for certain grants, such as to the chairman of the Board or to the chief executive officer. As of such date, the value of the proposed award to 
Mr. Gerstel, calculated in accordance with the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was $180,996 and was consistent with the proposed Compensation Policy. 
  

Grant of Stock Options to the Chief Executive Officer of the Company 
  
Dr. Anat Cohen-Dayag has an employment agreement with the Company dated September 2, 2002 (as amended from time to time), pursuant to which she currently serves as the chief executive 

officer of the Company. The terms of Dr. Anat Cohen-Dayag's employment and service were approved by the Audit Committee and the Board prior to the effective date of Amendment 20. Any change to 
such terms will be subject to the approval process and other conditions set forth in Amendment 20. 

  
Under  Dr. Cohen-Dayag's employment agreement, (as amended) she is entitled to a gross monthly salary of NIS 82,500 (approximately $22,930) adjusted from time to time, in accordance with 

periodic cost of living increases (“Tosefet Yoker”), and to certain other employment terms customary under Israeli law. Dr. Cohen-Dayag's employment agreement may be terminated by either party by 
providing 4 months prior written notice. 

  
Dr. Cohen-Dayag also currently holds options to purchase a total of 972,771 shares, of which: (i) options to purchase 665,269 shares, with a weighted average exercise price of $2.66 per share, were 

exercisable on July 25, 2013; and (ii) options to purchase 307,502 shares, with a weighted average exercise price of $3.81 per share, had not vested as of July 25, 2013. Of the unvested options at July 25, 
2013, options to purchase 62,502 shares are expected to vest by December 31, 2013, options to purchase 125,000 shares are expected to vest during 2014 and options to purchase the remaining 120,000 
shares are expected to vest during 2015. 
  

The options to purchase the 120,000 shares that vest during 2015  were granted on August 6, 2012. 
  
The Compensation Committee and the Board of Directors, have approved and are recommending that the shareholders approve the grant to Dr. Anat Cohen-Dayag, in her role as the chief executive 

officer of the Company, options to purchase an additional 120,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company at an exercise price of $5.445 per share (which was the fair market value when approved by the Board on 
July 15, 2013). These options will be granted and otherwise be subject to the terms and conditions applicable to options granted under the 2010 Plan except that the options shall vest on an equal monthly 
basis during 2016, in such manner that, 1/12 of the options shall vest on the last day of each month during 2016. These options will expire on September 10, 2023, unless they expire earlier in accordance 
with the terms of the 2010 Plan. 

  
These options will be granted through a trustee under Section 102 of the ITO and, in accordance with the Company's previous election in this regard, be subject to the capital gains route for tax 

purposes. 
  
As of the date of approval of the above grant by the Board, the value of the proposed award to Dr. Anat Cohen-Dayag, calculated in accordance with the Black-Scholes option pricing model, was 

$361,992 and was consistent with the proposed Compensation Policy. 
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It is proposed that the following resolutions be adopted at the Meeting: 
  
“RESOLVED: 

  

  

  
The approval of the above resolutions requires approval by the Compensation Majority. However, if the Compensation Policy, as described in Item 2 above, is approved at the Meeting, the 

affirmative vote of a simple majority of the voting power of the Company represented at the Meeting in person or by proxy and voting thereon will be sufficient to approve the grant of options to Mr. 
Martin Gerstel as set forth above. 
  

The Board of Directors recommends that the shareholders vote “FOR” the approval of the proposed resolutions. 
  

OTHER BUSINESS 
  

Other than as set forth above, management knows of no business to be transacted at the Meeting; but, if any other matters are properly presented at the Meeting, Ordinary Shares represented by 
executed and unrevoked proxies will be voted by the persons named in the enclosed form of proxy upon such matters in accordance with their best judgment. 
  

  

  

  (a)  to grant to Mr. Martin Gerstel, the Company’s Chairman of the Board of Directors options to purchase 60,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company at an exercise price of $5.445 per share; and 

  (b)  to grant to Dr. Anat Cohen-Dayag, the Company’s current chief executive officer options to purchase 120,000 Ordinary Shares of the Company at an exercise price of $5.445 per share.” 

 

By Order of the Board of Directors, 
  
/S/ Martin S. Gerstel 
 
Martin S. Gerstel 
Chairman of the Board 
Tel Aviv, Israel 
August 2, 2013 
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Exhibit A 

  
AMENDED AND RESTATED 
ARTICLES OF ASSOCIATION 

OF COMPUGEN LTD. 
("Articles") 

  
PRELIMINARY 

  

  
The name of the Company is "Compugen Ltd." (the "Company"). 

  

 
The purpose of the Company is to engage in any lawful act or activity for which companies may be organized under the Israeli Companies Law, 1999 (the "Companies Law"). 

 

  

  

  

  

 
The liability of each shareholder for the Company's obligations is limited to the unpaid sum, if any, owing to the Company in consideration for the issuance of the shares held by such 
shareholder. 

 
SHARE CAPITAL 

  

  
The share capital of the Company is NIS 1,000,000 (one million New Israeli Shekels) divided into 100,000,000 (one hundred million) Ordinary Shares of a nominal value of NIS 0.01 each (the 
"Ordinary Shares”)." 

  

  
The Ordinary Shares of the Company confer on the holders thereof rights to receive notice of, in respect of which all calls have been fully paid shall confer on their holders the right to attend, and 
vote in meetings of the shareholders, and to vote at, General Meetings (as defined in Article 26(a) below).  Subject to the rights of holders of shares with limited or preferred rights, Ordinary 
Shares shall confer upon the holders thereof equal rights to receive dividends, rights and to receive aparticipate in the distribution of the assets upon liquidation and certain other rights all as are 
specified in these Articlesof the Company upon its winding-up, in proportion to the amount paid up or credited as paid up on account of the nominal value of the shares held by them 
respectively and in respect of which such dividends are being paid or such distribution is being made, without regard to any premium paid in excess of the nominal value, if any. 
  

  

1.  Company Name

2.  Purpose 

3.  Interpretation 

  (a)  Unless the subject or the context otherwise requires:  (i) words and expressions defined in the Companies Law in force on the date when these Articles or any amendment thereto, as the 
case may be, first became effective shall have the same meanings defined therein; (ii) words and expressions importing the singular shall include the plural and vice versa; (iii) words and 
expressions importing the masculine gender shall include the feminine gender; and (iv) words and expressions importing persons shall include bodies corporate bodies. 

  (b)  The captions in these Articles are for convenience only and shall not be deemed a part hereof or affect the construction of any provision hereof. 

  c)  The specific provisions of these Articles shall supercede the provisions of the Companies Law to the extent permitted under the Companies Law.  With respect to any matter that is not 
specifically addressed in these Articles, the provisions of the Companies Law shall govern. 

4.  Limitation of Liability 

5.  Authorized Share Capital 

6.  Ordinary Shares 

  
  



  

  
The Company may, from time to time, increase its share capital by the creation of new shares.  Any such increase shall be in such amount and shall be divided into shares of such nominal 
amounts, and such shares shall confer such rights and preferences, and shall be subject to such restrictions, as the resolution approving the creation of such shares shall provide.  Except to the 
extent otherwise provided in the resolution creating such new shares, such new shares shall be subject to all the provisions applicable to the shares of the original capital. 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

7.  Increase of Share Capital 

8.  Special Rights; Modifications of Rights 

  (a)  The Company may, from time to time, provide for shares with such preferred or deferred rights or rights of redemption or other special rights and/or such restrictions, whether in regard 
to dividends, voting, repayment of share capital or otherwise, as may be stipulated in the resolution pursuant to which such shares are created. 

  (b)  (i)             If at any time the share capital is divided into different classes of shares, the rights attached to any class, unless otherwise provided by these Articles, may be modified or 
abrogated by the Company, subject to the consent in writing of, or sanction of a resolution passed by, the holders of a majority of the issued shares of such class at a separate General 
Meetinggeneral meeting of the holders of the shares of such class. 
  
(ii)            The provisions of these Articles relating to General Meetings shall, mutatis mutandis, apply to any separate General Meetinggeneral meeting of the holders of the shares of a 
particular class; provided, however, that the requisite quorum at any such separate General Meetinggeneral meeting shall be two or more shareholders present in person or proxy and 
holding not less than thirty-three and a third percent (331/3%) of the issued shares of such class. 
  
(iii)           Unless otherwise provided by these Articles, the enlargement of an existing class of shares, or the issuance of additional shares thereof, or the creation of a new class of shares 
identical to an existing class of shares in all respects shall not be deemed, for purposes of this Article 8(b), to modify or abrogate the rights attached to the previously issued shares of 
such class or of any other class. 

9. Consolidation, Subdivision, Cancellation and Reduction of Share Capital 

  (a)  The Company may, from time to time (subject, however, to the provisions of Article 8(b) hereof and to applicable law): 

  (i)  consolidate and divide all or any or all of its issued or unissued share capital into shares of larger nominal value than its existing shares; 

  (ii)  subdivide its shares (issued or unissued) or any of them, into shares of smaller nominal value than is fixed by these Articles (subject, however, to the provisions of the 
Companies Law), and the resolution whereby any share is subdivided may determine that, as among the holders of the shares resulting from such subdivision, one or more of 
the shares may, as compared with the others, have any such preferred or deferred rights or rights of redemption or other special rights, or be subject to any such restrictions, as 
the Company has power to attach to unissued or new shares; 

  (iii)  cancel any shares, which, at the date of the adoption of such resolution have not been taken or agreed to be taken by any person, and diminish the amount of its share capital 
by the amount of the shares so cancelled; or 

  (iv)  reduce its share capital in any manner, subject to any authorization or consent required, by law. 
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SHARES 

  

  

  

  

  

  
11.           Registered Holder 
  

Except as otherwise provided in these Articles, the Company shall be entitled to treat the registered holder of any share as the absolute owner thereof, and, accordingly, shall not, except as 
ordered by a court of competent jurisdiction, or as required by statute, be bound to recognize any equitable or other claim to, or interest in such share on the part of any other person and the 
Company shall not be bound by or required to recognize any equitable, contingent, future or partial interest in any shares or any right whatsoever in respect of any shares other than an absolute 
right in the entirety thereof to the registered holder. 

 
12.           Allotment of Shares 
  

The authorized and unissued shares shall be under the control of the Board of Directors, who shall have the power to allot shares or otherwise dispose of them to such persons, on such terms 
and conditions, and at such times, as the Board of Directors may thinkdeem fit, and the power to give to any person the option to acquire from the Company any shares, during such time and for 
such consideration as the Board of Directors may thinkdeem fit. 
  

  

  (b)  With respect to any consolidation of issued shares into shares of larger nominal value, and with respect to any other action which may result in fractional shares, theboard of directors 
of the Company (the "Board" or the "Board of Directors") may settle any difficulty which may arise with regard thereto, as it deems fit, including, inter alia, resort to one or more of the 
following actions: 

  (i)  determine, as to the holder of shares so consolidated, which issued shares shall be consolidated into each share of larger nominal value; 

  (ii)  allot, in contemplation of or subsequent to such consolidation or other action, such shares or fractional shares sufficient to preclude or remove fractional share holdings; 

  (iii)  redeem, in the case of redeemable preference shares, and subject to applicable law, such shares or fractional shares sufficient to preclude or remove fractional share holdings; 

  (iv)  cause the transfer of fractional shares by certain shareholders of the Company to other shareholders thereof so as to most expediently preclude or remove any fractional 
shareholdings, and cause the transferees to pay the transferors the fair value of fractional shares so transferred, and the Board of Directors is hereby authorized to act as agent 
for the transferors and transferees with power of substitution for purposes of implementing the provisions of this sub-Article 9(b)(iv). 

10.  Issuance of Share Certificates; Replacement of Lost Certificates 

  (a)  Share certificates shall bear the stamp or seal of the Company and shall bear the manual or facsimile signature of a member of the Board of Directors (a "Director") and/ or of any other 
person or persons authorized thereto by the Board of Directors. In the event that any Director or such other authorized person who has signed or whose facsimile signature has been 
placed upon a certificate shall have ceased to be such Director or authorized person before such certificate is issued, it may be issued by the Company with the same effect as if it were 
such Director or authorized person at the date of issue. 

  (b)  Each shareholder shall be entitled to one numbered certificate for all the shares of any class registered in his name, and if the Board of Directors so approves, to several certificates, each 
for one or more of such shares. 

  (c)  A share certificate registered in the names of two or more persons shall be delivered to the person first named in the Share Register (as defined in Article 24(a) below) in respect of such 
co-ownership and such delivery shall be deemed sufficient delivery to all co-owners. The Company shall not be obligated to issue more than one share certificate to the joint holders. 

  (d)  If a share certificate is defaced, lost or destroyed, it may be replaced, upon payment of such fee, and upon the furnishing of such evidence of ownership and such indemnity, as the 
Board of Directorsmay thinkdeem fit. 
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13.           Payment in Installments 
  

If by the terms of allotment of any share, the whole or any part of the price thereof shall be payable in installments, every such installment shall, when due, be paid to the Company by the then 
registered holder(s) of the share ofor the person(s) entitled thereto. 

 
 14.          Calls on Shares 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
With the approval of the Board of Directors, any shareholder may pay to the Company any amount not yet payable in respect of such shareholder's shares, and the Board of Directors may 
approve the payment of interest on any such amount until the same would be payable if it had not been paid in advance, at such rate and time(s) as may be approved by the Board of 
Directors.  The Board of Directors may at any time cause the Company to repay all or any part of the money so advanced, without premium or penalty.  Nothing in this Article 15 shall derogate 
from the right of the Board of Directors to make any call before or after receipt by the Company of any such advance. 
  

  

  (a)  The Board of Directors may, from time to time, make such calls as it may think appropriate upon shareholders in respect of any sum unpaid in respect of shares held by such 
shareholders which is not, by the terms of allotment thereof or otherwise, payable at a fixed time, and each shareholder shall pay the amount of every call so made upon him (and of each 
installment thereof if the same is payable in installments), to the person(s) and at the time(s) and place(s) designated by the Board of Directors, as any such time(s) may be thereafter 
extended and/or such person(s) or place(s) changed.  Unless otherwise stipulated in the resolution of the Board of Directors (and in the notice hereafter referred to), each payment in 
response to a call shall be deemed to constitute a pro rata payment on account of all shares in respect of which such call was made. 

  (b)  Notice of any call shall be given in writing to the shareholder(s) in question not less than fourteen (14) days prior to the time of payment, specifying the time and place of payment, and 
designating the person to whom such payment shall be made; provided, however, that before the time for any such payment, the Board of Directors may, by notice in writing to such 
shareholder(s), revoke such call in whole or in part, extend such time, or alter such person and/or place.  In the event of a call payable in installments, only one notice thereof need be 
given. 

  (c)  If, by the terms of allotment of any share or otherwise, any amount is made payable at any fixed time, every such amount shall be payable at such time as if it were a call duly made by the 
Board of Directors and of which due notice had been given, and all the provisions herein contained with respect to such calls shall apply to each such amount. 

  (d)  The joint holders of a share shall be jointly and severally liable to pay all calls in respect thereof and all interest payable thereon. 

  (e)  Any amount unpaid in respect of a call shall bear interest from the date on which it is payable until actual payment thereof, at such rate (not exceeding the then prevailing debitory rate 
charged by leading commercial banks in Israel), and at such time(s) as the Board of Directors may prescribe. The Board of Directors shall, however, be at liberty to waive the payment of 
interest, wholly or in part.  No shareholder shall be entitled to receive any dividend or to exercise any privileges as a shareholder until they have paid all calls for the time being due and 
payable on every share held by them whether alone or jointly with any other person along with interest and expenses, if any. 

  (f)  Upon the allotment of shares, the Board of Directors may provide for differences among the allottees of such shares as to the amount of calls and/or the times of payment thereof. 

15. Prepayment 
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16. Forfeiture and Surrender 

  (a) (a)           If any shareholder fails to pay any amount payable in respect of a call, or interest thereon as provided for herein, on or before the day fixed for payment of the same, the 
Company, by resolution of the Board of Directors, and subject to the provisions of Section 181 of the Companies Law, may at any time thereafter, so long as the said amount or interest 
remains unpaid, forfeit all or any of the shares in respect of which said call had been made.  Any expense incurred by the Company in attempting to collect any such amount or interest, 
including, inter alia, attorneys' fees and costs of legal suit, shall be added to, and shall, for all purposes (including the accrual of interest thereon), constitute a part of the amount payable 
to the Company in respect of such call. 

  (b) (b)          Upon the adoption of a resolution of forfeiture, the Board of Directors shall cause notice thereof to be given to such shareholder, which notice shall state that, in the event of 
the failure to pay the entire amount so payable within a period stipulated in the notice (which period shall not be less than fourteen (14) days and which may be extended by the Board of 
Directors), such shares shall be ipso facto forfeited, provided, however, that, prior to the expiration of such period, the Board of Directors may nullify such resolution of forfeiture, but no 
such nullification shall stop the Board of Directors from adopting a further resolution of forfeiture in respect of the non-payment of the same amount. 

  (c) (c)          Whenever shares are forfeited as herein provided, all dividends theretofore declared in respect thereof and not actually paid shall be deemed to have been forfeited at the same 
time. 

    
   (d)          The Company, by resolution of the Board of Directors, may accept the voluntary surrender of any share. 

  (e)  Any share forfeited or surrendered as provided herein shall become the property of the Company, and the same, subject to the provisions of these Articles, may be sold, re-allotted or 
otherwise disposed of as the Board of Directors thinks fit. 

  (f) Any shareholder whose shares have been forfeited or surrendered shall cease to be a shareholder in respect of the forfeited or surrendered shares, but shall, notwithstanding, be liable 
to pay, and shall forthwith pay, to the Company, all calls, interest and expenses owing upon or in respect of such shares at the time of forfeiture or surrender, together with interest 
thereon from the time of forfeiture or surrender until actual payment, at the rate prescribed in Article 14(e) above, and the Board of Directors, in its sole discretion, may enforce the 
payment of such moneys, or any part thereof, but shall not be under any obligation to do so.  In the event of such forfeiture or surrender, the Company, by resolution of the Board of 
Directors, may accelerate the date(s) of payment of any or all amounts then owing by the shareholder in question (but not yet due) in respect of all shares owned by such shareholder, 
solely or jointly with another, and in respect of any other matter or transaction whatsoever. 

  (g) The Board of Directors may at any time, before any share so forfeited or surrendered shall have been sold, re-allotted or otherwise disposed of, nullify the forfeiture or surrender on such 
conditions as it thinks fit, but no such nullification shall stop the Board of Directors from re-exercising its powers of forfeiture pursuant to this Article 16. 

17.  Lien 

  (a)) Except to the extent the same may be waived or subordinated in writing, the Company shall have a first and paramount lien upon all the shares registered in the name of each shareholder 
(without regard to any equitable or other claim or interest in such shares on the part of any other person), and upon the proceeds of the sale thereof, for such shareholders debts, liabilities 
and engagements arising from any cause whatsoever, solely or jointly with another, to or with the Company, whether the period for the payment, fulfillment or discharge thereof shall have 
actually arrived or not.  Such lien shall extend to all dividends from time to time declared in respect of such share.  Unless otherwise provided, the registration by the Company of a transfer of 
shares shall be deemed to be a waiver on the part of the Company of the lien (if any) existing on such shares immediately prior to such transfer. 
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Upon any sale of shares after forfeiture or surrender or for enforcing a lien, the Board of Directors may appoint a person to execute an instrument of transfer of the shares so sold and cause the 
purchaser's name to be entered in the Share Register in respect of such shares, and the purchaser shall not be bound to see to the regularity of the proceedings, or to the application of the 
purchase money, and after such purchaser's name has been entered in the Share Register in respect of such shares, the validity of the sale shall not be impeached by any person, and the remedy 
of any person aggrieved by the sale shall be in damages only and against the Company exclusively. 

  

 
The Company may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, issue redeemable shares and redeem the same upon such terms and conditions as determined by the Board of Directors. 

 
TRANSFER OF SHARES 

  

  
The shares of the CompanyAny transfer of shares of the Company which have not been fully paid-up will be subject to the approval of the Board of Directors. The Board of Directors may, at its 
sole discretion, refuse to approve a transfer of shares as aforesaid, without the need to provide reasoning for its decision. The shares of the Company, which have been fully paid-up are freely 
transferable.  No transfer of shares shall be registered or, if such approval is required, approved by the Board of Directors, unless a proper instrument of transfer (in form and substance 
satisfactory to the Board of Directors) has been submitted to the Company (or its transfer agent), together with the share certificate(s) (if such have been issued) and such other evidence of title 
as the Board of Directors may reasonably require.  Until the transferee has been registered in the Share Register in respect of the shares so transferred, the Company may continue to regard the 
transferor as the owner thereof.  The Board of Directors, may, from time to time, prescribe a reasonable fee for the registration of a transfer. 

  

 
The Board of Directors may, in its discretion to the extent it deems necessary, close the Shareholder Register for registrations of transfers of shares for a period determined by the Board of 
Directors, and no registrations of transfers of shares shall be made by the Company for the period during which the Shareholder Register is so closed. 

  

  
Notwithstanding any provision of these Articles to the contrary, in order to allow the Company to determine the shareholders entitled to notice of, or to vote at, any Annual or Special General 

Meeting or any adjournment thereof, or to express consent to or dissent from any corporate action in writing without a meeting, or entitled to receive payment of any dividend or other distribution or 
allotment of any rights, or entitled to exercise any rights in respect of, or to take or be the subject to, any other action, the Board of Directors may fix a record date, which shall not be more than forty (40) 
(or any longer period permitted under the Companies Law), nor less than four (4) days before the date of such meeting or other action. A determination of shareholders of record entitled to notice of or to 
vote at a meeting shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may fix a new record date for the adjourned meeting. No persons other than holders of 
record of shares of the Company as of such record date shall be entitled to notice of and to participate in and vote at such General Meeting, or to exercise such other right, as the case may be. 

  

  

  (b) The Board of Directors may cause the Company to sell any shares subject to such lien when any such debt, liability or engagement has matured, in such manner as the Board of 
Directors may think fit, but no such sale shall be made unless such debt, liability or engagement has not been satisfied within fourteen (14) days after written notice of the intention to 
sell shall have been served on such shareholder, or such shareholder's executors or administrators. 

  (c) (c)          The net proceeds of any such sale, after payment of the costs thereof, shall be applied in or toward satisfaction of the debts, liabilities or engagements of such shareholder 
(whether or not the same have matured), or any specific part of the same (as the Company may determine), and the residue (if any) shall be paid to the shareholder, such shareholder's 
executors, administrators or assigns. 

18. Sale after Forfeiture or Surrender or in Enforcement of Lien 

19. Redeemable Shares 

20. Effectiveness and Registration 

21. of Registration  

22. Record Date for Notices of General Meetings and Other Action 
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TRANSMISSION OF SHARES 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 
24.           Register of Shareholders 
 

 

 

 

 

 
For the purposes of these Articles the "Register" means the principal register of shareholders of the Company, to be kept in accordance with the Companies Law, and/or, if the 
Company shall have any additional or branch register(s), any such additional or branch register(s) as the case may be. 

  

  

23. 22. Decedents' Shares 

  (a)  In case of a share registered in the names of two or more holders, the Company may recognize the survivor(s) as the sole owner(s) thereof unless and until the provisions of Article 2322
(b) have been effectively invoked. 

  (b)  Any person becoming entitled to a share in consequence of the death of any person, upon producing evidence of the grant of probate or letters of administration or declaration of 
succession (or such other evidence as the Board of Directors may reasonably deem sufficient that he sustains the character in respect of which he proposes to act under this Article or 
of his title), shall be registered as a shareholder in respect of such share, or may, subject to the regulations as to transfer herein contained, transfer such share. 

24. 23. Receivers and Liquidators 

  (a)  The Company may recognize the receiver or liquidator of any corporate shareholder in winding-up or dissolution, or the receiver or trustee in bankruptcy of any shareholder, as being 
entitled to the shares registered in the name of such shareholder. 

  (b)  The receiver or liquidator of a corporate shareholder in winding-up or dissolution, or the receiver or trustee in bankruptcy of any shareholder, upon producing such evidence as the 
Board of Directors may deem sufficient that he sustains the character in respect of which he proposes to act under this Article or of his title, shall with the consent of the Board of 
Directors (which the Board of Directors may grant or refuse in its absolute discretion), be registered as a shareholder in respect of such shares, or may, subject to the regulations as to 
transfer herein contained, transfer such shares. 

  (a) The Company shall keep a Register (as defined in this Article 24(a)) in which it may record such information as may be deemed appropriate by the Board of Directors and/or as may be 
permitted by the Companies Law or these Articles.  In addition, the Company shall record in the Register the following information: 

  (i) The names and addresses of the shareholders, the number of shares held by each shareholder and the amount paid or the amount to be considered as paid on the shares of 
each shareholder; 

  (ii) The day each person was registered in the Register as a shareholder; 

  (iii) The amounts called, if any, that are due on the shares of each shareholder; and 

  (iv) Any other information required by the Companies Law or these Articles to be recorded in the Register. 
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GENERAL MEETINGS 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  
(a)          Not less than twenty-one (21) days' prior notice, or thirty-five (35) days' prior notice to the extent required under regulations promulgated under the Companies Law, shall be given of 

every General Meeting.  Each such notice shall specify the place and the day and hour of the meeting and the general nature of each item to be acted upon thereat, as well as any other information 
required by the Companies Law or any regulation promulgated thereunder, said notice to be given to all shareholders who will be entitled to attend and vote at such meeting and delivered or publicized in 
any manner permitted under the Companies Law.  Anything therein to the contrary notwithstanding, with the consent of all shareholders entitled to vote thereon, a resolution may be proposed and 
passed at such meeting although a lesser notice than hereinabove prescribed has been given. 

  

  

  (b) The principal register shall be kept at the registered office of the Company for the time being (the "Office") and, apart from the times the Register is closed in accordance with the 
provisions of the Companies Law or these Articles, shall be open to the inspection of any shareholder free of charge, and of any other person at such fee as the Company shall 
determine for each matter, during regular business hours. 

  (c) The Register may be closed for such period, if any, as the Board of Directors shall determine from time to time, on the condition that the Register shall not be closed for a period 
exceeding 30 days during any calendar year; and on the additional condition that the Register shall not be closed unless a notice has been published in accordance with the provisions 
of the Companies Law, if required. 

25. Annual General Meeting 

  (a)  An Annualannual General Meeting shall be held once in every calendar year at such time (within a period of not more than fifteen (15) months after the last preceding Annual annual
General Meeting) and at such place either within or withoutin the State of Israel or abroad as may be determined by the Board of Directors. Such meetings shall be called "Annual 
General Meetings". 

  (b)  Subject to the provisions of these Articles, the function of the Annual General Meeting shall be to elect the members of the Board of Directors; to receive the Financial Statementsand 
consider the profit and loss account, the balance sheet and the ordinary reports and accounts of the Directors and auditors, to appoint the Company’s auditors and to fix their 
remuneration and to transact any other business which under these Articles or the Companies Law are tomay be transacted at a General Meetinggeneral meeting of shareholders. 

26. Special General Meetings 

  (a) (a)          All General MeetingsAll general meetings of shareholders of the Company other than Annual General Meetings shall be called "Special General Meetings." A general meeting 
of shareholders of the Company whether it is an Annual General Meeting or a Special General Meeting, will be referred to as a "General Meeting". 

  (b) (b)          The Board of Directors may, whenever it thinks fit, convene a Special General Meeting at such time and place, within or out ofin the State of Israel or abroad, as may be 
determined by the Board of Directors. 

  (c) (c)          The Board of Directors shall be obligated to convene a Special General Meeting at such time and place, within or without the State of Israel, as may be determined by the Board 
of Directors, upon requisition in writing in accordance with the Companies Law. , at such time and place,  in the State of Israel or abroad, as may be determined by the Board of Directors. 
. 

27. NoticeConvening of General Meetings; Omission to Give Notice 
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(b)          The accidental omission to give notice of a meeting to any shareholder, or the non-receipt of notice sent to such shareholder, shall not invalidate the proceedings at such meeting. 

  
(a)       The Company shall not be required to deliver or serve notice ('Hodaa') of General Meetings or of any adjournments thereof to any shareholder. 
  

  
                (d(c)         Any shareholder or shareholders, holding at least one percent (1%) of the voting rights in the issued share capital of the Company, may, pursuant to the Companies 
Law, request that the Board of Directors include a certain item on the agenda of the meeting to be held in the future. In addition, subject to the Companies Law, the Board of Directors 
may include such subject in the agenda only if such request has been submitted to the Company in writing at least eight (8) weeks prior to the date of the meeting (or such shorter period 
as may be determined by the Board of Directors). 

 

  
Notwithstanding any provision of these Articles to the contrary, in order to allow the Company to determine the shareholders entitled to vote at any General Meeting or any adjournment thereof, 
or to express consent to or dissent from any corporate action in writing without a meeting, or to take or be the subject to, any other action, the Board of Directors may  determine a record date, 
which shall not be more than forty (40) days (or any longer period permitted under the Companies Law), nor less than four (4) days before the date of such meeting or other action. A 
determination of shareholders of record entitled to vote at a meeting shall apply to any adjournment of the meeting; provided however, that the Board of Directors may determine a new record 
date for the adjourned meeting. No persons other than holders of record of shares of the Company as of such record date shall be entitled to participate in and vote at such General Meeting, or to 
exercise such other right, as the case may be. 

 
PROCEEDINGS AT GENERAL MEETINGS 

  

  
(a)          Notice shall be given to allOnly shareholders registered in the Company’s Share Register. 
  
(b)          The Board of Directors shall set a record date, which date shall comply with the requirements of the Companies Law.  Shareholders of record, as set forth in the Company’s Share 

Register, on the dayrecord date determined by the Board of Directors and set forth in the notice of General Meetingpursuant to Article 28  above shall be entitled to participate in and vote in theat a 
General Meeting. 

  

  

  (c)           Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 27, b) Without derogating from the provisions of Article 27(a) above, and subject to any applicable law and stock exchange 
rules or regulations, notice by the Company of a General Meeting which is published in two daily newspapers in Israel shall be deemed to have been duly given on the date of such 
publication to any shareholder whose address as listed in the Register of Shareholders (or as designated in writing for the receipt of notices and other documents) is located in the State 
of Israel, and notice by the Company of a General Meeting which is published in one daily newspaper in New York, New York, U.S.A. or in one international wire serviceand regulations, 
the Company will publicize the convening of General Meetings in any manner reasonably determined by the Company, such as posting a notice on the Company's website, filing an 
appropriate periodic report with the United State Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC"), by publishing on one or more international wire services or in one or more 
newspapers and any such publication shall be deemed to have been duly made, given on the date of such publication to any shareholder whose address as registered in the Register of 
Shareholders (or as designated in writing for the receipt of notices and other documents) is located outside Israel. and delivered to all shareholders on the date on which it is first made, 
posted, filed or published in the manner so determined by the Company in its sole discretion.The date of publication of a noticein respect of a General Meeting as set forth in this Article, 
and the date of the meeting shall be counted as part of the days comprising any notice period with respect to such General Meeting. 

28. Record Date for General Meetings and Other Action 

28. 29. Entitlement to Notice; Participation 
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The Chairman, if any, of the Board of Directors shall preside as Chairman at every General Meeting of the Company.  If there is no such Chairman, or if the appointed Chairman is unwilling to take 
the chair, or if he shall have indicated in advance that he will not be attending, or if at any meeting such Chairman is not present within fifteen (15) minutes after the time fixed for holding the 
meeting or is unwilling to act as Chairman, the shareholders, those present at the meeting shall choose someone of their number topresentto be Chairman of the meeting.  The office of Chairman 
shall not, by itself, entitle the holder thereof to vote at any General Meeting nor shall it entitle such holder to a second or casting vote (without derogating, however, from the rights of such 
Chairman to vote as a shareholder or proxy of a shareholder if, in fact, he or she is also a shareholder or such proxy). 

  

  

  

  

  

29. 30. Quorum 

  (a)  Two or more shareholders (not in default in payment of any sum referred to in Article 3537 (a) hereof), present in person, by proxy or by proxy card and holding shares conferring in the 
aggregate thirty-three and a third percent (33133 1/3%) or more of the voting power of the Company, shall constitute a quorum at General Meetings.  No business shall be transacted at a 
General Meeting, or at any adjournment thereof, unless the requisite quorum is present whenat the commencement of the meeting proceeds to business. 

  (b)  If withinhalf an hour from the time appointed for the meetingGeneral Meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting, if convened upon requisition under Article 26(c), shall be dissolved, 
but in any other case General Meeting, if convened by the Board upon the demand of shareholders or upon the demand of less than 50% of the Directors then in office or directly by 
such shareholders or Directors, shall be cancelled.  Otherwise, if a General Meeting is called and no quorum is present within half an hour from the time appointed for such General 
Meeting, it shall stand adjourned to the same day in the nextfollowing week, at the same time and place, or to such other day and at such, time and place as the Chairman may determine 
with the consent of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented at the meeting in person or by proxy and voting on the question ofDirectors may determine and specify in 
the publication with respect to the General Meeting. It shall not be necessary to give notice of or publicize such adjournment..  No business shall be transacted at any adjourned meeting 
except business that might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.  At such adjourned meeting, any two (2) shareholders (not in default as aforesaid) present in 
person, by proxy or by proxy card, shall constitute a quorum. 

  (c)  The Board of Directors may determine,inat its sole discretion, the matters that may be voted upon at the meeting by proxy in addition to the matters listed in Section 87(a) of the 
Companies Law. 

30. 31. Chairman 

31. 32. Adoption of Resolutions at General Meetings 

  (a)  Except with respect to matters which require the approval of a special majority under the Companies Law (but including with respect to matters which would require a special majority 
under the Companies Law due only to the Company's status as a company that was incorporated prior to the effective date of the Companies Law), all resolutions of the shareholders 
shall be deemed adopted if approved by the holders of a simple majority of the voting power represented at the meeting, in person, by proxy or by proxy card, and voting thereon. 

  (b)  Every question submitted to a General Meeting shall be decided by a show of hands, but if a written ballot is demanded by any shareholder present in person or by proxy and entitled to 
vote at the meeting, the same shall be decided by such ballot.  A written ballot may be demanded before the proposed resolution is voted upon or immediately after the declaration by 
the Chairman of the results of the vote by a show of hands.  If a vote by written ballot is taken after such declaration, the results of the vote by a show of hands shall be of no effect, and 
the proposed resolution shall be decided by such written ballot.  The demand for a written ballot may be withdrawn at any time before the same is conducted, in which event another 
shareholder may then demand such written ballot.  The demand for a written ballot shall not prevent the continuance of the meeting for the transaction of business other than the 
question on which the written ballot has been demanded.  All votes properly tendered by proxy card, as set forth in Article 3337 (c)(iii), with respect to a given resolution shall be 
counted for purposes of determining the outcome of any vote with respect to such resolution taken by show of hands or by secretwritten ballot. 
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The Board of Directors may, inat its absolutesole discretion, resolve to enable persons entitled to attend a general meetingGeneral Meeting to do so by simultaneous attendance and participation 
at the principal meeting place and a satellite meeting place or places anywhere in the world and the shareholders present in person, by proxy or by written ballot at satellite meeting places shall be 
counted in the quorum for and entitled to vote at the general meetingGeneral Meeting in question, and that meeting shall be duly constituted and its proceedings valid, provided that the 
chairman of the general meetingGeneral Meeting is satisfied that adequate facilities are available throughout the general meetingGeneral Meeting to ensure that shareholders attending at all the 
meeting places are able to: 

  

  

  

  

  
A Subject to applicable law, resolution in writing signed by all shareholders of the Company then entitled to attend and vote at General Meetings or to which all such shareholders have given 
their written consent (by letter, telegram, telex, facsimile, email or otherwise) shall be deemed to have been unanimously adopted by a General Meeting duly convened and held. 

  

 

  

  

  
Subject to the provisions of Article 3637 (a) and subject to the rights of holders of shares with special rights as to voting, every shareholder shall have one vote for each share held by such 
shareholder of record, on every resolution, without regard to whether the vote hereonthereon is conducted by a show of hands, by written ballot or by any other means. 
  

  

  (c)  A declaration by the Chairman of the meeting that a resolution has been carried unanimously, or carried by a particular majority, or lost, and an entry to that effect in the minute book of 
the Company, shall be prima facie evidence of the fact without proof of the number or proportion of the votes recorded in favor of or against such resolution. 

32. 33. Manner of the Meeting 

  (a)  participate in the business for which the meeting has been convened; 

  (b)  hear all persons who speak (whether by the use of microphones, loudspeakers audio-visual communications equipment or otherwise) in the principal meeting place and any satellite 
meeting place(s); and 

  (c)  be heard by all other persons so present in the same way. 

33. 34. Resolutions in Writing 

34. 35. Power to Adjourn 

  (a)  The Chairman of a General Meeting at which a quorum is present may, with the consent of the holders of a majority of the voting power represented in person or by proxy and voting on 
the question of adjournment (and shall if so directed by the meeting), adjourn the meeting from time to time and from place to place, but no business shall be transacted at any adjourned 
meeting except business which might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting as originally called. 

  (b)  It shall not be necessary to give any notice of an adjournment,unlesshowever, if the meeting is adjourned for thirty (30) days or more in which event notice thereof shall be given in the 
manner required for the meeting as originally called, the Company shall publicize the adjournment and the matters to be included on the agenda of the adjourned General Meeting in the 
same manner in which it announced the convening of the original General Meeting. 

35. 36. Voting Power 
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"I ____________ (Name of Shareholder)  of __________ (Address of Shareholder) being a shareholder of Compugen Ltd. hereby appoint ______________ (Name of Proxy) of 
____________ (Address of Proxy) as my proxy to participate and vote for me and on my behalf at the General Meeting of the Company to be held on the _____ day of _______, 20__ 
and at any adjournment(s) thereof. 
  
Signed this ______ day of ____________, 20__. 
  
____________  
  
(Signature of Appointer)" 
  
or in any usual or common form or in such other form as may be approved by the Board of Directors, including a form which provides for a continuing proxy until the occurrence of such 
date or event as is specified in the proxy.  It shall be duly signed by the appointer or his duly authorized attorney, which signature shall be confirmed by an advocate or notary or bank or 
in any other manner acceptable to the Chairman of the meeting or, if such appointer is a company or other corporate body, under its common seal or stamp or the hand of its duly 
authorized agent(s) or attorney(s). 
  

  

36. 37. Voting Rights 

  (a)  No shareholder shall be entitled to vote at any General Meeting (or be counted as a part of the quorum thereat), unless all calls and other sums then payable by such shareholder in 
respect of such shareholder's shares in the Company have been paid. 

  (b)  A company or other corporate body being a shareholder of the Company may, subject to applicable law, authorize any person to be its representative at any meeting of the Company or 
execute or deliver a proxy on its behalf.  Any person so authorized shall be entitled to exercise on behalf of such shareholder all the power that the latter could have exercised if it were an 
individual shareholder.  Upon the request of the Chairman of the meeting, written evidence of such authorization (in form acceptable to the Chairman) shall be delivered to the Chairman. 

  (c)  Any shareholder entitled to vote may vote in one of the following manners: 

  (i)  personally; 

  (ii)  by proxy (who need not be a shareholder of the Company); 

  (iii)  by proxy card, provided it is completed and returned to the Company’s offices in accordance with its terms; or 

  (iv)  if the shareholder is a company or other corporate body, by a representative authorized pursuant to Article3637 (b). 

  (d)  If two or more persons are registered as joint holders of any share, the vote of the senior who tenders a vote, in person, by proxy or by proxy card, shall be accepted to the exclusion of 
the vote(s) of the other joint holder(s); and for this purpose seniority shall be determined by the order in which the namesstandappear in the Share Register. 

37. 38. Proxies; Instrument of Appointment 

  (a)  The instrument appointing a proxy shall be in writing and shall be substantially in the following form: 

  
A - 12



  

  

  

  

 
BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

  

  

  

  

  

  (b)  The instrument appointing a proxy (and the power of attorney or other authority, if any, under which such instrument has been signed) shall either be delivered to the Company (at its
Registered Office, or at its principal place of business or at the offices of its registrar and/or transfer agent or at such place as the Board of Directors may specify) not less than 
twotwenty four (224) hours before the time fixed for the meeting at which the person named in the instrument proposes to vote, or presented to the Chairman at such meeting. 

  (c)  Proxy cards shall be in such form, and substance, as shall be prescribed by the Board of Directors.  Proxy cards shall be completed and delivered to the Company (at its Registered
Office, or at its principal place of business or at the offices of its registrar and/or transfer agent or at such place as the Board of Directors may specify) in accordance with its terms. 

  (d)  A vote cast pursuant to an instrument appointing a proxy or by proxy card shall be valid notwithstanding the previous death, liquidation or winding-up of the appointing shareholder (or 
of his attorney-in-fact, if any, who signed such instrument), or the revocation of the appointment or the transfer of the share in respect of which the vote is cast, provided no written 
intimation of such death, liquidation, winding-up revocation or transfer shall have been received by the Company or by the Chairman of the meeting before such vote is cast and 
provided, further, that the appointing shareholder, if present in person at said meeting, may revoke the appointment by means of a writing, oralwritten or, verbal notification to the 
Chairman, or otherwise. 

  (e)  An instrument appointing a proxy shall be deemed revoked (i) upon receipt by the Company or the Chairman of the meeting, subsequent to receipt by the Company of such instrument, 
of written notice signed by the person signing such instrument or by the shareholder appointing such proxy canceling the appointment thereunder (or the authority pursuant to which 
such instrument was signed) or of an instrument appointing a different proxy (and such other documents, if any, required under this Article 3738 (be) for such new appointment), 
provided such notice of cancellation or instrument appointing a different proxy were so received at the place and within the time for delivery of the instrument revoked thereby as 
referred to in Article 3738 (be) hereof, or (ii) if the appointing shareholder is present in person at the meeting for which such instrument of proxy was delivered, upon receipt by the 
Chairman of such meeting of written notice from such shareholder of the revocation of such appointment, or if and when such shareholder votes at such meeting. A vote cast in 
accordance with an instrument appointing a proxy shall be valid notwithstanding the revocation or purported cancellation of the appointment, or the presence in person or vote of the 
appointing shareholder at a meeting for which it was rendered, unless such instrument of appointment was deemed revoked in accordance with the foregoing provisions of this Article 
3738 (be) at or prior to the time such vote was cast. 

38. 39. Powers of Board of Directors 

  (a)  General. The Board of Directors shall determine the Company's policies, oversee the activities of the chief executive officer (the "Chief Executive Officer"), and take such other actions 
as are described in Section 92 of the Companies Law.  The Board of Directors shall be empowered to exercise any power of the Company not conferred upon by the Companies Law or by 
these Articles on any other organ of the Company.  The authority conferred on the Board of Directors by this Article 3839 shall be subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and
of these Articles. 

  (b) Borrowing Power.  The Board of Directors may from time to time, at its discretion, cause the Company to borrow or secure the payment of any sum or sums of money for the purposes of 
the Company, and may secure or provide for the repayment of such sum or sums in such manner, at such times and upon such terms and conditions as it deems fit, and, in particular, by 
the issuance of bonds, perpetual or redeemable debentures, debenture stock, or any mortgages, charges, or other securities on the undertaking or the whole or any part of the property 
of the Company, both present and future, including its uncalled or called but unpaid capital for the time being. 
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  (c)  Reserves.  The Board of Directors may, from time to time, set aside any amount(s) out of the profits of the Company as a reserve or reserves for any purpose(s) which the Board of 
Directors, in its absolute discretion, shall deem fit, including without limitation, capitalization and distribution of bonus shares, and may invest any sum so set aside in any manner and 
from time to time deal with and vary such investments and dispose of all or any part thereof, and employ any such reserve or any part thereof in the business of the Company without 
being bound to keep the same separate from other assets of the Company, and may subdivide or redesignatere-designate any reserve or cancel the same or apply the funds therein for 
another purpose, all as the Board of Directors may deem fit from time to time think fit. 

39. 40. Exercise of Powers of Directors 

  (a)  A meeting of the Board of Directors at which a quorum is present, whether in person or by any other means by which the Directors may hear each other simultaneously, shall be 
competent to exercise all the authorities, powers and discretions vested in or exercisable by the Board of Directors. 

  (b)  A resolution proposed at any meeting of the Board of Directors shall be deemed adopted if approved by a majority of the Directors presentand entitled to vote when such resolution is 
put to a vote and voting thereon. 

  (c)  The Board of Directors is authorized to adopt any resolution without an actual meeting, provided that allA resolution in writing signed by all of the Directors or members of a Committee 
of the Board of Directors then in office and lawfully entitled to vote thereon (as conclusively determined by the Chairman of the Board of Directors)  or to which all of such Directors
have agreed in writing or given their consent (by telephone, e-mail, facsimile, letter or otherwise) to the adoption of such resolution.  In the event of the adoption of a resolution pursuant 
to this Article 39(c), letter, telegram, telex,  facsimile, email or their oral consent by telephone (provided that in such event, a written summary thereof has been approved and signed by
the Chairman of the Board shall state in the minutes the manner in which each Director voted on the resolution and the fact that all directors consented to the adoption of the resolution 
without the convening of a meeting. of Directors of the Company)) shall be deemed to have been unanimously adopted by a meeting of the Board of Directors  or any committee thereof 
duly convened and held.  

40. 41. Audit Committee 

  (a)  The Board of Directors shall appoint an Audit Committee (all of whose members must be Directors) comprised of at least three Directors, including all of theOutsideExternal
Directors.  The composition of the Audit Committee shall be in compliance with the Companies Law and with the rules of any stock exchange on which the shares of the Company are 
traded. 

  (b)  The duties of the Audit Committee shall be as provided by applicable law and shall include: 

  (i)  to detect any deficiencies in the business management of the Company, by among other things consulting with the Company’sInternal Auditorinternal auditor and independent 
auditors, and to propose to the Board of Directors ways of correcting these deficiencies; and 

  (ii)  to decide whether to approve actions and transactions requiring approval of the Audit Committee pursuant to the Companies Law. 

41. 42. Delegation of Powers 

  (a)  Subject to Section 112 of the Companies Law, the Board of Directors may delegate any or all of its powers to committees, each consisting of two or more persons (all of whose members 
must be Directors, at least one of which must be an Outside Director) External Director), including the authority to approve transactions that are not "extraordinary transactions" (as 
defined in the Companies Law), pursuant to Sections 270(1) and 271 of the Companies Law, and it may from time to time revoke such delegation or alter the composition of any such 
committee.  Any Committeecommittee so formed (in these Articles referred to as a "Committee of the Board of Directors"), shall, in the exercise of the powers so delegated, conform to 
any regulations imposed on it by the Board of Directors.  The meetings and proceedings of any such Committee of the Board of Directors shall, mutatis mutandis, be governed by the 
provisions herein contained for regulating the meetings of the Board of Directors, so far as not superseded by any regulations adopted by the Board of Directors under this 
Article.  Unless otherwise expressly provided by the Board of Directors in delegating powers to a Committee of the Board of Directors, such Committee shall not be empowered to further 
delegate such powers. 

  
A - 14



  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  (b)  Without derogating from the provisions of Article56, 55 below, the Board of Directors may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, from time to time appoint a Secretary to the 
Company, as well as officers, agents, employees and independent contractors, as the Board of Directors may thinkdeem appropriate, and may terminate the service of any such 
person.  The Board of Directors may, subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, determine the powers and duties, as well as the terms and conditions of employment, of all such 
persons, and may require security in such cases and in such amounts as it thinksdeems appropriate. 

  (c)  The Board of Directors may from time to time, by power of attorney or otherwise, appoint any person, company, firm or body of persons to be the attorney or attorneys of the Company 
at law or in fact for such purpose(s) and with such powers, authorities and discretions, and for such period and subject to such conditions, as it thinksdeems fit, and any such power of 
attorney or other appointment may contain such provisions for the protection and convenience of persons dealing with any such attorney as the Board of Directors may thinkdeem fit, 
and may also authorize any such attorney to delegate all or any of the powers, authorities and discretions vested in himthem. 

42. 43. Number of Directors 

  (a)  The number ofmembers of the Board of Directors (including OutsideExternal Directors) shall be determined, from time to time, by the Annual General Meeting, provided that the Board of 
Directors of the Company shall consist of notno less than five (5) directorsDirectors and notno more than fourteen (14) Directors. 

  (b)  The requirements of the Companies Law applicable toOutsideExternal Directors shall prevail over the provisions of these Articles to the extent that these Articles are inconsistent with 
the Companies Law, and shall apply to the extent that these Articles are silent. 

43. 44. Election, Appointment and Removal of Directors 

  (a)  The Directors shall be elected and dismissed bythe holders of a simple majority of the sharesvoting power present and voting at an Annual General Meeting, provided however that any 
vote to appoint or dismiss an OutsideExternal Director shall be in accordance with and satisfy the requirements of Section 239 or Section 246, as the case may be, of the Companies 
Law.  Subject to the maximum number of Directors provided for in Article 4243 above, between annual meetingsAnnual General Meetings, the Board of Directors shall be empowered to 
appoint directorsDirectors, other than OutsideExternal Directors, by a majority vote of the directorsDirectors then in office. 

  (b)  All Directors elected at an Annual General Meeting, except OutsideExternal Directors, shall retire athold office until the end of the Annual General Meeting of the Company ,  immediately 
following the Annual General Meeting at which they were elected, subject to the provisions of sub-article 43(d) below.  The term of office of Outside and until their successors have 
been duly elected or until any such Directors' term of office terminates as provided in the Companies Law or due to any of the circumstances set forth in Article 47 below. Directors 
appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 44(a) above, shall hold office until the end of the immediately following Annual General Meeting or until such Directors' term of office 
terminates as provided in the Companies Law or due to any of the circumstances set forth in Article 47 below. The term of office of External Directors shall be in accordance with and as 
provided in the Companies Law. 
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No person shall be disqualified to serve as a Director by reason of his not holding shares in the Company or, subject to applicable law, by reason of his having served as a Director in the past, 
subject to Sections 240 and 245 of the Companies Law with respect to Outside Directors. 

  

  

  

  (c)  A retiring Director shall be eligible for re-election, provided that Outside Directors shall only be entitled to re-election as provided in the Companies Law. Subject to applicable law, a 
Director who has ceased to hold office shall be eligible for re-election or re-appointment. 

  (d)  If at any Annual General Meeting, the places of the vacating directors are not filled, the meeting shall stand adjourned until the same day in the next week at the same time and place, and 
if at the adjourned meeting the places of the vacating Directors are, again, not filled, the vacating Directors shall be deemed to have been re-elected at the adjourned meeting.  In any 
event, a retiring director shall remain in office until a new director has been elected or appointed in his or her place. 

  (d)  The term of office of a Director (including an External Director) will begin as of the date of the Annual General Meeting at which he was elected or as of the date of the meeting of the 
Board of Directors at which he was appointed (if appointed by the Board pursuant to Article 44(a) above) or at such later date as is determined in the resolution electing or appointing 
him or pursuant thereto. 

  (e)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 43, 44, the shareholders may, at any time, by a resolution adopted by a simple majority of the voting power present and voting at 
a Special General Meeting, discharge from office any member of the Board of Directors (provided that with respect to Outside Directors, the dismissal is effected in accordance with 
Section 246 of the Companies Law) and/or toDirector, provided such Director is given a reasonable opportunity to state his or her case before the shareholders at the General Meeting 
and/or appoint a member to the Board of DirectorsDirector (provided that with respect to OutsideExternal Directors, the requirements of Section 239 of the Companies Law are satisfied). 

44. 45. Qualification of Directors 

45. 46. Continuing Directors in the Event of Vacancies 
  
In the event of one or more vacancies in the Board of Directors, the continuing Directors may continue to act in every matter, and, pending the filling of any vacancy pursuant to the provisions 
of Article 43, may temporarily  may fill any such vacancy in accordance with Article 44(a); provided, however, that if they number less than a majority of the minimum number provided for 
pursuant to Article 4243 hereof or if the number of OutsideExternal Directors dropsfalls below two, they may only act in an emergency, and must call a General Meeting of the Company for the 
purpose of electing Directors to fill any or all vacancies, so that at least a majority of the minimum number of Directors provided for pursuant to Article 4243 hereof, or at least two OutsideExternal 
Directors, as the case may be, are in office as a result of said meeting.
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No Director shall be paid any remuneration by the Company for such Director's services as a member of the Board of DirectorsDirector or for any other services provided to the Company, unless 
such remuneration has been approved pursuant to the provisions of the Companies Law. 

  

  
Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, the Company may enter into any contract or otherwise transact any business with any Office Holder (as such term is defined in the Companies 
Law) in which contract or business such Office Holder has a personal interest, directly or indirectly; and may enter into any contract ofor otherwise transact any business with any third party in 
which contract or business an Office Holder has a personal interest, directly or indirectly. 

  

  

 
PROCEEDINGS OF THE BOARD OF DIRECTORS 

  

  

  

  

  

46. 47. Vacation of Office 

  (a)  The office of a Director shall be vacated by the Director's written resignation.  Such resignation shall become effective on the date fixed therein, or upon the delivery thereof to the 
Company, whichever is later. 

  (b)  The Company willshall be entitled, at any time, by resolution of the shareholders at a Special General Meeting, to discharge from office any Director, provided such Director is given a 
reasonable opportunity to state his or her case before the shareholders at the General Meeting.  The power granted by this sub-article shall not apply to Outside Directors, unless such 
discharge is effected in accordance with Section 246 of the Companies Law. subject to and in accordance with Article 44(e), 

  (c)   The office of a Director shall be vacated, ipso facto, upon the occurrence of any of the following: (i) such Director's death, (ii) such Director is convicted of a crime as described in 
Section 232 of the Companies Law, (iii) such Director is removed by a court of law in accordance with Section 233 of the Companies Law, (iv) such Director becomes legally incompetent, 
or (v) such Director is declared bankrupt, or (vi) if such Director is a corporate entity, upon its winding-up liquidation, whether voluntary or involuntary. his death, or, if the Director is a 
legal entity, it has adopted a resolution of voluntary liquidation or winding-up, or a liquidation order has been issued with respect thereto; (ii) should he be declared to be legally 
incompetent; (iii) should he be declared bankrupt; (iv) should he resign his office by notice in writing to the Company; or (v) as otherwise provided in the Companies Law. 

47. 48. Remuneration of Directors 

48. 49. Conflict of Interests 

49. Intentionally left blank. 

50. Intentionally left blank. 

51. 50. Meetings 

  (a)  The Board of Directors shall convene meetings as required to fulfill the needs of the Company, but in any event shall convene at least one meeting in every three month period.  The 
Board of Directors may meet and adjourn its meetings and otherwise regulate such meetings and proceedings as the Directorsthinkdeem fit.  Meetings of the Board of Directors may be 
held telephonically or by any other means of communication provided that each Director participating in such meeting can hear and be heard by all of the other Directors participating in 
such meeting. 

  (b)  The Chairman of the Board of Directors may convene a meeting of the Board of Directors, but not less than two (2) days' writtentwenty four  (24) hours notice shall be given of any 
meeting, unless such notice is waived in writing by all of the Directors as to a particular meeting.  The notice of meeting shall include the agenda of the meeting.  Notice of the meetings 
of the Board of Directors shallmay be given orally, by telephone, or be sent to each Director in any other reasonable manner at the last physical or email address or telephone or facsimile 
number that the Director provided to the Company. 
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(d)          A resolution in writing signed by all of the Directors then in office and lawfully entitled to vote thereon (as conclusively determined by the Chairman of the Audit Committee, and in the 

absence of such determination by the Chairman of the Board of Directors)  or to which all of such Directors have given their consent (by letter, telegram, telex, facsimile, email or their oral consent by 
telephone (provided that a written summary thereof has been approved and signed by the Chairman of the Board of Directors of the Company) shall be deemed to have been unanimously adopted by a 
meeting of the Board of Directors duly convened and held. 
  

  

  

  

  

  
The Board of Directors mayshall from time to time elect one of its members to be the Chairman of the Board of Directors, remove such Chairman from office and appoint another in its place.  The 
Chairman of the Board of Directors shall preside at every meeting of the Board of Directors, but if there is no such Chairman, or if the appointed Chairman is unwilling to take the chair, or if he 
shall have indicated in advance that he will not be attending, or if at any meeting he is not present within fifteen (15) minutes of the time fixedscheduled for the meeting, or if the appointed 
Chairman is unwilling to take the chair, the Directors present shall choose one of their number to be the chairman of such meeting.  The Chief Executive Officer of the Company shall not serve as 
the Chairman of the Board of Directors, and the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall not be granted authorities of the Chief Executive Officer, unless such appointment, or grant, as the case 
may be, is approved by the shareholders in a General Meeting in accordance with Section 121(c) of the Companies Law.  The office of Chairman shall not entitle such Director to a second or 
casting vote. 
  

  

  (c)  Upon the receipt of a written request under any of the following circumstances, the Chairman of the Board of Directors shall, and in the absence of a Chairman, any Director receiving 
such written request shall, convene a meeting of the Board of Directors, but not less than two (2) days' writtentwenty four  (24) hours notice as aforesaid shall be given of any meeting, 
unless such notice is waived in writing by all of the Directors as to a particular meeting: 

  (i)  upon the receipt of a written request from any two Directors, or in the event that there are five or less Directors serving in office at the time, upon the written request of any 
Director; 

  (ii)  upon the receipt of a written request from any Director requesting that a meeting be adjournedconvened and stating that he or she has learned of an alleged violation of the law 
or of proper business procedure by the Company. 

  (iii)  upon the receipt of any written request from the Chief Executive Officer of the Company requesting an action of the Board of Directors; or 

  (iv)  upon the receipt of a written requestnotice from the independent auditor(s) of the Company regarding material flaws in the oversight of the Company's internal accounting 
methods. 

52. 51. Quorum 

  (a)  Until otherwise unanimously decided by the Board of Directors, a quorum at a meeting of the Board of Directors shall be constituted by the presence, in person, or by telephone 
conference of a majority of the Directors then in office who are lawfully entitled to participate and vote in the meeting (as conclusively determined by the Chairman of the Board of 
Directors). 

  (b)  If within an hour from the time appointed for the meeting a quorum is not present, the meeting shall stand adjourned to such time, date and place as the Chairman may determine, 
provided that not less than two (2) days' writtenprior notice as aforesaid shall have been provided to each of the Directors of such meeting.  No business shall be transacted at any 
adjourned meeting except business that might lawfully have been transacted at the meeting as originally called.  At such adjourned meeting, any two (2) membersDirectors present in 
person shall constitute a quorum. 

  (c)  Notwithstanding anything to the contrary in this Article 52, 51, the quorum for purposes of discussing and resolving upon the termination or suspension of the services of the Internal 
Auditorinternal auditor of the Company shall be a majority of the Directors then in office. 

53. 52. Chairman of the Board of Directors 
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Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, all acts done bona fide at any meeting of the Board of Directors, or of a Committee of the Board of Directors, or by any person(s) acting as 
Director(s), shall, notwithstanding that it may afterwards be discovered that there was some defect in the appointment of the participants in such meetings or any of them or any person(s) acting 
as aforesaid, or that they or any of them were disqualified, be as valid as if there were no such defect or disqualification. 

 
MINUTES 

  

  

  

  
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

54. 53. Validity of Acts Despite Defects 

55. 54. Minutes 

  (a)  Minutes of each General Meeting and of each meeting of the Board of Directors (or any committee thereof) shall be recorded and duly entered in books provided for that purpose and 
shall be held by the Company at its principal place of office or its Registered Office or such other place as shall have been determined by the Board of Directors. Such minutes shall, in all 
events, set forth the names of the persons present at the meeting and all resolutions adopted thereby. 

  (b)  Any minutes as aforesaid, if purporting to be signed by the chairman of the meeting or by the chairman of the next succeeding meeting, shall constitute prima facie evidence of the 
matters recorded therein. 

56. 55. Chief Executive Officer 

(a)  The Board of Directors shall from time to time appoint one or more persons, whether or not Directors, as Chief Executive Officers(s) of the Company and may confer upon such person(s), and 
from time to time modify or revoke, such title(s) (including General Manager, Managing Director, Director General or any similar or dissimilar title).  The appointment of the Chief Executive Officer
(s) may be either for a fixed term or without any limitation of time.  The Board of Directors may from time to time remove or dismiss the Chief Executive Officer(s) from office and appoint another or 
others in the Chief Executive Officer(s)'s place. 

(b)  The Chief Executive Officer(s) shall manage the business of the Company, subject to the policies established by the Board of Directors, such limitations and restrictions as are set forth in these 
Articles or as the Board of Directors may from time to time prescribe, and the provisions of the Companies Law. 

(c)  The Board of Directors may from time to time determine the Chief Executive Officer(s) salary and other terms and conditions of the Chief Executive Officer's employment, subject to the provisions 
of the Companies Law. 

(d)  Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law and provided the Board of Directors has authorized him or her to do so, the Chief Executive Officer of the Company may appoint additional 
Officer Holders (as such term is defined in the Companies Law) of the Company (other than Directors and Chief Executive Officers), and determine the duties and powers of such Office Holders, 
and the terms and conditions of such Office Holders' employment.  The Chief Executive Officer shall notify the Board of Directors of each such appointment at the first meeting of the Board of 
Directors following such appointment. 
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INTERNAL AUDITOR 

  

  
The Board of Directors shall, subject to and in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law, appoint an internal auditor pursuant to a recommendation of the Audit Committee.  The 
following persons shall not serve as the Internal Auditor of the Company: (i) any Interested Party of the Company; (ii) any Office Holder of the Company; (iii) any relative of either of the 
foregoing; and (iv) the Company’s independent auditor(s) or anyone on their behalf. 

 
EXEMPTION, INDEMNIFICATION AND INSURANCE 

  

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

  

  

  

57. 56. Internal Auditor 

58. 57. Indemnity and Insurance 

58.157.1 Insurance: . Subject to the provisions of anythe Companies Law, the Company may enter into a contractcontracts to insure against the liabilities of its Office Holders for an obligation imposed on 
an Office Holder in consequence of an act  done by the Office Holder in his capacity as anany liabilities or expenses incurred by or imposed upon them arising from or as a result of any act (or 
omission) carried out by them as Office HolderHolders of the Company, in , to the fullest extent permitted by law, including in respect of any liability imposed on any Office Holder with respect to
any of the following cases: 

  (a) A breach of the duty of care owed to the Company or to any other person; 

  (b)  A breach of the fiduciary duty of loyalty owed to the Company, provided that, the Office Holder acted in good faith and had reasonable grounds to assume that such act would not 
injureprejudice the interests of the Company; 

  (c)  A monetary liabilityMonetary liabilities or obligations imposed on him in favor of another person; 

  (d) A payment which the Office Holder is obligated to make to an injured party as set forth in Section 52(54)(a)(1)(a) of the Israel Securities Law, 5728-1968 (the "Securities Law") and 
expenses that the Office Holder incurred in connection with a proceeding under Chapters H'3, H'4 or I'1 of the Securities Law, including reasonable litigation expenses, including 
attorney's fees, or in connection with Article D of Chapter Four of Part Nine of the Companies Law; 

  (e) Expenses incurred by the Office Holder in connection with a proceeding under Chapter G'1, of the Israel Restrictive Trade Practices Law, 5748-1988 (the "Restrictive Trade Law"), 
including reasonable litigation expenses, including attorney's fees. 

58.257.2 Indemnification. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, including the receipt of all approvals as required therein or under any other applicable Law, the Company may indemnify any of 
its Office Holders for all liabilities and expenses incurred by them arising from or as a result of any act (or omission) carried out by them as Office Holders of the Company and which is 
indemnifiable pursuant to applicable law, to the fullest extent permitted by the Companies Law law, including, as follows: 

  (a)  retrospectively; and 
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For the purposes hereof: (i) “a proceeding that endedconcluded without filing an indictment in a matter in respect of which an investigation was conducted”; and (ii) “financial 
obligation in lieu of a criminal proceeding”, shall have the meanings specified in Section 260(a)(1A) of the Companies Law. ; 
  

 

 

 

 
provided that: (x) an undertaking in advance to indemnify an Office Holder with respect to the matters specified in Article 57.2(b)(i) above is limited to types of occurrences, which in the 
opinion of the Board of Directors, in light of the Company's actual activities at the time of the undertaking, are foreseeable and to an amount or to criteria the Board of Directors has 
determined to be reasonable in the circumstances; and (y) in the undertaking in advance to indemnify an Office Holder, the types of occurrences that the Board of Directors believes to 
be foreseeable in light of the Company's actual activities at the time the undertaking to indemnify was given are mentioned, as is the amount or criteria that the Board of Directors 
determined to be reasonable under the circumstances. 
  

  

  (b) undertake in advance to indemnify the Office Holders with respect to liabilities or expenses, imposed on such Officer or incurred by him in consequence of an act which he has performed 
by virtue of being an Officer, as listed below to the fullest extent permitted by law, including, as follows: 

  (i) Afor any monetary obligationliabilities or obligations imposed on the Office Holder in favor of another person pursuant to a court judgment, including a compromise judgment 
given in settlement or a court-approved arbitration award, provided that the undertaking to indemnify will be limited to: (1) those categories of events which the Board resolves 
that in its opinion can be foreseen at the time the undertaking to indemnify is given in light of the Company’s then current activities; and (2) such amounts or criteria which the 
Board sets as reasonable under the circumstances; an arbitrator's decision approved by a court;; 

  (ii) for any payments which the Office Holder is obligated to make to an injured party as set forth in Section 52(54)(a)(1)(a) of the Securities Law and expenses the Office Holder 
incurred in connection with a proceeding under Chapters H'3, H'4 or I'1 of the Securities Law, including reasonable litigation expenses, including attorney's fees, or in 
connection with Article D of Chapter Four of Part Nine of the Companies Law; 

  (iiiii) Reasonablefor reasonable litigation expenses, including attorney’s legal fees, actually paidincurred by the Office Holder in consequence of an investigation or proceeding 
instituted against the Office Holder by an authority that is authorized to conduct such investigation or proceeding, and that resultedwhich was concluded without filing  of an 
indictment against the Office Holder and without imposing on the Office Holder a financial obligation in lieu of criminal proceedings, or that resultedwhich was concluded 
without filing of an indictment against the Office Holder but with imposing on such Office Holder a financial obligation in lieu of criminal proceedings in respect of an offense 
that does not require the proof of criminal intent or in connection with a financial sanction; 

  (iii) Reasonable litigation costs, including attorney’s legal fees incurred by the Office Holder or which the Office Holder is ordered to pay by a court, in a proceeding filed against 
the Office Holder by the Company or on its behalf or by another person, or in a criminal charge of which the Office Holder is acquitted, or in a criminal charge of which the Office 
Holder is convicted of an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent. 

  (iv) for reasonable litigation expenses, including attorney’s fees, incurred by the Office Holder or which the Office Holder is ordered to pay by a court, in a proceeding filed against 
the Office Holder by the Company or on its behalf or by another person, or in a criminal action of which the Office Holder is acquitted, or in a criminal action in which the Office 
Holder is convicted of an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent. 

  (v) for expenses incurred by the Office Holder in connection with a proceeding under Chapter G'1, of the Restrictive Trade Law, including reasonable litigation expenses, including 
attorney's fees. 

  (vi) for any other liability, obligation or expense indemnifiable or which may from time to time be indemnifiable by law. 
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RIGHTS OF SIGNATURE and RUBBER STAMP 

  

  

  

  

  

58.357.3 Exemption of Office Holders. Subject to the provisions of the Companies Law, the Company may ,to the fullest extent permitted by law, exempt and release its Office Holders, including in advance 
for, from and against all or anypart of such Office Holders’ liability for damage in consequence of a breach of the duty of care vis-à-vis the Company, other than for monetary or other damages 
due to, or arising or resulting from, a breach of their  duty of care stemming from a Distribution (as such term is defined in the Companies Law) and for a willful or reckless breach of duty of care, 
excluding a breach of duty of care due to negligenceto the Company.. The Directors of the Company are released and exempt from any and all liability as aforesaid to the fullest extent permitted 
by law with respect to any such breach, which has been or may be committed. 

58.457.4 
  

The provisions of this Article 5857 are not intended, and shall not be interpreted so as to restrict the Company, in any manner, in respect of the procurement of insurance and/or indemnification 
and/or exculpation, in favourfavor of any person who is not an Office Holder, including, without limitation, any employee, agent, consultant or contractor of the Company who is not an Office 
Holder. 

57.5 The Company may, as aforesaid, indemnify, insure and exempt from liability any Office Holder to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law. Accordingly: (i) any amendment to the Companies 
Law, the Securities Law, the Restrictive Trade Law or any other applicable law expanding the ability of the Company to indemnify, insure or exempt from liability any Office Holder, or expanding 
the right of any Office Holder to be indemnified, insured or exempted from liability, beyond or in addition to the provisions of these Articles, shall, to the fullest extent possible, automatically and 
immediately apply to the Office Holders of the Company and be deemed as included in these Articles to the fullest extent permitted by applicable law; and (ii) any amendment to the Companies 
Law, the Securities Law, the Restrictive Trade Law or any other applicable law adversely affecting the ability of the Company to indemnify, insure or exempt from liability any Office Holder or 
adversely affecting the right of any Office Holder to be indemnified, insured or exempted from liability as provided for in these Articles shall have no effect post factum and shall not affect the 
Company's obligations or ability to indemnify, insure or exempt from liability an Office Holder for any act (or omission) carried out prior to such amendment, unless otherwise provided by 
applicable law. 

59. 58. Rights of Signature and Rubber Stamp 

  (a)  The Board of Directors shall be entitled to authorize any person or persons (who need not be Directors) to act and sign on behalf of the Company and to further delegate such signatory 
powers, and the acts and signaturesignatures of such person(s) on behalf of the Company, together with the Company's rubber stamp or the Company's name in print or handwriting,
shall bind the Company insofar as such person(s) acted and signed within the scope of such person's authority. 

   (b)          The Company shall have at least one official rubber stamp. 
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DIVIDENDS 

  

  

  
(b)           No dividend shall be paid otherwise than out of the profits of the Company. 

  

  

  

  

  

 

  

  
For the purpose of giving full effect to any resolution under Articles 6260 or 64, 61, the Board of Directors may settle any difficulty which may arise in regard to the distribution as it thinks 
expedient, and, in particular, may issue fractional certificates or make payment in lieu of fractional shares in an amount determined by the Board of Directors, and may determine the value for 
distribution of any specific assets, and may determine that cash payments shall be made to any shareholders upon the footing of the value so fixed, or that fractions of less value than the 
nominal value of one share may be disregarded in order to adjust the rights of all parties, and may vest any such cash, shares, debentures, debenture stock or specific assets in trustees upon 
such trusts for the persons entitled to the dividend or capitalized fund as may seem expedient to the Board of Directors. 
  

  

60. 59. Declaration of Dividends 

  (a)  Subject to the Companies Law, the Board of Directors may from time to time declare, and cause the Company to pay, such dividends as may appear to the Board of Directors to be 
justified by the profits of the Company.  Subject to the Companies Law, the Board of Directors shall determine the time for payment of such dividends and the record date for determining 
the shareholders entitled thereto. 

61. 60. Amount Payable by Way of Dividends 

  (a)  Subject to the provisions of these Articles and subject to any rights or conditions attached at that time to any share in the capital of the Company granting preferential, special or 
deferred rights or not granting any rights with respect to dividends, the profits of the Company which shall be declared as dividends shall be distributed according to the proportion of 
the nominal value paid up or credited as paid up on account of the shares held at the date so appointed by the Company and in respect of which such dividend is being paid, without 
regard to the premium paid in excess of the nominal value, if any.  No amount paid or credited as paid on a share in advance of calls shall be treated for purposes of this Article as paid on 
a share. 

   (b)           No dividend shall carry interest as against the Company. 

62. 61. Payment in Specie 

  (a) A dividend may be paid, wholly or partly, by the distribution of specific assets of the Company or by the distribution of specific assets, paid-up shares, debentures or debenture stock of 
any other company, or in any one or more such ways. 

  (b) Upon the determination of the Board of Directors, the Company (i) may cause any monies, investments, or other assets forming part of the undivided profits of the Company, standing to 
the credit of a reserve fund, or to the credit of a reserve fund for the redemption of capital, or in the hands of the Company and available for dividends, or representing premiums received 
on the issuance of shares and standing to the credit of the share premium account, to be capitalized and distributed among such of the shareholders as would be entitled to receive the 
same if distributed by way of dividend and in the same proportion, on the footing that they become entitled thereto as capital, or may cause any part of such capitalized fund to be 
applied on behalf of such shareholders in paying up in full, either at par or at such premium as the resolution may provide, any unissued shares or debentures or debenture stock of the 
Company which shall be distributed accordingly or in payment, in full or in part, of the uncalled liability on all issued shares or debentures or debenture stock if such liability exists, on a 
pro rata basis; and (ii) may cause such distribution or payment to be accepted by such shareholders in full satisfaction of their interest in the said capitalized sum. 

63. 62. Implementation of Powers under Articles 6160 and 6261 
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The Board of Directors may deduct from any dividend or other moneys payable to any shareholder in respect of a share any and all sums of money then payable by such shareholder to the 
Company on account of calls or otherwise in respect of shares of the Company and/or on account of any other matter of transaction whatsoever. 

  

  

  

  

  
All unclaimed dividends or other moneys payable in respect of a share may be invested or otherwise made use of by the Board of Directors for the benefit of the Company until claimed.  The 
payment by the Directors of any unclaimed dividend or such other moneys into a separate account shall not constitute the Company as a trustee in respect thereof, and any dividend unclaimed 
after a period of three (3) years from the date of declaration of such dividend, and any such other moneys unclaimed after a like period of three (3) years from the date the same were payable, shall 
be forfeited and shall revert to the Company; provided, however, that the Board of Directors may, at its sole discretion, cause the Company to pay any such dividend or such other moneys, or 
any part thereof, to a person who would have been entitled thereto had the same not reverted to the Company. 

  

  
Any dividend or other moneys payable in cash in respect of a share may be paid by check sent through the post to, or left at, the registered address of the person entitled thereto or by transfer to 
a bank account specified by such person (or, if two or more persons are registered as joint holders of such share or are entitled jointly thereto in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the 
holder or otherwise, to any one of such persons or to his bank account), or to such person and at such address as the person entitled thereto may bydirect in writing direct.  Every such check 
shall be made payable to the order of the person to whom it is sent, or to such person as the person entitled thereto as aforesaid may direct, and payment of the check by the banker upon whom it 
is drawn shall be a good discharge to the Company.  Every such check shall be sent at the risk of the person entitled to the money represented thereby. 

  

  
If two or more persons are registered as joint holders of any share, or are entitled jointly thereto in consequence of the death or bankruptcy of the holder or otherwise, any one of them may give 
effectual receipts for any dividend or other moneys payable or property distributable in respect of such share. 
  

ACCOUNTS; AUDITORS 
  

  
The Board of Directors shall cause accurate books of account to be kept in accordance with the provisions of the Companies Law and of any other applicable law.  Such books of account shall 
be kept at the Registered Office of the Company, or at such other place or places as the Board of Directors may thinkdeem appropriate, and they shall always be open to inspection by all 
Directors.  No shareholder, not being a Director, shall have any right to inspect any account or book or other similar document of the Company, except as conferred by law or authorized by the 
Board of Directors or by a resolution of a General Meeting of the Company. 
  

  

64. 63. Deductions from Dividends 

65. 64. Retention of Dividends 

  (a)  The Board of Directors may retain any dividend or other moneys payable or property distributable in respect of a share on which the Company has a lien, and may apply the same in or 
toward satisfaction of the debts, liabilities, or engagements in respect of which the lien exists. 

  (b)  The Board of Directors may retain any dividend or other moneys payable or property distributable in respect of a share in respect of which any person is, under these Articles 23 or 24, ,
entitled to become a shareholder, or which any person is, under saidthese Articles, entitled to transfer, until such person shall become a shareholder in respect of such share or shall 
transfer the same. 

66. 65. Unclaimed Dividends 

67. 66. Mechanics of Payment 

68. 67. Receipt from a Joint Holder 

69. 68. Books of Account 
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The Company's fiscal year shall commence on January 1st and end on the following December 31st. 

  

  
The Company shall prepare financial statements in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles consistently applied and as required by the Companies Law and any other 
applicable law.  The Company’s annual financial statements shall be audited for correctness by the Company's auditor and shall be approved and signed by the Board of Directors. 

  

  

  

  

 
DONATIONS 

  

  
The Company shall be entitled to donate reasonable amounts to a cause, which the Board of Directors deems worthy, even if such donation is not motivated by business considerations. 

  
NOTICES 

  

  

  

  

70. 69. Fiscal Year 

71. 70. Audit 

72. 71. Auditors 

  (a)  The shareholders of the Company shall appoint an independent auditor(s) of the Company at the Annual General Meeting.  Such appointment shall be in force until the end of the fiscal 
year for which the appointment is made, or for a longer period if so resolved at the Annual General Meeting, but in no event for a period of more than three fiscal years. The shareholders 
of the Company may remove the independent auditor(s) at any time. 

  (b)  The appointment, authorities, rights and duties of the independent auditor(s) of the Company shall be regulated by applicable law. 

  (c)  The Board of Directors shall determine the remuneration of the independent auditor(s), or shall delegate such authority to the Audit Committee, and shall report to the shareholders on 
such remuneration at the Annual General Meeting. 

73. 72. Donations 

74. 73. Notices 

  (a)  Any writtenWithout derogating from Article 27 above or Article 73(j) below, any notice or other document may be served by the Company upon any shareholder personally or by 
sending it by mail addressed to such shareholder at such shareholder's address as described in the Share Register or such other address as such shareholder may have designated in 
writing for the receipt of notices and other documents.  Any written notice or other document may be served by any shareholder upon the Company by tendering the same in person to 
the Secretary or the Chief Executive Officer of the Company at the principal office of the CompanyOffice or by sending it by prepaid registered mail (airmail if posted outside Israel) to the 
Company at its Registered AddressOffice.  Any such notice or other document shall be deemed to have been served two (2) business days after it has been posted (five (5) business 
days if sent to a place not located on the same continent as the place from where it was posted), or when actually received by the addressee if sooner than two (2) days or five (5) days, 
as the case may be, after it has been posted, or when actually tendered in person, to such shareholder (or to the Secretary or the Chief Executive Officer); provided, however, that notice 
may be sent by e-mail, facsimile or other electronic means and confirmed by registered mail as aforesaid, and such notice shall be deemed to have been given twenty-four (24) hours after 
such e-mail, facsimile or other electronic communication has been sent or when actually received by such shareholder (or by the Company), whichever is earlier.  If a notice is, in fact, 
received by the addressee, it shall be deemed to have been duly served, when received, notwithstanding that it was defectively addressed or failed, in some respect, to comply with the 
provisions of this Article 7473 (a). 
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  (b)  All notices to be given to the shareholders shall, with respect to any share to which persons are jointly entitled, be given to whichever of such persons is named first in the Share
Register, and any notice so given shall be sufficient notice to the holders of such share. 

  (c) (c)           If requested by the Company, each shareholder shall provide the Company with the shareholder's full street and mailing address, as well, if available, with facsimile number and 
email address. AnyWithout derogating from Article 27 above, any shareholder whose address is not described in the Share Register, and who shall not have designated in writing an 
address for the receipt of notices, shall not be entitled to receive any notice from the Company. 

  (d) The Company may declare that any document(s) will be delivered or be available for review at the Office or any other place designated by the Board of Directors. 

  (e) Whenever it is required to give prior notice or publicize a specified number of days in advance or where a notice or publication is valid for a specified period, the day of the publication or 
the day of service of the notice shall be included in such count or period. 

  (f) Service of notice to a relative of a shareholder living at the same address with him will be deemed service to such shareholder. 

  (g) Subject to applicable law, any shareholder, Director or other person entitled to receive notice in accordance with these Articles or law may waive notice, in advance or retroactively, in a 
particular case or type of case or generally, and if so, notice will be deemed as having been duly served, and all proceedings or actions for which the notice was required will be deemed 
valid. 

  (h) Any person entitled to a share by operation of law or by transfer, transmission or otherwise will be bound by any notice served or by any publication made pursuant to these Articles 
with respect to such share prior to his being registered in the Register as owner of the shares. 

  (i) It shall not be necessary to set forth in detail in any publication as provided for in Article 27(b) above, the full text of any proposed resolutions and a general description of the nature of 
the matters on the agenda will suffice. The Company shall be entitled, however, but shall be under no obligation to do so, to specify in any publication in respect of a meeting, a place 
and a time where and when the full text of proposed resolution(s) may be reviewed. 

  (j) Notwithstanding anything to the contrary contained herein, the Company may give notice to any shareholder by posting a notice on the Company's website, filing an appropriate 
periodic report with the SEC, by publishing on one or more international wire services or in one or more newspapers or by publicizing in any other manner reasonably determined by the 
Company and the date of such posting, filing or other publication shall be deemed the date on which such notice has been served upon such shareholder. Where notice is given by more 
than one method, it will be deemed served on the earliest of such dates. 

  (k) The accidental omission to give notice to any shareholder pursuant to any applicable law or these Articles or the non-receipt of any such notice by any shareholder entitled to receive 
notice shall not invalidate any action, transaction, resolution or proceedings taken by the Company and/or at or by any General Meeting. 
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WINDING UP 

  

  
Subject to the rights of the holders of shares with speciallimited or preferred rights as to liquidation, if the Company beis wound up on liquidation or dissolution, then, subject to applicable law, 
all the assets of the Company available for distribution among the shareholders shall be distributed to them in proportion to the respective percentage holdings of all of the Ordinary Shares 
(assuming for purposes of this calculation, the conversion of any other class of shares into Ordinary Shares) amount paid up or credited as paid up on account of the nominal value of the shares 
held by them respectively and in respect of which such distribution is being made, without regard to any premium paid in excess of the nominal value, if any. 
  

  

75. 74. Winding Up 
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Exhibit B 

  

 
  

Compugen Ltd. 
  

Compensation Policy for Directors and Officers 
  

  
This Compensation Policy outlines the philosophies and principles pursuant to which Compugen Ltd. (the “Company”) will compensate its directors, chief executive officer (“CEO”) and other “office 
holders”, as such term is defined in the Israeli Companies Law, 5759-1999 (“Office Holders” and the “Companies Law”, respectively). 
  
This Compensation Policy is intended to meet the requirements of applicable law, including Amendment No. 20 to the Companies Law, which became effective on December 12, 2012, and will be 
periodically reviewed by the Compensation Committee of the Company’s Board of Directors (the “Compensation Committee” and the “Board”, respectively) and the Board in order to ensure that the 
provisions hereof and their implementation meet legal requirements and the Company’s business needs. 
  
Nothing in this Compensation Policy shall obligate the Company to grant any particular type or amount of compensation to any Office Holder, unless expressly stated otherwise, nor shall it derogate 
from approval procedures mandated by the Companies Law. 
  
The term “officer”, as used in this Compensation Policy, includes all Office Holders other than directors. However, to the extent the chairman of the Board is an active chairman (an “Active 
Chairman”), as is the case as of the date of adoption of this Compensation Policy, or to the extent there are other directors who also hold management positions (each a “Management Director”), the 
term “officer” shall also refer to such Active Chairman or other Management Directors. 
  
Any amendment to this Compensation Policy shall require the approvals as set forth in the Companies Law. 

  

  
The Company’s Compensation Policy is structured to attract and retain highly qualified professionals and align their interests with shareholder interests, while maintaining fair and reasonable base 
pay levels, taking into account the Company’s size and nature of its activities, and ensuring that the Company’s Office Holders are not incentivized to take excessive risks that may be detrimental to 
shareholder value in the long-term. 
  
Taking into account the Company’s nature as a world-wide innovative biotechnology company, in early stages of research and development, the Compensation Policy is also designed to achieve the 
following: 

  

  

  

  
Additionally, the Company values integrity, honesty, ethical conduct and fairness, and views them as an essential part of its compensation philosophy. 

  

  
Officers’ compensation packages will generally be comprised of the following elements: 
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1. General 

2. Philosophy and Objectives 

  • Improve business results and strategy implementation, and support the Company’s work-plans, from a long-term perspective. 

  • Incentivize Office Holders to create long-term economic value for the Company. 

  • Create a clear line-of-sight between officers’ compensation and both Company-wide and individual performance. 

3. Officers’ Compensation Package Components 

  a. Base Salary 

  b. Cash Bonuses 

  c. Equity-based Compensation 

  d. Benefits and Perquisites 

  e. Termination Payments 

  
  



  

 
  
The “mix” of the elements that will be provided to each officer will be structured in order to compensate officers for Company-wide and individual performance and align their interests with shareholder 
interests, while recognizing that the mix may vary from period to period and from officer to officer and the fact that given its nature as a world-wide innovative biotechnology company, in early stages of 
research and development, the Company may, from time to time, see fit to incentivize its officers to pursue innovative thinking, persistent drive to success and riskier strategies, which may create long-
term economic value for the Company. 
  
Accordingly, the actual compensation mix during any given period may deviate substantially from any previous or subsequent period and significantly, cash bonuses and/or equity-based compensation 
may not be granted at all during certain periods. 
  

  
When determining officers’ compensation, the following will be considered, in addition to the principles, philosophies and objectives mentioned above: 
  

  

  

  

  

  

  
In addition, the Company may, from time to time, review its compensation practices in comparison with those of companies in similar businesses and fields (e.g., high-tech and biotech), of similar size (e.g., 
in terms of market value, shareholder equity and number of employees) and stage of development, as well as with those of companies in relevant locations and/or which compete with the Company for 
similar talent. 
  

  
Base salaries are a fixed compensation element which provides compensation to an officer for performance of his or her duties and responsibilities. Base salaries will be initially negotiated and generally 
set forth in officers’ employment or service agreements, taking into consideration the matters set forth in Section 3.1 above (Determining Officers’ Compensation), as applicable. 
  
Possible adjustments to officers’ base salaries may be periodically reviewed, considered and approved based on considerations applied for initially determining an officer’s base salary. 
  
Officers may be granted one-time cash and/or equity-based awards upon recruitment or promotion. The total value of such one-time equity based awards (valued at grant, and in cases of equity-based 
awards paid in cash – valued at payment) shall not exceed 50% of an officer’s annual salary cost multiplied by the vesting period of such awards (in years), and the total value of one-time cash and equity-
based awards (valued at grant, and in cases of equity-based awards paid in cash – valued at payment) shall not exceed 200% of an officer’s annual salary cost. The term “annual salary cost”, as used in 
this Compensation Policy, includes (i) an officer’s annual base salary; (ii) the Company’s contributions to pension/retirement savings (including on account of severance), study fund, social security and 
health insurance; (iii) car or travel related expenses; (iv) cellular phone and (v) recreation/convalescence pay. 
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3.1. Determining Officers’ Compensation 

• The officer’s position, scope of responsibility and business challenges. 

• The officer’s skills, professional experience, education and qualifications. 

• The officer’s performance results and accomplishments. 

• The officer’s previous compensation arrangements and seniority. 

• Paying officers equitably relative to one another based on their position, responsibilities, location, education, experience, qualifications, performance results and accomplishments. 

• The relationship between the officer’s compensation package and the compensation of the Company’s other employees (including those employed by manpower contractors) and specifically the 
median and average compensation and the effect of such relationship on work relations in the Company. 

3.2. Base Salary 
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Officers may be granted annual, ad hoc and/or special cash bonuses (“Annual Cash Bonuses”, “Ad Hoc Cash Bonuses” and “Special Cash Bonuses”, respectively), subject to the provisions set forth 
below. 
  

  
Annual Cash Bonuses are designed to promote the Company’s business results, strategy and work-plan, from a long-term perspective, by rewarding its officers for achieving the Company’s goals and for 
their individual performance. 
  
The parameters for payment of the Annual Cash Bonus, as well as any relevant criteria may be determined in employment or service agreements, and may also be determined with respect to one year or 
more. 
  
To the extent not otherwise determined, subsequently or concurrently with the approval of the budget with respect to any calendar year, the Company shall determine, to the extent required to do so by 
the Companies Law, following recommendation of the CEO (and, with respect to the CEO, following the recommendation of the chairman of the Board and with respect to the Active Chairman and any 
other Management Directors, if any, following recommendation of the chairman of the Compensation Committee), each officer’s target and maximum Annual Cash Bonus, as well as each officer’s 
objectives and related weights, including applicable thresholds and the formula for calculating the Annual Cash Bonus with respect to such year. 
  
Objectives: between 40% and 60% of the Annual Cash Bonus will be based on Company-wide performance (e.g., commercialization agreements, product development milestones and operating results) 
(“Company Objectives”) and between 25% and 45% of the Annual Cash Bonus will be based on performance specific to the relevant officer’s area of responsibility (e.g., product discovery, unit efficiency 
and development of discovery capabilities) (“Individual Objectives”). Both Company Objectives and Individual Objectives may combine quantitative and qualitative goals, provided that, to the extent 
required by the Companies Law, there is a clear and measurable index for each goal. 
  
With respect to the CEO, the Active Chairman and any other Management Directors, if any, between 80% and 100% of the Annual Cash Bonus will be based on Company Objectives, due to such 
persons’ direct line-of sight and impact on Company-wide performance. 
  
The Company may modify the objectives and their related weights and any thresholds during the calendar year in response to special or unaccounted for events. 
  
Discretionary Component: to the extent a larger discretionary component in not permitted by the Companies Law, the Annual Cash Bonus may include a discretionary component of up to 0.6 of an 
officer’s monthly base salary, or with respect to the CEO, the Active Chairman and any other Management Directors, if any, of up to 1 monthly base salary, based on the evaluation of such officer’s 
supervisors. 
  
Cap: the Annual Cash Bonus of each officer shall not exceed 3 monthly base salaries, or with respect to the CEO, the Active Chairman and any other Management Directors, if any, 5 monthly base 
salaries. 
  
The Company may determine that with respect to any specific year, all or any particular officer or officers shall not be entitled to an Annual Cash Bonus. 
  

  
In addition to the Annual Cash Bonus, an officer may be granted Ad Hoc and/or Special Cash Bonuses for special contributions, achievements or assignments. Such bonuses are intended to enable the 
Company to adapt to unexpected or unaccounted for events or occurrences and to strengthen the Company’s ability to compete in a dynamic business environment. 
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3.3. Cash Bonuses 

3.3.1. Annual Cash Bonuses 

3.3.2. Ad Hoc and Special Cash Bonuses 
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The objectives, thresholds (if any), maximum amount and method of calculation will, to the extent required by the Companies Law, be determined for each Ad Hoc Cash Bonus in advance, following the 
recommendation of the CEO (and, with respect to the CEO, following the recommendation of the chairman of the Board and with respect to the Active Chairman any other Management Directors, if any, 
following the recommendation of the chairman of the Compensation Committee). Notwithstanding the foregoing, unless a larger discretionary component is permitted by the Companies Law, up to 20% of 
an officer’s Ad Hoc Cash Bonus may be discretionary, based on the evaluation of his or her supervisors. 
  

  
The Company may grant an officer a Special Cash Bonus for special achievements, based on discretion, provided that, unless a larger discretionary component is permitted by the Companies Law, the 
aggregate value of such officer’s variable compensation based solely on discretion will not exceed the greater of: (i) two monthly base salaries; and (ii) 20% of such officer’s total variable compensation. 
  

  
The maximum amount of all Ad Hoc Cash Bonuses and Special Cash Bonuses paid to an officer with respect to any calendar year, will not exceed 3 monthly base salaries, or with respect to the CEO, the 
Active Chairman and any other Management Directors, if any, 5 monthly base salaries. 
  

  
Equity-based compensation is generally designed to align officers’ interests with the long-term interests of shareholders and to incentivize officers to create long-term economic value for the Company. 
  
Considering its nature as a world-wide innovative biotechnology company, in early stages of research and development, it is the Company’s view that its officers should be incentivized to pursue 
innovative thinking, as well as realize key strategic opportunities, which will create long-term economic value for the Company, and therefore, stock options are currently appropriate key equity-based 
compensation vehicle. 
  
In the future, the Company may offer various other types of equity-based compensation vehicles (e.g., performance shares, restricted shares, restricted share units, performance share units, phantom 
shares, etc.), as well as a mix between such vehicles. When determining the types of equity-based vehicles and the mix between them, if any, the Company will consider among other things, the types of 
equity-based awards then available to the Company and the balance between aligning officers’ and shareholders’ interests and the Company’s risk management policy at the time. 
  
Equity-based awards will generally be granted on an annual basis. In certain circumstances, awards may be made on an ad hoc basis. 
  
The passage of time will generally be a sufficient criteria for the vesting of equity-based awards, but additional criteria may be determined, whether generally or with respect to specific grants, specific 
individuals or otherwise. 
  
Equity-based awards will be granted pursuant to the Company’s 2010 Share Incentive Plan and/or any other equity-based incentive plan that the Company may adopt in the future, subject to the 
availability thereunder, and generally on the terms provided for therein and as determined by the Company, provided that any equity-based award to officers must generally vest over several years (e.g., 
2-4 years), but no less than a minimum period of one year, from the date of grant and shall include a maximum exercise period of ten years from the date of grant. 
  
Until otherwise determined, and to the extent legally available and applicable, equity-based awards to officers will be granted through a trustee pursuant to the provisions of Section 102 of the Israeli 
Income Tax Ordinance [New Version], 5721-1961 (the “Income Tax Ordinance”), under the capital gains route. 
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3.3.2.1. Ad Hoc Cash Bonuses 

3.3.2.2. Special Cash Bonuses 

3.3.2.3. Cap 

3.4. Equity-based Compensation 
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The Company shall have the discretion to provide, generally or for specific officers, for the accelerated vesting of equity-based awards upon a change of control of the Company or upon termination of 
service or employment of the officer, and may extend the exercise period of equity-based awards beyond those generally applicable pursuant to the relevant plan, provided such extension does not extend 
beyond ten years from the date of grant. 
  
In addition, in no event shall the aggregate value of annual and ad hoc equity-based awards (not including equity-based awards upon recruitment or promotion) granted to an officer during any calendar 
year exceed, calculated as of the date of their grant (and in cases of equity-based awards paid in cash – at the date of their payment), 150% of such officer’s annual salary cost, or with respect to the CEO, 
the Active Chairman and any other Management Directors, if any, 200% of the annual salary cost. 
  
The Company may from time to time consider determining a cap for the exercise value of equity awards. 
  

  
Benefits and perquisites are designed to supplement cash and equity compensation and provide officers with additional terms generally acceptable in the workforce, in order to enable the Company to 
attract and retain qualified people in a competitive market. In addition, certain benefits and perquisites (e.g., pension, vacation and sick pay) are mandated by applicable law. 
  
The cost to the Company of all benefits and perquisites (other than the cost of termination related benefits which are dealt with separately below and the cost of benefits associated with relocation) to any 
particular officer that are not mandated by law shall not exceed with respect to any particular calendar year, 30% of such officer’s annual salary cost. 
  
In the event of relocation of an officer to another geography, the benefits provided will include customary benefits associated with such relocation (such as travel, housing and shipping allowances, 
healthcare and children’s education) and may exceed 30% of the officer’s annual salary cost. 
  

  
Termination payments are generally intended to comply with applicable laws and to provide compensation to officers in the event of termination, including voluntary termination in circumstances which 
would not entitle the Company to terminate service or employment for “cause”. 
  
Termination payments may be provided for in employment or service agreements. When determining termination payments, the Company will generally consider, inter alia, the term of service or 
employment, Company performance during such term, the contribution of the officer to the achievement of the Company’s goals and maximization of its profits, the circumstances of termination and the 
officer’s compensation during the term of service or employment. 
  
Termination payments the Company may provide for include, but are not limited to, one or more of the following: 
  

  

  
Compugen Ltd. • 72 Pinchas Rosen St. Tel-Aviv 69512 Israel 

Tel: +972-3-765-8585 • Fax: +972-3-765-8555 • E-mail: info@cgen.com • Web site: www.cgen.com 
  

  

3.5.  Benefits and Perquisites 

3.6. Termination Payments 

• Notice period: advance notice of termination period, not to exceed 3 months, or with respect to the CEO, the Active Chairman and any other Management Directors, if any, 6 months. During the notice 
period, officers will be entitled to full compensation, including benefits, and will be required to continue work, at the discretion of the Company. The Company may waive an officer’s services during 
the advance notice period and pay the officer in lieu thereof, including the value of benefits. 

• Change of Control: change of control events, such as mergers and acquisitions, may expose the Company and its officers to a great deal of uncertainty. By providing its officers with compensation in 
events of change of control, the Company reduces to some extent the personal uncertainty of its officers, and thus promotes full and impartial consideration of change of control opportunities. In 
light of the above, the Company may provide for the payment of up to 6 monthly base salaries to officers in the event their service or employment is terminated during the first year following a pre-
defined change of control event, including in the event of voluntarily termination. 
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Directors who do not hold any management position with the Company, including the chairman of the Board, to the extent he or she is not an Active Chairman, and including external directors and 
other independent directors, if any, pursuant to the Companies Law, are referred to herein as “Non-management Directors”. 
  
The Company aims to provide reasonable and fair compensation to its Non-management Directors, taking into account the Company’s business environment and its values of integrity, equality and 
fairness. 
  
With respect to external directors and in accordance with the Companies Regulations (Rules regarding Compensation and Expenses to an External Director), 5760-2000, as amended by the Companies 
Regulations (Reliefs for Companies whose Shares are Registered for Trading on an Exchange Outside of Israel), 5760-2000, as such regulations may be amended from time to time (the “Compensation 
Regulations”), compensation of the Company’s external directors may be determined relative to that of “other directors”, as defined in the Compensation Regulations, and may include equity-based 
compensation. 
  
Non-management Directors’ compensation will be comprised of the following: 

  

  

  

  
Applicable value added tax will be added to the above compensation in accordance with applicable law. 
  
Directors will also be entitled to reimbursement of expenses, including for business travel, in accordance with Company policies. 
  
The annual and per-meeting fees will be adjusted and payable in accordance with the Compensation Regulations. Pursuant to the Compensation Regulations, there are, currently, automatic 
adjustments in the annual and per-meeting fees based on changes in the Israeli Consumer Price Index. The Compensation Regulations also currently provide for payment of partial per-meeting fees in 
the event resolutions are adopted in writing or by participation through various methods of communication and also enable increased payments to directors to the extent they are “experts”, as 
defined in the Compensation Regulations. 
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  • Severance payment: the greater of the amount of severance pay payable pursuant to the Israeli Severance Pay Law, 5723-1963, had the officer been entitled to severance pay pursuant to such 
law, and the amount accumulated in an officer’s pension fund and/or managers insurance and/or provident fund. 

  • Discretionary (including adaptation) payments: in special cases, up to 3 monthly base salaries, or with respect to the CEO, the Active Chairman and any other Management Directors, if any, 6 
monthly base salaries. 

4. Non-management Directors 

  a. Annual Fee: up to twice the maximum amount but not less than the minimum amount permitted from time to time with respect to the Company in accordance with the Compensation Regulations 
and subject to the rules set forth therein. 

  b. Per-meeting Fee: up to twice the maximum amount but not less than the minimum amount permitted from time to time with respect to the Company in accordance with the Compensation 
Regulations and subject to the rules set forth therein. 

  c. Fixed Annual Equity Grant: annual equity-based grant, with respect to a fixed number of shares of the Company and/or with a fixed value at grant. Such annual equity-based grant is intended to 
align Non-management Directors’ interests with the long-term interests of the Company’s shareholders. Equity-based grants shall be pursuant to the Company’s 2010 Share Incentive Plan and/or 
any other equity-based incentive plan that the Company may adopt in the future, subject to availability thereunder and generally on the terms provided for therein. Until otherwise determined, 
and to the extent legally available and applicable, equity-based awards to Non-management Directors will be granted through a trustee pursuant to the provisions of Section 102 of the Income 
Tax Ordinance, under the capital gains route. 
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Non-management Directors’ compensation may be periodically reviewed and considered by the Company. When reviewing and considering Non-management Directors’ compensation, the Company 
will consider, inter alia, Non-management Directors’ previous compensation and the relationship between the contemplated compensation and the compensation of Company employees (including 
those employed by manpower contractors) and specifically the median and average compensation and the effect of such relationship on work relations in the Company. 

  

  
The Company will release all current and future Office Holders from liability for a breach of their duty of care to the Company and provide them with indemnification to the fullest extent permitted by 
law and the Company’s Articles of Association (the “Articles”). 
  
In addition, until otherwise determined, the Company will purchase and periodically renew, at the Company’s expense, insurance coverage in respect of the liability of its current and future Office 
Holders to the maximum extent permitted by law providing for the coverage of up to US$25 million or any other greater amount reasonably determined as appropriate by the Company, and will include 
coverage with respect to any public offering of shares or other securities of the Company. In addition, such insurance coverage may include “run-off” provisions covering an Office Holder’s liability 
following termination of service or employment. The CEO, as shall be in office from time to time, and/or any other person designated by him or her, shall have the authority to obtain, renew and keep 
in force and affect such insurance. 

  

  

  
An Office Holder will be required to return any compensation paid to him or her, that was paid on the basis of data included in the Company’s financial statements, which turned out to be erroneous 
and was restated in the Company’s financial statements on or before May 31st of the third year following the year in which the original financial statements were published, to the extent the 
compensation paid exceeds the compensation that would otherwise have been paid had the restated data been available at the time compensation based on such data was originally calculated. 

  

  
The Company shall have the authority to stipulate that, as a condition to the grant of any variable compensation to an Office Holder, that such variable compensation may be reduced in 
circumstances where such Office Holder’s conduct would justify termination for “cause” or in other circumstances determined by the Company as warranting such reduction. 
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5. D&O Insurance, indemnification and release 

6. Recoupment and reduction of Compensation 

  6.1. Clawback 

  6.2. Reduction of Compensation 
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Exhibit C 

  
Form of Indemnification Undertaking and Exemption and Release 

  
______________ 
______________ 
______________ 
  
Dear Sir/Madam, 
  

You are or have been appointed as a director or other office holder of Compugen Ltd. (the “Company”), and in order to enhance your service to the Company in an effective manner, the Company 
desires to provide for your indemnification and exemption and release as set forth herein (the "Letter of Indemnification and Exemption"), to the fullest extent permitted by law and the Company's Articles 
of Association, as shall be in effect from time to time (the “Articles of Association”). 

  
In consideration of your service to the Company, the Company hereby agrees as follows: 

  
1.             The Company hereby undertakes to indemnify you to the fullest extent permitted by law in respect of any act or omission (“action”) taken or made by you in your capacity as a director or 

other office holder of the Company , as follows: 
  

1.1             for any monetary liability or obligation imposed on you in favor of another person by a court judgment, including a settlement or an arbitrator’s award approved by a court; 
  

1.2             for any payments which you are obligated to make to an injured party as set forth in Section 52(54)(a)(1)(a) of the Israel Securities Law, 5728-1968 (the “Securities Law”) and 
expenses incurred by you in connection with a proceeding under Chapters H'3, H'4 or I'1 of the Securities Law, including reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, or in connection with 
Article D of Chapter Four of Part Nine of the Israel Companies Law, 5759-1999 (the “Companies Law”); 

  
1.3             for reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by you or which you are ordered to pay by a court, in a proceeding filed against you by the Company or on 

its behalf or by another person, or in a criminal action in which you are acquitted or in a criminal action in which you are convicted of an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent; 
  

1.4             for reasonable litigation expenses, including attorneys’ fees, incurred by you in consequence of an investigation or proceeding instituted against you by an authority that is 
authorized to conduct such investigation or proceeding, and which was concluded without filing of an indictment against you and without a financial obligation imposed on you in lieu of criminal 
proceedings (as such terms are defined in the Companies Law), or which was concluded without filing of an indictment against you but with a financial obligation imposed on you in lieu of criminal 
proceedings in respect of an offense that does not require proof of criminal intent or in connection with a monetary sanction; and 
  

1.5             for expenses incurred by you in connection with a proceeding under Chapter G'1, of the Israel Restrictive Trade Practices Law, 5748-1988, including reasonable litigation expenses, 
including attorneys’ fees. 
  

The above indemnification will also apply with respect to your service as, at the request of the Company, and to any action taken by you in your capacity as, a director, board observer or other office 
holder of any other entity directly or indirectly controlled by or under common control with, the Company (a “Subsidiary”) or in your capacity as a director, board observer or other office holder of any 
other corporation in which the Company holds an equity interest (“Affiliate”) and references herein to the Company shall include Subsidiaries and Affiliates where appropriate. 

  

  

  
  



  
2.             The Company will not indemnify you for any amount you may be obligated to pay in respect of: 

  
2.1             a breach of your duty of loyalty to the Company, except for a breach of such duty of loyalty while acting in good faith and having reasonable grounds to assume that such act 

would not prejudice the interests of the Company or as otherwise permitted by law; 
  

2.2             an intentional or reckless breach of the your duty of care to the Company, unless the breach was committed only in negligence; 
  

2.3             an action taken by you with the intent of unlawfully realizing personal gain; 
  

2.4             a fine, monetary sanction, forfeit or penalty imposed upon you; and 
  

2.5             a counterclaim brought by the Company or in its name in connection with a claim or proceeding against the Company initiated or filed voluntarily by you, other than by way of 
defense or by way of countersuit or third party notice in connection with a claim brought against you by the Company, or in specific cases in which the Company’s Board of Directors has approved the 
initiation or bringing of such suit by you, which approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. 
  

3.             The Company will make available all amounts payable to you in accordance with Section 1 above on the date on which such amounts are first payable by you (“Time of Indebtedness”), 
including with respect to any claim against you initiated by the Company or on its behalf, and with respect to items referred to in Sections 1.2, 1.3, 1.4, and 1.5 above, even prior to a court decision, but in 
any event the Company has no duty to advance payments earlier than four (4) business days following receipt of a written request therefor by you to the Company. Advances given to cover legal 
expenses in criminal proceedings will be repaid by you to the Company if you are found guilty of a crime which requires proof of criminal intent and the applicable appeal period has lapsed. Other 
advances will be repaid by you to the Company if it is determined that you are not lawfully entitled to such indemnification. 
  

As part of the aforementioned undertaking, the Company will make available to you any security or guarantee that you may be required to post in accordance with an interim decision given by a court 
or an arbitrator, including for the purpose of substituting liens imposed on your assets. 
  

4.             The Company will indemnify you even if at the relevant Time of Indebtedness you are no longer a director or other office holder of the Company provided that the obligations with respect to 
which you will be indemnified hereunder are in respect of actions taken by you while you were a director or other office holder of the Company as aforesaid, and in such capacity. 

  
5.             The indemnification will be limited to the payments and expenses mentioned in Sections 1.2, 1.3, 1.4 and 1.5 above (pursuant and subject to Section 3 above and insofar as indemnification 

with respect thereto is not restricted by law or by the provisions of Section 2 above) and to the matters mentioned in Section 1.1 above insofar as they result from, or are connected to, events and 
circumstances set forth in Schedule A hereto, which are deemed by the Company's Board of Directors, based on the current activities of the Company, to be foreseeable as of the date hereof. 

  

  

  
C - 2



  
6.             The indemnification that the Company undertakes towards all persons whom it has resolved to indemnify for the matters and in the circumstances described herein, jointly and in the 

aggregate, shall not exceed $5,000,000 (Five Million U.S. Dollars), provided that if such amount is insufficient to cover all amounts to which such persons are entitled pursuant to such undertaking of the 
Company, such amount shall be allocated to such persons pro rata to the amounts to which they are so entitled. 

  
7.             The Company will not indemnify you for any liability with respect to which you have received payment by virtue of an insurance policy or another indemnification agreement other than for 

amounts which are in excess of the amounts actually paid to you pursuant to any such insurance policy or other indemnity agreement (including deductible amounts not covered by insurance policies), 
within the limits set forth in Section 6 above. 

  
8.             Subject to the provisions of Sections 6 and 7 above, the indemnification hereunder will, in each case, cover all sums of money that you will be obligated to pay, in those circumstances for 

which indemnification is permitted under applicable law, the Articles of Association and under this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption. 
  
9.             The Company will be entitled to any amount collected from a third party in connection with liabilities indemnified hereunder. Furthermore, by accepting this Letter of Indemnification and 

Exemption, you assign all rights thereto to the Company. In the event of payment by the Company pursuant to this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption, the Company shall be subrogated to the extent 
of such payment to all of your rights of recovery, and you shall execute all documents required, and shall do everything that may be necessary, to secure such rights, including the execution of such 
documents necessary to enable the Company effectively to bring suit to enforce such rights. 

  
10.           In all indemnifiable circumstances, indemnification will be subject to the following: 

  
10.1           You shall promptly notify the Company of any legal proceedings initiated against you and of all possible or threatened legal proceedings without delay following your first 

becoming aware thereof, however, your failure to notify the Company as aforesaid shall not derogate from your right to be indemnified as provided herein (except to the extent that such failure to notify 
causes the Company damages). You shall deliver to the Company, or to such person as it shall advise you, without delay all documents you receive in connection with these proceedings or possible or 
threatened proceedings. 
  

Similarly, you must advise the Company on an ongoing and current basis concerning all events which you suspect may give rise to the initiation of legal proceedings against you in connection with 
your actions as a director or other office holder of the Company. 

10.2           Other than with respect to proceedings that have been initiated against you by the Company or in its name, the Company shall be entitled to undertake the conduct of your 
defense in respect of such legal proceedings and/or to hand over the conduct thereof to any attorney which the Company may choose for that purpose, except to an attorney who is not, upon reasonable 
grounds, acceptable to you. In such case, the Company shall pay the fees and expenses of such counsel. The Company shall notify you of any such decision to defend within ten (10) calendar days of 
receipt of notice of any such proceeding. 
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The Company and/or the attorney as aforesaid shall be entitled, within the context of the conduct as aforesaid, to conclude such proceedings, all as it shall see fit, including by way of settlement. At 

the request of the Company, you shall execute all documents required to enable the Company and/or its attorney as aforesaid to conduct your defense in your name, and to represent you in all matters 
connected therewith, in accordance with the aforesaid. 

  
For the avoidance of doubt, in the case of criminal proceedings the Company and/or the attorneys as aforesaid will not have the right to plead guilty in your name or to agree to a plea-bargain in your 

name without your consent. However, the aforesaid will not prevent the Company and/or its attorneys as aforesaid, with the approval of the Company, to come to a financial arrangement with a plaintiff in 
a civil proceeding without your consent so long as such arrangement will not be an admittance of an occurrence not indemnifiable pursuant to this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption and/or 
pursuant to law. The Company shall not, without your prior written consent, consent to the entry of any judgment against you or enter into any settlement or compromise which (i) includes an admission 
of your fault, (ii) does not include, as an unconditional term thereof, the full release of you from all liability in respect of such proceeding or (iii) is not fully indemnifiable pursuant to this Letter of 
Indemnification and Exemption and pursuant to law. This paragraph shall not apply to a proceeding brought by you under Section 10.7 below. 

  
10.3           You will fully cooperate with the Company and/or any attorney as aforesaid in every reasonable way as may be required of you within the context of their conduct of such legal 

proceedings, including but not limited to the execution of power(s) of attorney and other documents, provided that the Company shall cover all costs incidental thereto such that you will not be required 
to pay the same or to finance the same yourself. 

  
10.4           Notwithstanding the provisions of Sections 10.2 and 10.3 above, (i) if in a proceeding to which you are a party by reason of your status as a director or other office holder of the 

Company and the named parties to any such proceeding include both you and the Company, a conflict of interest or potential conflict of interest (including the availability to the Company, on the one 
hand, and you, on the other hand, of different or inconsistent defenses or counterclaims) exists between you and the Company, or (ii) if the Company fails to assume the defense of such proceeding in a 
timely manner, you shall be entitled to be represented by separate legal counsel, which shall represent other persons similarly situated, of the Company’s choice and reasonably acceptable to you and 
such other persons, at the expense of the Company. In addition, if the Company fails to comply with any of its material obligations under this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption or in the event that 
the Company or any other person takes any action to declare this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption void or unenforceable, or institutes any action, suit or proceeding to deny or to recover from you 
the benefits intended to be provided to you hereunder, you shall have the right to retain counsel of your choice, and reasonably acceptable to the Company to represent you in connection with any such 
matter, and, except with respect to such actions, suits or proceedings brought by the Company that are resolved in favor of the Company, at the expense of the Company. 

  
10.5           If, in accordance with Section 10.2 (but subject to Section 10.4) above, the Company has taken upon itself the conduct of your defense, the Company will have no liability or 

obligation pursuant to this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption or the above resolutions to indemnify you for any legal expenses, including any legal fees, that you may expend in connection with 
your defense, unless (i) the Company shall not have assumed the conduct of your defense as contemplated, (ii) the Company refers the conduct of your defense to an attorney who is not, upon 
reasonable grounds, acceptable to you, (iii) the named parties to any such action (including any impleaded parties) include both you and the Company, and joint representation is inappropriate under 
applicable standards of professional conduct due to a conflict of interest between you and the Company, or (iv) the Company shall agree to such expenses, in either of which events all reasonable fees 
and expenses of your counsel shall be borne by the Company. 
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10.6          The Company will have no liability or obligation pursuant to this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption to indemnify you for any amount expended by you pursuant to any 

compromise or settlement agreement reached in any suit, demand or other proceeding as aforesaid without the Company’s consent to such compromise or settlement. 
  
10.7           If required by law, the Company’s authorized organs will consider the request for indemnification and the amount thereof and will determine if you are entitled to indemnification 

and the amount thereof. In the event that you make a request for payment of an amount of indemnification hereunder or a request for an advancement of indemnification expenses hereunder and the 
Company fails to timely determine your right to indemnification hereunder or fails to make such payment or advancement, you may petition any court which has jurisdiction to enforce the Company’s 
obligations hereunder. The Company agrees to reimburse you in full for any reasonable expenses incurred by you in connection with investigating, preparing for, litigating, defending or settling any 
action brought by you under the immediately preceding sentence, except where such action or any claim or counterclaim in connection therewith is resolved in favor of the Company. 

  
11.           The Company hereby exempts and releases you, to the fullest extent permitted by law, from and against any liability for monetary or other damages due to or arising or resulting from a breach 

of your duty of care, as a director or other office holder, to the Company. 
  

12.           If for the validation of any of the undertakings in this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption any act, resolution, approval or other procedure is required, the Company undertakes to cause 
them to be done or adopted in a manner which will enable the Company to fulfill all its undertakings as aforesaid; provided that nothing in this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption shall require the 
Company to amend the Articles of Association. 

  
13.           For the avoidance of doubt, it is hereby clarified that nothing contained in this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption derogates from the Company’s right (but in no way should the 

Company be obligated) to indemnify you post factum for any amounts which you may be obligated to pay as set forth in Section 1 above without regard to the limitations set forth in Sections 5 and 6 
above. 

  
14.           If any undertaking included in this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption is held invalid or unenforceable, such invalidity or unenforceability will not affect any of the other undertakings 

which will remain in full force and effect. Furthermore, if such invalid or unenforceable undertaking may be modified or amended so as to be valid and enforceable as a matter of law, such undertaking will 
be deemed to have been modified or amended, and any competent court or arbitrator are hereby authorized to modify or amend such undertaking, so as to be valid and enforceable to the maximum extent 
permitted by law. 

  
15.           This Letter of Indemnification and Exemption and the agreements herein shall be governed by and construed and enforced in accordance with the laws of the State of Israel, without regard to 

the rules of conflicts of laws and the competent courts in Tel Aviv, Israel will have the sole and exclusive jurisdiction over any dispute arising from or in connection with this Letter of Indemnification and 
Exemption. 

  
16.           This Letter of Indemnification and Exemption replaces any preceding letter of indemnification or arrangement for indemnification or release and exemption that may have been issued to you 

by the Company, provided however, that no previous exemption or release given to you from and against any liability for monetary or other damages due to or arising or resulting from, a breach of your 
duty of care, as a director or other office holder, to the Company shall be adversely affected. 
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17.           Neither the settlement nor termination of any proceeding nor the failure of the Company to award indemnification or to determine that indemnification is payable shall create an adverse 

presumption that you are not entitled to indemnification hereunder. In addition, the termination of any proceeding by judgment or order (unless such judgment or order provides so specifically) or 
settlement, shall not create a presumption that you did not act in good faith and in a manner which you reasonably believed to be in or not opposed to the best interests of the Company or, with respect to 
any criminal action or proceeding, had reasonable cause to believe that your action was unlawful. 
  

18.           This Letter of Indemnification and Exemption shall be (a) binding upon all successors and assigns of the Company (including any transferee of all or a substantial portion of the business, 
stock and/or assets of the Company and any direct or indirect successor by merger or consolidation or otherwise by operation of law), and (b) binding on and shall inure to the benefit of your heirs, 
personal representatives, executors and administrators. This Letter of Indemnification and Exemption shall continue for your benefit and your heirs', personal representatives', executors' and 
administrators' benefit after you cease to be a director or other office holder of the Company. 
  

19.           Except with respect to changes in the governing law which expand your right to be indemnified by the Company, no supplement, modification or amendment of this Letter of Indemnification 
and Exemption shall be binding unless executed in writing by each of the parties hereto. In the event of any change, after the date of this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption in any applicable law, 
statute or rule which expands the right of the Company to indemnify members of its Board of Directors, an officer or other corporate agent, it is the intent of the parties hereto that you shall enjoy by this 
Letter of Indemnification and Exemption the greater benefits so afforded by such change and such changes shall, to the fullest extent permitted by law, be, ipso facto, within the purview of your rights and 
the Company’s obligations pursuant to this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption. 
  

20.           No waiver of any of the provisions of this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption shall be deemed or shall constitute a waiver of any other provisions of this Letter of Indemnification and 
Exemption (whether or not similar), nor shall such waiver constitute a continuing waiver. 
  

21.           All notices and other communications required or permitted under this Letter of Indemnification and Exemption shall be in writing and shall be deemed delivered (i) if mailed, three (3) 
business days after mailing (unless mailed internationally, in which case it shall be deemed delivered five (5) business days after mailing), (ii) if by air courier, two (2) business days after delivery to the 
courier service, (iii) if sent by messenger, upon delivery, (iv) if sent via facsimile, upon transmission and electronic (or other) confirmation of receipt or (if transmitted and received on a non-business day) 
on the first business day following transmission and electronic (or other) confirmation of receipt, and (iv) if sent by email, on the date of transmission or (if transmitted and received on a non-business 
day) on the first business day following transmission, except where a notice is received stating that such mail has not been successfully delivered. 
  

This Letter of Indemnification and Exemption is being issued to you pursuant to the resolutions adopted by the Compensation Committee of the Board of Directors of the Company on _______, 2013, 
by the Board of Directors of the Company on __________ and by the shareholders of the Company on ____, 2013. 
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Kindly sign and return the enclosed copy of this letter to acknowledge your agreement to the contents hereof. 
  

  
Accepted and agreed to: 

  
Name: ______________________  
  
Date: ____________ 2013 
  

  

 

Very truly yours, 
  
Compugen Ltd. 
By:      ______________________  
Title:   ______________________ 
Date: ___________, 2013 
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Schedule A 

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

  

   1. Negotiations, execution, delivery and performance of agreements on behalf of the Company including, inter alia, any claim or demand made by a customer, supplier, contractor or other third party 
transacting any form of business with the Company, relating to the negotiations or performance of such transactions, representations or inducements provided in connection thereto or 
otherwise. 

   2. Any claim or demand made related to anti-competitive acts and acts of commercial wrongdoing. 

   3. Any claim or demand made related to acts in regard of invasion of privacy including with respect to databases and acts in regard of slander. 

   4. Any claim or demand made for actual or alleged infringement, misappropriation or misuse of any third party’s intellectual property rights including, but not limited to confidential information, 
patents, copyrights, design rights, service marks, trade secrets, copyrights, misappropriation of ideas by the Company. 

   5. Actions taken in connection with the intellectual property of the Company and its protection, including the registration or assertion of rights to intellectual property and the defense of claims 
relating thereof. 

   6. Participation and/or non-participation at the Company’s board meetings, bona fide expression of opinion and/or voting and/or abstention from voting at the Company’s board meetings. 

   7. Approval of corporate actions including the approval of the acts of the Company’s management, their guidance and their supervision. 

   8. Actions concerning the approval of transactions of the Company with officers and/or directors and/or holders of controlling interests in the Company, and any other transactions referred to in 
Sections 267A and/or 270 of the Companies Law. 

   9. Claims of failure to exercise business judgment and a reasonable level of proficiency, expertise and care in regard of the Company’s business. 

   10. Violations of securities laws of any jurisdiction, including without limitation, fraudulent disclosure claims, failure to comply with the United States Securities and Exchange Commission and/or 
the Israeli Securities Authority and/or any stock exchange disclosure or other rules and any other claims relating to relationships with investors, shareholders and the investment community and 
any claims related to the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, as amended from time to time. 

   11. Any claim or demand made under any securities laws or by reference thereto, or related to the failure to disclose any information in the manner or time such information is required to be 
disclosed pursuant to such laws, or related to inadequate or improper disclosure of information to shareholders, or prospective shareholders, or related to the purchasing, holding or disposition 
of securities of the Company or any other investment activity involving or affected by such securities, including any actions relating to an offer or issuance of securities of the Company to the 
public by prospectus or privately by private placement, in Israel or abroad, including the details that shall be set forth in the documents in connection with execution thereof. 

   12. Actions in connection with the financial statements and/or reports of the Company, including the preparation thereof. 
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   13. Violations of laws requiring the Company to obtain regulatory and governmental licenses, permits and authorizations or laws related to any governmental grants in any jurisdiction. 

   14. Claims in connection with publishing or providing any information, including any filings with any governmental authorities, on behalf of the Company in the circumstances required under any 
applicable laws. 

   15. Any claim or demand made by employees, consultants, agents or other individuals or entities employed by or providing services to the Company relating to compensation owed to them or 
damages or liabilities suffered by them in connection with such employment or service. 

   16. Resolutions and/or actions relating to employment matters of the Company. 

   17. Events, pertaining to the employment conditions of employees and to the employer - employee relations, including the promotion of workers, handling pension arrangements, insurance and 
saving funds, options and other benefits. 

   18. Any claim or demand made by any lenders or other creditors or for moneys borrowed by, or other indebtedness of, the Company. 

   19. Any claim or demand made by any third party suffering any personal injury and/or bodily injury and/or property damage to business or personal property through any act or omission attributed 
to the Company, or their respective employees, agents or other persons acting or allegedly acting on their behalf. 

   20. Any claim or demand made directly or indirectly in connection with complete or partial failure, by the Company thereof, or their respective directors, officers and employees, to pay, report, keep 
applicable records or otherwise, of any foreign, federal, state, country, local, municipal or city taxes or other compulsory payments of any nature whatsoever, including without limitation, income, 
sales, use, transfer, excise, value added, registration, severance, stamp, occupation, customs, duties, real property, personal property, capital stock, social security, unemployment, disability, 
payroll or employee withholding or other withholding, including any interest, penalty or addition thereto, whether disputed or not. 

   21. Any claim or demand made by purchasers, holders, lessors or other users of products or assets of the Company, or individuals treated with such products, for damages or losses related to such 
use or treatment. 

   22. Any administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, orders, decrees, suits, demands, demand letters, directives, claims, liens, investigations, proceedings or notices of noncompliance or violation 
by any governmental entity or other person alleging potential responsibility or liability (including potential responsibility or liability for costs of enforcement, investigation, cleanup, 
governmental response, removal or remediation, for natural resources damages, property damage, personal injuries, or penalties or contribution, indemnification, cost recovery, compensation, or 
injunctive relief) arising out of, based on or related to (x) the presence of, release, spill, emission, leaking, dumping, pouring, deposit, disposal , discharge, leaching or migration into the 
environment (each a “Release”) or threatened Release of, or exposure to, any hazardous, toxic, explosive or radioactive substance, wastes or other substances or wastes of any nature regulated 
pursuant to any environmental law, at any location, whether or not owned, operated, leased or managed by the Company, or (y) circumstances forming the basis of any violation of any 
environmental law, environmental permit, license, registration or other authorization required under applicable environmental and/or public health law. 
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   23. Actions in connection with the Company’s development, use, sale, licensing, distribution, marketing or offer of products and/or services. 

   24. Resolutions and/or actions relating to a merger of the Company, the issuance of shares or securities exercisable into shares of the Company, changing the share capital of the Company, 
formation of subsidiaries, reorganization, winding up or sale of all or part of the business, operations or shares the Company. 

   25. Resolutions and/or actions relating to investments in the Company and/or the purchase or sale of assets, including the purchase or sale of companies and/or businesses, and/or investments in 
corporate or other entities and/or investments in traded securities and/or any other form of investment. 

   26. Any administrative, regulatory or judicial actions, orders, decrees, suits, demands, demand letters, directives, claims, liens, investigations, proceedings or notices of noncompliance or violation 
by any governmental entity or other person alleging the failure of the Company, or any of the Company's business operations to comply with any statute, law, ordinance, rule, regulation, order 
or decree. 

   27. Class actions or derivative actions regarding the Company. 

   28. Any claim or demand, not covered by any of the categories of events described above, which, pursuant to any applicable law, a director or officer of the Company may be held liable to any 
government or agency thereof, or any person or entity, in connection with actions taken by such director or officer in such capacity. 
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